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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and its exhibits contain forward-looking statements that are subject to risks

uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results performance or achievements to be materially different than

the results performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements

include statements about our expectations beliefs plans objectives intentions assumptions and other statements that are not

historical facts Forward-looking statements can generally be identified by phrases such as believes expects potential

continues may should seeks predicts anticipates intends projects estimates plans could

designed should be and other similar expressions that denote expectations of future or conditional events rather than

statements of fact Forward-looking statements contained in this report include but are not limited to statements relating to the

potential impact of improvements in the general economy and the travel industry on our business our ability to gain market

share in intemational markets including the global hotel marketplace our ability to increase our brand awareness our

expectations of future air capacity and fares our expectations for future average daily rates for hotel and car bookings and our

expectation for international growth rates for online travel sales

Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements for many reasons

including but not limited to changes in airline distribution policies and our ability to negotiate alternative ticket distribution

arrangements with the airlines pursuant to such policy changes competition in the travel industry our level of indebtedness

economic conditions consolidation among our major suppliers regulatory changes factors affecting the level of travel activity

particularly air travel volume maintenance and protection of our information technology and intellectual property the outcome

of pending litigation risks associated with doing business in multiple currencies trends in the travel industry and general

economic and business conditions as well as the factors described in Item 1A Risk Factors and in Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Accordingly

you should not unduly rely on these forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date on which they were made We

undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

The use of the words we us our and the Company in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refers to Orbitz

Worldwide Inc and its subsidiaries except where the context otherwise requires or indicates



PART

Item Business

General Description of Our Business

We are leading global online travel company OTC that uses innovative technology to enable leisure and business

travelers to research plan and book broad range of travel products and services Our brand portfolio includes Orbitz

CheapTickets and the Away Network in the Americas ebookers in Europe and HoteiClub and RatesToGo collectively

referred to as HotelClub based in Australia which have operations globally We also own and operate Orbitz for Business

corporate travel company and Orbitz Worldwide Distribution group delivers private label travel solutions to broad range of

partners We provide customers with the ability to book wide array of travel products and services from suppliers worldwide

including air travel hotels vacation packages car rentals cruises travel insurance and destination services such as ground

transportation event tickets and tours

History

Orbitz Inc was established in early 2000 through partnership of major airlines which included American Airlines

Inc Continental Airlines Inc Delta Air Lines Inc Northwest Airlines Inc and United Air Lines Inc the Founding

Airlines Orbitz.com officially launched in June 2001 In 2004 Orbitz was acquired by Cendant Corporation Cendant
which already owned and operated the HotelClub and CheapTickets brands and the next year Cendant acquired ebookers

Limited

In 2006 affiliates of The Blackstone Group The Blackstone Group and Technology Crossover Ventures acquired

Travelport Limited Travelport unit of Cendant that comprised its travel distribution services businesses which included

the businesses that we now own and operate as well as other travel distribution businesses In 2007 our businesses were

separated from the rest of the Travelport businesses placed in newly formed company Orbitz Worldwide Inc which was

incorporated in Delaware on June 18 2007 and then became public company Our common stock trades on the New York

Stock Exchange under the symbol OWW
At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were 105093807 and 103789532 shares of our common stock outstanding

respectively of which approximately 53% and 55% were beneficially owned by Travelport and the investment funds that

indirectly control Travelport respectively

Brand Portfolio

Our brand portfolio is comprised of Orbitz CheapTickets the Away Network ebookers and HotelClub

Orb itz

Orbitz.com is one of the leading OTC websites that enables travelers to search for and book an array of travel products

and services including flights hotels car rentals cruises and vacation packages Since launching its website in June 2001
Orbitz.com has become one of the largest online travel sites in the world and has led the industry with innovations including the

Orbitz Matrix Display and Orbitz Price Assurance The Matrix Display revolutionized the way the travel industry displayed

fares and makes it quick and easy for consumers to compare flights rental cars and vacation packages Orbitz Price Assurance

applies when customer books an airline ticket or hotel stay on Orbitz and another customer subsequently books the same

airline ticket or hotel stay on Orbitz for lower price Under the current Orbitz Price Assurance program we provide the

customer with 110% credit in loyalty points or Orbucks for use on certain hotel bookings for the difference up to $250 for

airline tickets and up to $500 for hotel stays Prior to August 2012 the program provided the customer with cash refund

rather than hotel credit Orbitz.com also offers Insider Steals weekly members-only flash sale that provides exclusive

deals of 50% or more off the rates of handpicked hotels in top destinations around the world as well as Mobile Steals which

are exclusive hotel deals of up to 50% off in the most popular destinations around the world available to mobile consumers at

m.orbitz.com as well as through the full suite of Orbitz mobile applications

In addition to using the Orbitz.com website customers can also book travel products on Orbitz from their mobile devices

through our native applications for the iPhone iPad and Android as well as on our mobile website m.orbitz.com The Orbitz

App for iPad is the only fully native in-App experience that allows consumers to search and book all three major components

of trip Transactions coming through mobile channels represented approximately 25% of Orbitz.com standalone-hotel

transactions in December 2012 and in the 2013 edition of the Internet Retailer Mobile 400 released in October 2012



Orbitz.com was the highest ranked travel company positioned overall behind only Amazon Apple and Marriott vs 12 in

the prior year In December 2012 the Orbitz App for iPhone was one of 13 apps inducted into Apples App Store Hall of Fame

making it one of only 48 iPhone Apps ever to receive such recognition out of over 700000 in the App Store

CheapTickets

CheapTickets www.cheaptickets.com is leading U.S travel website that focuses on value-conscious customers

CheapTickets offers customers the ability to search for and book broad
range of travel products and services including air

travel hotels car rentals cruises travel insurance and destination services from suppliers worldwide on standalone basis or

as part of vacation package Customers can also book travel products from their mobile devices through mobile website

m.cheaptickets.com In addition CheapTickets offers value-oriented promotions such as Members Only Prices flash sales and

Cheap of the Week which provide customers with special travel offers on weekly basis

The Away Network

The Away Network is series of travel content websites that include Away.com www.away.com Trip.com

www.trip.com AdventureFinder www.adventurefinder.com GORP.com www.gorp.com and Lodging com

www.lodging.com The Away Network helps travelers choose their next vacation destination and plan their trip by offering

ideas and recommendations customized to their specific travel interests such as adventure family or romance trips Supported

by advertising sales and sponsorships the Away Network provides blend of professionally-edited articles features micro-

sites and consumer-driven reviews These websites also provide search capabilities for users who want to find travel choices

online as well as contact information for number of leading tour operators In February 2013 we announced that we are

exploring strategic alternatives for some or all of the assets within the Away Network

ebookers

ebookers www.ebookers.com is leading pan-European online travel agency that offers customers the ability to search

for and book broad range of travel products and services through websites in Austria Belgium Denmark Finland France

Germany Ireland the Netherlands Norway Sweden Switzerland and the United Kingdom Customers can book travel

products and services including airline tickets hotel rooms car rentals and travel insurance on standalone basis or as part of

vacation package ebookers also offers customers the ability to book full range of travel products from their mobile phones

through our mobile website m.ebookers.com and the ability to book hotels through the Hotels by ebookers App for iPhone

Android and iPad

HotelCiub

HotelClub is global online accommodation community Our members have wide range of accommodation choices

with worldwide selection of hotel properties across 141 countries Through its unique loyalty program HotelClub Members

earn rewards of up to 7% of the value of every booking made which can then be redeemed on future hotel bookings anywhere

anytime The company operates two websites HotelClub.com and RatesToGo.com and offers services in fifteen languages

including Simplified Chinese Traditional Chinese Dutch English French German Italian Japanese Korean Polish

Portuguese Russian Spanish Swedish and Thai HotelClub also offers its customers the ability to book via mobile devices

through an iPhone and iPad App

Orbitz for Business

Orbitz for Business www.orbitzforbusiness.com offers complete portfolio of travel products and services that help

corporate customers plan search for and book business travel Orbitz for Business leverages and customizes our technology

platform for corporate travelers In addition to its leading technology Orbitz for Business delivers full service cost-effective

travel products and travel management solutions including 24/7/3 65 dedicated support for Orbitz for Business customers and

expense reporting and policy management tools Orbitz for Business also offers an end-to-end mobile solution that allows

business travelers to search for and book flights hotels and car rentals directly from any web-enabled smartphone through its

mobile website m.orbitzforbusiness.net Through partnerships with leading regional corporate travel agencies Orbitz for

Business offers its services in over 75 countries across Europe Latin America Africa Asia including China and India and the

Pacific Rim In the first quarter of 2012 Orbitz for Business launched Orbitz for Business Express to offer savings

convenience and professional travel services to small businesses with travel needs including those currently without managed

travel program



Orbitz Worldwide Distribution Group

We offer third parties such as airlines and hotel partners full range of private label solutions ranging from the

building and hosting of custom websites to supplying content feeds with availability and rate data to partners websites We

license our technology and business services to these partners and using our technology these partners are able to provide

wide range of travel products on their websites under their own brands We pay commissions to our third party partners based

on the revenue generated by their websites We continue to pursue the expansion of our private label channel through the

addition of new partners For example in the third quarter of 2012 we launched partnership with American Express to

provide variety of private label solutions for air car hotel and vacation packages for the American Express Consumer Travel

Network

Partner Marketing

The Partner Marketing team is responsible for building innovative online marketing and advertising partnerships across

our global portfolio of leading consumer and business travel brands We generate advertising revenue by providing our partners

access to our customer base through combination of display advertising performance-based advertising video production and

other marketing programs Travel companies convention and visitor bureaus credit card partners media packaged goods and

other non-travel advertisers all advertise on our websites

Merchant and Retail Models

We generate revenue primarily from the booking of travel products and services on our websites We provide customers

the ability to book travel products and services on both standalone basis and as part of vacation package primarily through

our merchant and retail business models

Merchant Model

Our merchant model provides customers the ability to book air travel hotels car rentals destination services and

vacation packages Hotel transactions comprise the majority of our merchant bookings We generate revenue for our services

based on the difference between the total amount the customer pays for the travel product and the negotiated net rate plus

estimated taxes that the supplier charges us for that product We may depending upon the brand and the product earn revenue

by charging our customers service fee for booking their travel reservation Generally our net revenue per transaction is higher

under the merchant model compared with the retail model Customers generally pay us for reservations at the time of booking

and we pay our suppliers at later date which is generally when the customer uses the reservation although in the case of

merchant air payment often occurs prior to the consumption date Initially we record these customer receipts as accrued

merchant payables and either deferred income or net revenue depending on the travel product The timing difference between

when the cash is collected from our customers and when payments are made to our suppliers increases our operating cash flow

and represents source of liquidity for us

We recognize net revenue under the merchant model when we have no further obligations to the customer For merchant

air transactions this is at the time of booking For merchant hotel transactions and merchant car transactions net revenue is

recognized at the time of check-in or customer pick-up respectively The timing of revenue recognition is different for

merchant air travel because our primary service to the customer is fulfilled at the time of booking In the merchant model we

do not take on credit risk with the customer however we are subject to charge-backs and fraud risk which we actively monitor

we have the ability to determine the price we are not responsible for the actual delivery of the flight hotel room or car rental

we take no inventory risk we have no ability to determine or change the products or services delivered and the customer

chooses the supplier

When customers assemble vacation packages we may offer the customer the ability to book combination of travel

products that use both the merchant model and the retail model Vacation packages allow us to make products available to our

customers at prices that are generally lower than booking each travel product separately

Retail Model

Our retail model provides customers the ability to book air travel hotels car rentals and cruises Air transactions

comprise the majority of our retail bookings Under the retail model we earn commissions from suppliers for airline tickets

hotel rooms car rentals and other travel products and services booked on our websites We generally receive these commissions

from suppliers after the customer uses the travel reservation We may depending upon the brand and the product earn revenue

by charging customers service fee for booking their travel reservation Generally our net revenue per transaction is lower



under the retail model compared with the merchant model However airline tickets booked under the retail model contribute

substantially to our overall gross bookings and net revenue due to the high volume of airline tickets booked on our websites

We recognize net revenue under the retail model when the reservation is made secured by customer with credit card and

we have no further obligations to the customer For air transactions this is at the time of booking For hotel transactions and car

transactions net revenue is recognized at the time of check-in or customer pick-up respectively net of an allowance for

cancelled reservations In the retail model we do not take on credit risk with the customer we are not the primary obligor with

the customer we have no latitude in determining pricing we take no inventory risk we have no ability to determine or change

the products or services delivered and the customer chooses the supplier

Supplier Relationships and Global Distribution Systems

Supplier Relationships

We work with our suppliers to provide our customers with broad and deep range of highly competitive travel products

and services on our websites We have teams that manage relationships and negotiate agreements with our suppliers These

agreements generally cover access to the suppliers travel inventory as well as payment for our services Our teams cover air

hotel car rental cruise travel insurance and destination services suppliers Our teams focus on managing relationships

obtaining supplier-sponsored promotions and negotiating contracts

For hotels we are focused on offering our customers the ability to book the most relevant hotels at the most competitive

prices To do this we are focused on improving our infrastructure to ensure we have appropriate connectivity with our

suppliers sophisticated sort order algorithms and robust promotional capabilities We have global hotel services team that

works closely with chains and independent hotels to increase the number of properties that participate on our websites and

works with hotels to ensure that our customers have access to their best available prices including prices exclusive to our

brands where possible

For airlines we have long-standing and we believe generally good relationships with our suppliers We intend to

continue to work with our suppliers to provide our customers with highly competitive product offering Over the course of

2012 we put in place multi-year marketing and distribution agreements with three of our four largest airline partners in the U.S

Our suppliers continue to look for ways to decrease their overall distribution costs which could significantly reduce the

net revenue OTCs earn from travel and other travel-related products We have encountered and expect to continue to

encounter pressure on supplier economics As result the revenue we and other OTCs earn in the form of incentive payments

from GDSs or in the form of mark-ups and commissions from our suppliers is likely to be impacted over the long term as

supplier contracts are extended

Global Distribution Systems

Global distribution systems GDSs provide us access to comprehensive set of supplier content through single

source Suppliers such as airlines and hotels utilize GDSs to connect their product and service offerings with travel providers

who in turn make these products and services available to travelers for booking Certain of our businesses utilize GDS services

provided by Galileo Worldspan and Amadeus IT Group Amadeus Under our GDS service agreements we receive revenue

in the form of an incentive payment for air car and hotel segments that are processed through GDS These GDS service

agreements contain volume requirements for the number of segments we must process and require us to make shortfall

payments if we do not process the required minimum number of segments for given year As result significant portion of

our GDS services are processed by these providers For the year ended December 31 2012 we recognized $112.8 million of

incentive revenue from GDS providers which accounted for more than 10% of our net revenue

Operations and Technology

Systems Infrastructure and Web and Database Servers

We use SAYVIS co-location services in the United States to host our systems infrastructure and web and database

servers for Orbitz CheapTickets the Away Network Orbitz for Business and ebookers The majority of our hardware and other

equipment is located at the SAVVIS facility SAVVIS provides data center management services as well as emergency hands-

on support In addition we have our own dedicated staff on-site at the facility If SAVVIS was unable for any reason to

support our primary web hosting facility we have secondary facility through Verizon Business which is also located in the

United States



We use Global Switch services in the United Kingdom to host our systems infrastructure and web and database servers

for ebookers legacy systems and for HoteiClub The arrangement with Global Switch is similar to the arrangement described

above with SAVVIS

Systems Platform

Our systems platform enables us to deconstruct the segment feeds from our GDS partners for air flight searches and then

reassemble these segments for cost-effective and flexible multi-leg itineraries We also have the ability to connect to and book

air travel directly on certain airlines internal reservation systems through our supplier link technology Our easy-to-use Matrix

display allows customers to simultaneously view these various travel options so that they can select the price and supplier that

best meet their travel needs In addition our vacation packaging technology enables travelers to view multiple combinations of

airlines hotels and other travel products and allows them to assemble customized vacation package that is generally less

expensive than booking each travel product separately

We have technology operations teams dedicated to ensuring that our websites operate efficiently These teams monitor

our websites as well as the performance and availability of our third party service providers and coordinate releases of new

functionality on our websites We have product development teams focused on creating new and enhancing existing website

functionality These teams also developed and implemented our global technology platform that supports our global consumer

brands in February 2012 we completed our global technology platform migration multi-year initiative to bring all of our

consumer brands onto common technology platform

Customer Support

Our customer support platform includes customer self service chat email and call center services to provide our

customers with multiple options to enhance the travel experience We utilize intelligent voice routing and intelligent call

management technology to connect customers with the appropriate agent who can best assist them with their particular needs

We utilize third party vendors domestically and internationally to manage these call centers and customer service centers

Fraud Prevention System

We have an internally-developed fraud prevention system that we believe enables us to efficiently detect fraudulent

bookings The system automates many functions and prioritizes suspicious transactions for review by fraud analysts within our

fraud prevention team

Marketing

We utilize combination of online and traditional offline marketing Our sales and marketing efforts primarily focus on

increasing brand awareness and driving visitors to our websites Our long-term success will depend on our ability to continue to

increase the overall number of booked transactions in cost-effective manner

We use various forms of online marketing to drive traffic to our websites including search engine marketing SEM
travel research websites meta-search travel websites display advertising affiliate programs and email marketing We continue

to pursue strategies to improve our online marketing efficiency These strategies include increasing the amount of traffic

coming to our websites through search engine optimization SEO and customer relationship management CRM and

improving the efficiency of our SEM and travel research spending We also use traditional broadcast advertising to focus on

brand differentiation and to emphasize distinct features of our businesses that we believe are valuable to our customers

We have dedicated marketing teams that focus on generating leads and building relationships with corporate travel

managers and potential private label partners Our Orbitz for Business sales team includes experienced corporate travel

managers who are qualified to assist organizations in choosing between the variety of corporate booking products that we offer

Intellectual Property

We regard our technology and other intellectual property including our brands as critical part of our business We

protect our intellectual property rights through combination of copyright trademark and patent laws and trade secret and

confidentiality procedures We have number of trademarks service marks and trade names that are registered or for which we

have pending registration applications or common law rights We currently hold numerous issued United States patents and

pending United States patent applications We file additional patent applications on new inventions as appropriate



Despite these efforts and precautions we cannot be certain that any of these patent applications will result in issued

patents or that we will receive any effective protection from competition from
any

trademarks and issued patents It may be

possible for third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our trade secrets or our intellectual property without authorization

In that case legal remedies may not adequately compensate us for the damages caused by unauthorized use Further others

may independently and lawfully develop substantially similarproperties

From time to time we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of our business including

claims of alleged infringement by us of the trademarks copyrights patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties

In addition we may have to initiate lawsuits in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights protect our trade secrets or

determine the validity and scope of proprietary rights claimed by others Any such litigation regardless of outcome or merit

could consume significant amount of financial resources or management time It could also invalidate or impair our

intellectual property rights or result in significant damages or onerous license terms and restrictions for us We may even lose

our right to use certain intellectual property or business processes These outcomes could materially harm our business See

Item Legal Proceedings

At the time of the IPO we entered into Master License Agreement with Travelport which grants Travelport licenses to

use certain of our intellectual property going forward including

our supplier link technology

portions of ebookers booking search and vacation packaging technologies

certain of our products and online booking tools for corporate travel

portions of our private label vacation packaging technology and

our extranet supplier connectivity functionality

The Master License Agreement granted us the right to use corporate online booking product developed by Travelport

We have entered into value added reseller license with Travelport for this product

The Master License Agreement generally includes the right to create derivative works and other improvements Other

than the unrestricted use of our supplier link technology Travelport is generally prohibited from sublicensing these

technologies to any third party for competitive use However Travelport and its affiliates are not restricted from using the

technologies to compete directly with us

Information about Segments and Geographic Areas

We operate and manage our business as single operating segment For geographic related information see Note 17

Segment Information of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Industry Conditions

General

The worldwide travel industry is large and dynamic industry that has been characterized by rapid and significant

change We compete in various geographic markets with our primary markets being the United States Europe and Asia

Pacific We are one of the market leaders within the United States which is the most mature of the global travel markets

Internationally relatively low percentage of travel sales are transacted online and the market is highly fragmented which

presents significant growth opportunity for us and our competitors In Europe we have meaningfully improved our scale and

we are well-positioned to aggressively compete The Asia Pacific market as well as other emerging markets where online

penetration rates are particularly low and the competition is not as entrenched is an area of focus for us

Competition

The general market for travel products and services is highly competitive and the competitive intensity is increasing

The online travel industry generally has low barriers to entry and competitors can launch new websites at relatively low cost

Our competition includes online and offline travel companies travel suppliers many of which have their own branded

websites and call centers travel research companies search engines and meta-search websites

Our competition may offer more favorable terms and/or improved interfaces to suppliers and travelers Travel suppliers

have increasingly focused on distributing their products through their own websites in lieu of using third parties Suppliers who



sell on their own websites offer advantages such as their own bonus miles or loyalty points which may make their offerings

more attractive than our offerings to some consumers Travel research companies search engines and meta-search websites are

capable of sending customers to the websites of suppliers and our direct competitors

Factors affecting our competitive success include price availability of travel products ability to package travel products

across multiple suppliers brand recognition customer service and customer care fees charged to customers ease of use

accessibility reliability and innovation

Seasonality

Our businesses experience seasonal fluctuations in the demand for the products and services we offer The majority of

our customers book leisure travel rather than business travel Gross bookings for leisure travel are generally highest in the first

half of the
year as customers plan and book their spring and summer vacations However net revenue generated under the

merchant model is generally recognized when the travel takes place and typically lags bookings by several weeks or longer As

result our cash receipts are generally highest in the first half of the year and our net revenue is typically highest in the second

and third calendar quarters Our seasonality may also be affected by fluctuations in the travel products our suppliers make

available to us for booking the growth of our international operations or change in our product mix

Company Strategy

We take advantage of our deep roots in technology and innovation to offer consumers the premier way to book online

travel whether via personal computer tablet or smartphone We completed the migration of our global consumer brands to one

common technology platform in 2012 We believe the global platform is the cornerstone of our ability to rapidly and efficiently

innovate and expand into new markets with new products and services

Our strategic efforts are focused on growing our hotel and international businesses as complement to our historic

strength in air The hotel marketplace is approximately $300 billion and continues to have relatively low online penetration

rates in particular internationally We believe this presents us with an opportunity to significantly expand our business by

leveraging our global platform brand strength marketing capabilities and global hotel sourcing network We expect key drivers

of our future growth will include expansion into new international markets investments in mobile marketing optimization and

site optimization the upcoming launch of an Orbitz.com loyalty program and new partner/customer additions within our

distribution group and Orbitz for Business

We are focused on expanding our international presence through both product innovation and new market expansion For

example in February 2013 we launched the ebookers rail product becoming the first OTC to offer booking functionality for

the UK domestic rail network We expect our HoteiClub brand will play significant role in new market expansion Room

night growth rates at HotelClub have improved substantially in the second half of 2012 and into 2013 We believe HotelClubs

hotel-only offering with strong loyalty component represents an extensible model that can allow low cost new market entry

allowing us to rapidly expand our footprint into new and fast growing regions

Orbitz Worldwide is recognized leader in the rapidly growing mobile channel This is core part of our strategy to

drive growth across all of our global brands For example in December 2012 approximately 25% of Orbitz.com stand-alone

hotel bookings came via mobile device In the 2013 edition of the Internet Retailer Mobile 400 released in October 2012
Orbitz.corn was the highest ranked travel company positioned overall behind only Amazon Apple and Marriott vs 12 in

the prior year In December 2012 the Orbitz App for iPhone was one of 13 apps inducted into Apples App Store Hall of Fame

making it one of only 48 iPhone Apps ever to receive such recognition out of over 700000 in the App Store By virtue of the

common technology platform shared by all of the companys consumer brands the benefits of the companys mobile

investments are available to the ebookers HotelClub and CheapTickets brands We will continue to build on our strengths in

mobile to drive growth across all of our global brands and product offerings

We continue to focus on marketing optimization and site optimization to drive consumers to our websites in cost-

effective manner and maximize our ability to achieve conversion of visitors into customers We achieve this through number

of means including our investments in algorithmic bidding landing pages search engine optimization and testing

We believe that well-architected loyalty offerings have significant potential to enhance the financial performance of our

consumer brands HotelClub already has well-established loyalty program which helps drive repeat transactions We plan to

launch loyalty program for our Orbitz.corn brand in phases over the course of 2013 We believe the Orbitz corn loyalty

program will enhance the Orbitz.com consumer value proposition and strengthen our ongoing relationship with our customers
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We expect the Orbitz.com loyalty program will be driver of long term room night growth through its impact on driving repeat

and cross-sell purchases

Employees

As of December 31 2012 we had 1328 full-time employees more than half of whom were based in the United

States and the remaining were based primarily in Australia and the United Kingdom We believe we have good relationship

with our employees We outsource some of our technology support development customer service and administrative

functions to third parties Additionally we utilize independent contractors to supplement our workforce

Iran Sanctions Related Disclosure

Under the Iran Threat Reduction and Syrian Human Rights Act of 2012 which added Section 13r of the Exchange Act

we are required to include certain disclosures in our periodic reports if we or any of our affiliates knowingly engaged in

certain specified activities during the period covered by the report Because the Securities and Exchange Commission SEC
defines the term affiliate broadly it includes any entity controlled by us as well as any person or entity that controls us or is

under common control with us control is also construed broadly by the SEC We are not presently aware that we and our

consolidated subsidiaries have knowingly engaged in any transaction or dealing reportable under Section 13r of the Exchange

Act during the year ended December 31 2012 In addition we sought confirmation from companies that may be considered our

affiliates as to whether they have knowingly engaged in any such reportable transactions or dealings during such period and

except as described below are not presently aware of any such reportable transactions or dealings by such companies

The Blackstone Group which indirectly controls as that term is interpreted by the SEC for purposes of Section 13r
of the Exchange Act us informed us that TRW Automotive Holdings Corp TRW company that may be considered one

of The Blackstone Groups affiliates included the disclosure reproduced below in its annual report on Form 10-K as filed with

the SEC on February 15 2013 as required by Section 13r of the Exchange Act the TRW Disclosure We have no

involvement in or control over the activities of TRW any of its predecessor companies or any of its subsidiaries but because

both we and TRW are controlled by The Blackstone Group we are considered an affiliate of TRW for the purposes of

Section 13r of the Exchange Act We have not independently verified or participated in the preparation of the TRW
Disclosure

TRWDisclosure

Compliance with Government Regulations

Pursuant to Section 13r1Diii of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act we

note that in 2012 certain of our non-U.S subsidiaries sold products to customers that could be affiliated with or

deemed to be acting on behalf of the Industrial Development and Renovation Organization which has been

designated as an agency of the Government of Iran Gross revenue attributable to such sales was approximately

$8326000 and net profit from such sales was approximately $377000 Although these activities were not

prohibited by U.S law at the time they were conducted our subsidiaries have discontinued their dealings with such

customers other than limited wind-down activities which are permissible and we do not otherwise intend to

continue or enter into any Iran-related activity

We were also notified that Travelport which controls us and is therefore an affiliate of ours as each term is

interpreted by the SEC for purposes of Section 13r of the Exchange Act provided the disclosure reproduced below We have

not independently verified or participated in the preparation of this disclosure

As part of our global business in the travel industry we provide certain passenger travel-related GDS and airline IT

services to Iran Air We also provide certain airline IT services to Iran Air Tours All of these services are either

exempt from applicable sanctions prohibitions pursuant to statutory exemption permitting transactions ordinarily

incident to travel or to the extent not otherwise exempt specifically licensed by the U.S Office of Foreign Assets

Control Subject to any changes in the exemptllicensed status of such activities we intend to continue these business

activities which are directly related to and promote the arrangement of travel for individuals

Company Website and Public Filings

We maintain corporate website at corp.orbitz.com The content of our website is not incorporated by reference into this

Annual Report on Form 10-K or other reports we file with or furnish to the SEC Our filings with the SEC are provided to the
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public on our Investor Relations website inyestors.orbitz.com free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are

electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC Other information regarding our corporate governance such as our code of

conduct governance guidelines and charters for our board committees is also available on our Investor Relations website In

addition the SEC maintains an internet website that contains reports proxy and information statements and other information

regarding issuers including us that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov We also use our Investor Relations

website to make information available to our investors and the public Investors and other interested persons can sign up to

receive email alerts whenever we post new information to the website

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers as of February 2013 were as follows

Barney Harford age 41 has served as our Chief Executive Officer and also as director and memberof the executive

committee of our Board of Directors since January 2009 Prior to joining the Company in January 2009 Mr Harford served in

variety of roles at Expedia Inc from 1999 to 2006 From 2004 to 2006 he served as President of Expedia Asia Pacific Prior

to 2004 Mr Harford served as Senior Vice President of Air Car Private Label and led Expedias corporate development

strategic planning and investor relations functions He joined Expedia in 1999 as product planner Mr Harford currently

serves on the Board of Directors of LiquidPlanner Inc He previously served on the Board of Directors of GlobalEnglish

Corporation and Orange Hotel Group He holds an MBA from INSEAD and an MA degree in Natural Sciences from Clare

College Cambridge University

David Belmont age 46 was appointed Interim Chief Financial Officer effective January 2013 Prior to being

appointed Interim Chief Financial Officer Mr Belmont has served as the Companys Group Vice President Financial Planning

and Analysis from April 2010 to June 2012 and November 2012 to January 2013 From June 2012 to November 2012 Mr

Belmont served as the Companys Interim Chief Financial Officer Mr Belmont was the Companys Vice President Business

Planning from January 2005 to April 2010 Before joining the Company Mr Belmont served as Director Corporate Planning at

Cendant from March 2003 to January 2005 and in several corporate planning investor relations and financial analyst positions

at Galileo International between September 1993 and March 2003 Mr Belmont holds an MBA from Cornell University and

BS in General Engineering from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign

Sam Fulton age 42 has served as Senior Vice President Global Product Strategy responsible for the prioritization of

Product Development initiatives for our global consumer brands since July 2011 Mr Fulton also has responsibility for business

operations information architecture design customer service and the Away Network Prior to his current role Mr Fulton held

several key positions within the Company including Group Vice President of Product Management and Vice President and

General Manager of Transportation which was comprised of air car cruise and travel insurance for Orbitz and CheapTickets

Mr Fulton has also held positions in business strategy product management supplier services and business development since

joining the Company in late 2002 Prior to joining the Company Mr Fulton worked for Budget Rent Car as the Director of

Travel Industry Sales focusing on preferred travel
agency relationships Mr Fulton has BS degree in Finance and Marketing

from the University of Denver

Tom Kram age 53 has served as our Group Vice President Chief Accounting Officer since joining the Company in

May 2011 From 2004 to 2011 Mr Kram served in variety of roles at Chicago Newspaper Liquidation Corp formerly

hnown as Sun-Times Media Group Inc Mr Kram was elected Chief Executive Officer President and Treasurer in

October 2009 and served as Chief Financial Officer from March 2009 to October 2009 From 2004 to 2009 he was the

Corporate Controller and in addition served as Chief Accounting Officer from 2006 to 2009 Mr Kram served as the Chief

Financial Officer of Sun-Times Media Group Inc when it filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United

States Bankruptcy Code in March 2009 Mr Kram was formerly the Vice President Controller of Budget Group Inc from

1997 to 2003 Mr Kram has BS degree in Accountancy from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign

Roger Liew age 40 has served as Senior Vice President Chief Technology Officer since November 2010 Mr Liew

was Vice President of Technology of the Company and Group Manager of the Intelligent Marketplace Group from July 2009 to

November 2010 and previously served as Vice President of Technology of Orbitz LLC from May 2000 to May 2004 Prior to

his return to the Company in July 2009 Mr Liew served as Chief Technology Officer of Milestro leisure travel and tourism

company from May 2008 to December 2008 and Chief Technology Officer of G2 Switchworks startup in the travel

technology space from May 2004 to April 2008 when it was acquired by Travelport Prior to joining Orbitz LLC Mr Liew

worked as lead developer for Neoglyphics Media Corporation and as software engineer for Motorolas Cellular Subscriber

Group Mr Liew studied Mathematics and Computer Science at the University of Chicago
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Chris Orton age 39 has served as President Orbitz.com and CheapTickets since August 2011 Previously Mr Orton

served as Senior Vice President Chief Marketing Officer from July 2010 to August 2011 Prior to joining the Company Mr

Orton worked for eBay Inc from June 2003 to June 2010 and held various positions in data warehousing and internet

marketing Most recently Mr Orton was Senior Director of Internet Marketing at eBay responsible for its paid search

shopping comparison search engine optimization affiliates and display marketing channels Prior to joining eBay he spent

eight years doing CRM and ERP consulting at Kana Software PricewaterhouseCoopers and Andersen Consulting Accenture
Mr Orton has an MBA from the University of California Berkeley and BA degree in Economics and International Relations

from the University of California Davis

Jim Rogers age 60 has served as Senior Vice President General Counsel and Corporate Secretary since August 2012

and is responsible for leading the Companys global legal team as well as its compliance corporate affairs and government

relations functions Mr Rogers previously served from June 2010 to July 2012 as General Counsel of TLC Vision private-

equity backed company that is North Americas leading eye-care services provider Before that Mr Rogers had practiced

corporate and communications law from 1981 to 2009 at Latham Watkins LLP in Washington DC the last 21 years as

partner Mr Rogers is graduate of Columbia Law School holds an MPA in Economics and Public Affairs from Princeton

University and received his BA from Yale University in Economics Mr Rogers serves on the Board of Directors of The

Appleseed Foundation and he previously served as co-chairman of the board

Tamer Tamar age 38 has served as Senior Vice President of International since March 2011 and President of ebookers

since July 2009 Previously Mr Tamar served as Vice President of Europe and Middle East EMEA distribution for Expedia

from February 2008 to July 2009 From 2004 to 2008 Mr Tamar served in variety of roles at Expedia including managing

Expedias EMEA car businesses leading the strategy and corporate development function for the EMEA region and heading up

the Expedia UK business Prior to joining Expedia Mr Tamar worked as Management Consultant for A.T Kearney in

Chicago and London Mr Tamar holds an MBA from MIT and BA in Mathematics and Economics from Franklin Marshall

College

Item 1A Risk Factors

Travelport and its controlling holders control us and may have strategic interests that differ from ours or the interests of our

other stockholders

Currently Travelport and investment funds that own or control Travelports ultimate parent company beneficially own

approximately 53% of our outstanding common stock and therefore indirectly control us Moreover our certificate of

incorporation provides that Travelport has variety of rights including the right to approve all nominees for our Board of

Directors Travelport and its controlling holders own sufficient shares to determine the outcome of any actions requiring the

approval of our stockholders including adopting most amendments to our certificate of incorporation and approving or

rejecting proposed mergers or sales of all or substantially all of our assets

The interests of Travelports controlling holders may differ from those of our public stockholders in material respects

Travelports controlling holders and their affiliates are in the business of making investments in companies and maximizing the

return on those investments They currently have and may from time to time in the future acquire interests in businesses that

directly or indirectly compete with certain portions of our business or our suppliers or customers or firms with which we do

business such as the Travelport GDSs

In addition Travelports interests may differ from ours particularly in the context of our respective arrangements with

suppliers During the term of our current GDS service agreement with Travelport the Travelport GDS Service Agreement
which ends December 31 2014 we are limited in our ability to utilize alternative GDS options or direct connections with

suppliers If Travelport alters its commercial relationships with supplier that is also suppliers of ours these actions could

make us less attractive distribution channel to that supplier who could attempt to terminate or renegotiate its agreements with

us potentially placing us at competitive disadvantage relative to other OTCs See We are dependent on Travelport for our

GDS services below In addition Travelports suppliers many of which are also major suppliers to us may seek to exert

commercial leverage over us in an effort to obtain concessions from Travelport which could negatively affect our access to

travel offerings and adversely affect our business and operating results In recognition of the fact that Travelports interests may
differ from ours our Audit Committee in accordance with applicable listing and regulatory requirements and principles of

good corporate governance takes an active role in reviewing and approving any agreement involving more than $120000 of

payments or receipts in which Travelport or any other related party has an interest such as any renewal or replacement of the

Travelport GDS Service Agreement
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As practical matter Travelport and its controlling holders will be able to exert significant influence and even control

over matters put to vote of our stockholders so long as they continue to indirectly own significant amount of our outstanding

voting stock even if that amount is less than 50%

Actual or potential conflicts of interest may develop between our management and directors as well as the management and

directors of Travelport

Jeff Clarke serves as Chairman of our Board of Directors and is the Chairman of the Travelport Board of Directors

Martin Brand who is Managing Director at The Blackstone Group currently serves on the Board of Directors of Travelport

and serves on our Board of Directors The fact that Mr Clarke and Mr Brand hold positions with Travelport and us could

create or appear to create potential conflicts of interest when they face decisions that may affect two or more of these entities

In addition Jill Greenthal and Robert Friedman who are Senior Advisors in the Private Equity Group of The Blackstone

Group currently serve on our Board of Directors Affiliates of The Blackstone Group exercise control over Travelports

ultimate parent company and therefore the fact that Ms Greenthal and Mr Friedman hold positions with The Blackstone

Group could create or appear to create potential conflict of interest when either of them face decisions that affect both

Travelport and us

Further our certificate of incorporation provides that no officer or director of Travelport who is also an officer or

director of ours may be liable to us or our stockholders for breach of any fiduciary duty by reason of the fact that any such

individual directs corporate opportunity to Travelport instead of us or does not communicate information regarding

corporate opportunity to us because the officer or director has directed the corporate opportunity to Travelport These

provisions may have the effect of exacerbating the risk of conflicts of interest between Travelport and us because the provisions

effectively shield an overlapping director/executive

Potential conflicts of interest could arise in connection with the resolution of any dispute between Travelport and us

regarding the terms of commercial agreements between the parties or their affiliates Potential conflicts of interest could also

arise if we enter into any other commercial arrangements with Travelport in the future

Our certificate of incorporation limits our ability to engage in many transactions without the consent of Travelport

Our certificate of incorporation provides Travelport with greater degree of control and influence in the operation of our

business and the management of our affairs than is typically available to stockholder of publicly-traded company Until

Travelport ceases to beneficially own shares entitled to 33% or more of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of our then-

outstanding common stock the prior consent of Travelport is required for the following matters

any consolidation or merger of us or any of our subsidiaries with any person other than subsidiary

any sale lease exchange or other disposition or any acquisition or investment other than certain permitted

investments by us other than transactions between us and our subsidiaries or any series of related dispositions or

acquisitions except for those for which we give Travelport at least 15 days prior written notice and which involve

consideration not in excess of $15.0 million in fair market value except any disposition of cash equivalents or

investment grade securities or obsolete or worn out equipment and the lease assignment or sublease of any real or

personal property in each case in the ordinary course of business

any change in our authorized capital stock or our creation of any class or series of capital stock

the issuance or sale by us or one of our subsidiaries of any equity securities or equity derivative securities or the

adoption of any equity incentive plan except for the issuance of equity securities by us or one of our subsidiaries

to Travelport or to another restricted subsidiary of Travelport and the issuance by us of equity securities under our

equity incentive plans in an amount not to exceed $15.0 million
per year in fair market value

the amendment of various provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws

the declaration of dividends on any class of our capital stock

the authorization of any series of preferred stock

the creation incurrence assumption or guaranty by us or any of our subsidiaries of any indebtedness for borrowed

money except for up to $675.0 million of indebtedness at any one time outstanding under our credit agreement

and up to $25.0 million of other indebtedness so long as we give Travelport at least 15 days prior written notice of

the incurrence thereof

the creation existence or effectiveness of any consensual encumbrance or consensual restriction by us or any of our

subsidiaries on payment of dividends or other distributions payment of indebtedness the making of loans
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or advances and the sale lease or transfer of any properties or assets in each case to Travelport or any of its

restricted subsidiaries

any change in the number of directors on our board of directors the establishment of any committee of the board the

determination of the members of the board or any committee of the board and the filling of newly created

memberships and vacancies on the board or any committee of the board and

any transactions with affiliates of Travelport involving aggregate payments or consideration in excess of

$10.0 million except transactions between or among Travelport or any of its restricted subsidiaries including us
the payment of reasonable and customary fees paid to and indemnities provided for the benefit of officers

directors employees or consultants of Travelport any of its direct or indirect parent companies or any of its restricted

subsidiaries including us any agreement as in effect on the date of the consummation of this offering and

investments by The Blackstone Group and certain of its affiliates in our or our subsidiaries securities so long as

the investment is being offered generally to other investors on the same or more favorable terms and ii the

investment constitutes less than 5% of the proposed or outstanding issue amount of such class of securities

These restrictions could prevent us from being able to pursue transactions or relationships that would otherwise be in the

best interests of our stockholders These restrictions could also limit stockholder value by preventing change of control that

our stockholders might consider favorable

We are dependent on Travelport for our GDS services

To varying extents travel suppliers use GDSs to connect their products and services with travel companies who in turn

make these products and services available to travelers for booking Under the Travelport GDS Service Agreement which

expires December 31 2014 we are required subject to certain exceptions to utilize Galileo and Worldspan which are

subsidiaries of Travelport for significant portion of our GDS services In addition our contractual obligations to Travelport

for GDS services limit our ability to use alternative GDS options before the agreement expires at the end of next year As

result if Travelport became unwilling or was unable to provide these services to us we may not be able to transition to

alternative providers in timely or efficient manner and our business could be materially and adversely affected

Furthermore our Travelport GDS Service Agreement restricts our ability to use direct connection relationships with

suppliers during the term of the agreement although there are certain exceptions If we pursue direct connect relationship

during the term of our Travelport GDS Service Agreement and Travelport disputes our ability to do so we may become

involved in potentially costly and uncertain litigation dispute with Travelport These contractual obligations may reduce our

flexibility to implement changes to our business in response to changing economic conditions industry trends or technological

developments As result the limitations imposed by the GDS service agreement could place us at competitive disadvantage

and negatively impact our business and operating results

We rely on Travelport to issue letters of credit on our behalf under its credit facility

As of December 31 2012 there were $72.5 million of outstanding letters of credit issued by Travelport on our behalf

Under the Separation Agreement between Travelport and us dated as of July 25 2007 as amended the Separation

Agreement Travelport has agreed to issue U.S dollar-denominated letters of credit on our behalf in an aggregate amount not

to exceed $75.0 million so long as Travelport and its affiliates as defined therein own at least 50% of our voting stock In the

event Travelport is no longer obligated or is unable to issue letters of credit on our behalf we would be required to establish

additional cash reserves which could significantly reduce our liquidity and cash available to grow our business We currently

have revolving credit facility which matures in July 2013 and under which we have $11.2 million of outstanding letters of

credit as of December 31 2012 and $25 million letter of credit facility which terminates in September 2015 and under which

we have $12.8 million of outstanding letters of credit as of December 31 2012 The $25 million letter of credit facility requires

us to hold in collateral account through an unrestricted subsidiary cash equal to 1.03 times the outstanding letters of credit

amount plus fees

We have granted Travelport perpetual licenses to use certain of our intellectual property which could facilitate Travelports

ability to compete with us

We are party to Master License Agreement with Travelport under which we and Travelport each have rights to use

certain of the others intellectual property The Master License Agreement permits Travelport and its affiliates to use and in

some cases to sublicense to third parties certain of our intellectual property including

our supplier link technology

portions of ebookers booking search and vacation package technologies
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certain of our products and online booking tools for corporate travel

portions of our private label vacation package technology and

our extranet supplier connectivity functionality

Travelport and its affiliates may use these technologies as part of or in support of their own products or services

including in some cases to directly compete with us

The Master License Agreement permits Travelport to sublicense our intellectual property other than our supplier link

technology to party that is not an affiliate of Travelport except that Travelport may not sublicense our intellectual property to

third party for use that competes with our business unless Travelport incorporates or uses our intellectual property with

Travelport products or services to enhance or improve Travelport products or services other than to provide our intellectual

property to third parties on standalone basis Travelport and its affiliates are permitted to use our intellectual property to

provide their own products and services to third parties that compete with us With respect to our supplier link technology

Travelport has an unrestricted license These Travelport rights could facilitate Travelports its affiliates and third parties ability

to compete with us which could have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and operating results

We depend on our supplier and partner relationships and adverse changes in these relationships or our inability to enter

into new relationships could negatively affect our access to travel offerings and reduce our revenue

We rely significantly on our relationships with hotels airlines and other suppliers and travel partners We enter into

agreements with these suppliers and travel partners at varying times and the agreements are of varying duration As result at

any given point in time one or more of these agreements may be approaching expiration or renewal Moreover in order to

enhance the competitiveness of our offerings we are constantly seeking to add new suppliers and travel partners Adverse

changes in any of these relationships whether upon expiration or otherwise or the inability to enter into new relationships

could adversely affect our revenue and could also negatively impact the availability and competitiveness of travel products

offered on our websites The significant reduction by any of our major suppliers or travel partners in their business with our

companies for sustained period of time or their complete withdrawal of doing business with us could have material adverse

effect on our business financial condition and operating results

Globally airlines continue to look for ways to decrease their overall costs including the cost of distributing airline

tickets through OTCs and GDSs and to increase their control over distribution The airlines have negotiated and we expect

they will continue to attempt to negotiate terms more favorable to themselves from time to time when the opportunity presents

itself such as upon expiration of an agreement If airlines are successful in obtaining more favorable terms in their agreements

with us or in the agreements between the airlines and the GDSs including Travelport or an airline actually terminates an

agreement with us or Travelport the net revenue we earn from the distribution of airline tickets would be negatively

impacted which could have material adverse effect on our business results of operations or financial condition

For example in late 2010 we and American Airlines AA were unable to agree to terms under which AA tickets

would be marketed and distributed to our customers and thus the offering of AA tickets on the Orbitz.com and Orbitz for

Business websites was discontinued After hiatus of several months we resumed offering AA tickets on our sites and have

continued to do so pursuant to series of agreements between us and AA that ran through January 15 2013 Since that date we

have continued to market and distribute AA tickets on our websites but if we cannot reach another formal agreement with AA
the offering of AA tickets to our customers might cease again If that were to occur or if similar situation were to occur with

other airlines it could reduce our access to air inventory thereby putting us at competitive disadvantage relative to other

OTCs and reduce our revenues

The parent of AA has recently announced its intention to merge with US Airways Group Inc to effect business

combination of American Airlines and US Airways In 2012 we signed multi-year agreement with US Airways We cannot

predict what the effect of such merger will be on our ongoing relationship with American Airlines or US Airways

In addition in April 2011 AA filed lawsuit against Travelport and us alleging that our Travelport GDS Service

Agreement violates the Sherman Antitrust Act Although the Court has dismissed this claim with prejudice there are several

other claims pending against Travelport and Orbitz It is possible that the outcome of these claims could influence the manner

in which GDSs operate which could have significant implications for both airlines and OTCs

We are also subject to minimum segment volume thresholds and may be subject to shortfall payments to Travelport if we

fail to process certain percentage of segments through its GDSs These minimum segment volume thresholds may limit our

ability to enter into or expand relationships with other partners which could negatively affect our access to travel offerings

and reduce our revenue
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Our business is dependent on our liquidity and our ability to access funding

If we are unable to refinance or extend our revolving credit facility or we are unable to refinance or repay our term loan

by its July 2014 maturity date we cannot be certain that other debt financing would be available to us or be available on

attractive or acceptable terms If such debt financing is not available to us or not available on attractive or acceptable terms we

may need to dispose of assets or issue equity to obtain necessary funds Such an issuance of equity could be materially dilutive

to existing stockholders We do not know whether we will be able to take any of these actions if necessary on timely basis or

on terms satisfactory to us or at all In the event that funding for the term loan is not available when needed or is available only

on unfavorable terms or we are unable to refinance or extend our revolving credit facility by its July 2013 maturity we may be

unable to take advantage of potential business opportunities respond to competitive pressures or to operate our business as it

currently exists which in turn could have material adverse impact on our results of operations and liquidity and the value of

our common stock

In addition our liquidity could be negatively impacted in the future if any of the following events occur

Travelport is no longer obligated or is unable to issue letters of credit on our behalf

termination of major suppliers participation on our websites

decline in merchant gross bookings due to deteriorating economic conditions or other factors

decline in standalone hotel merchant gross bookings due to shift from the merchant model to the retail model

changes to payment terms or other requirements imposed by vendors suppliers or regulatory agencies such as

requiring us to provide letters of credit cash reserves or other forms of financial security or increases in such

requirements

lower than anticipated operating cash flows or other unanticipated events such as unfavorable outcomes in legal

proceedings including in the case of hotel occupancy proceedings certain jurisdictions requirements that we provide

financial security or pay an assessment to the municipality in order to challenge the assessment in court

We have significant amount of indebtedness which could limit the manner in which we operate our business

As of December 31 2012 we had approximately $440.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our senior secured

credit agreement Our substantial level of indebtedness could

impair our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions or general

corporate purposes

reduce the funds available to us for purposes such as potential acquisitions and capital expenditures because we are

required to use portion of our cash flows from operations to make debt service payments

put us at competitive disadvantage because we have higher level of indebtedness than some of our competitors

and reduce our flexibility in planning for or responding to changing conditions in the economy or our industry

including increased competition and

make us more vulnerable to general economic downturns and adverse developments in our business

The credit agreement requires us to maintain minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and not to exceed maximum total

leverage ratio If we fail to comply with these covenants and we are unable to obtain waiver or amendment our lenders could

accelerate the maturity of all amounts outstanding under our term loan and revolving credit facility and could proceed against

the collateral securing this indebtedness If this were to occur there is no assurance that alternative financing would be

available to us or at favorable terms

In addition restrictive covenants in our credit agreement specifically limit our ability to among other things

incur additional indebtedness or enter into guarantees

enter into sale and leaseback transactions

make new investments loans or acquisitions

grant or incur liens on our assets

sell our assets

engage in mergers consolidations liquidations or dissolutions

engage in transactions with affiliates and

make restricted payments
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As result we may operate our business differently than if we were not subject to these covenants and restrictions

Our revenue is derived from the travel industy and prolonged substantial decreases in travel volume particularly air travel

as well as other industry trends have historically adversely affected and may in the future adversely affect our business

financial condition and results of operations

Our revenue is derived from the worldwide travel industry As result our revenue is directly related to the overall level

of travel activity particularly air travel and hotel volume and is therefore significantly impacted by declines in or disruptions to

travel in the United States Europe and the Asia Pacific region due to factors entirely outside of our control For example the

deterioration of the capital markets and related financial crisis in the second half of 2008 negatively impacted consumer

spending patterns including spending on travel thereby reducing demand for our products and decreasing our revenue While

we have seen improvements in the economy in recent years economic conditions remain unstable If economic conditions do

not continue to improve or worsen our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely impacted

Additional factors that affect our revenue include

global security issues political instability acts or threats of terrorism hostilities or war and other political issues that

could adversely affect travel volume in our key regions

epidemics or pandemics

natural disasters such as hurricanes volcanic eruptions and earthquakes

the financial condition of suppliers including the airline and hotel industry and the impact of their financial

condition on the cost and availability of air travel and hotel rooms

changes in airline distribution policies

changes to regulations governing the airline and travel industry

an increase in fuel prices affecting travel

work stoppages or labor unrest at any of the major airlines or airports

increased airport security that could reduce the convenience of air travel

travelers perceptions of the occurrence of travel related accidents or the scope severity and timing of the other

factors described above and

changes in occupancy and room rates achieved by hotels

If there is prolonged substantial decrease in travel volumes particularly for air travel and hotel stays for these or any

other reasons it would have an adverse impact on our business financial condition and results of operations

Our business and results of operations could be adversely affected one or more of our major suppliers including airlines

and car rental companies suffers deterioration in its financial condition or it restructures its operations

In the past several years several major airlines have filed for bankruptcy protection recently exited bankruptcy or

discussed publicly the risks of bankruptcy In addition some of these airlines and others have merged or discussed merging

with other airlines In addition the economic downturn severely impacted the automobile industry including car rental

companies We depend on relatively small number of airlines for significant portion of our net revenue Our car net revenue

is also generated from relatively small number of car rental companies As result of this dependence our business and

results of operations could be adversely affected if the financial condition of one or more of the major airlines or car rental

companies were to deteriorate or in the event of supplier consolidation in either of these industries For example further

consolidation of one or more of the major airlines such as the announced merger of American Airlines and US Airways could

result in further capacity reductions reduction in the number of airline tickets available for booking on our website and

increased air fares which may have negative impact on demand for travel products

The travel industry is highly competitive and we may not be able to effectively compete in the future

We operate in the highly competitive travel industry Our success depends in large part upon our ability to compete

effectively against numerous competitors including other online travel companies traditional offline travel companies

suppliers travel research companies search engines and meta-search companies several of which have significantly greater

fmancial marketing personnel and other resources than we have as discussed below Factors affecting our competitive success

include price availability of travel products ability to package travel products across multiple suppliers brand recognition

customer service and customer care fees charged to customers ease of use accessibility reliability and innovation If we are

not able to compete effectively against our competitors our business and results of operations may be adversely affected
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Online travel agencies We face significant competition from other online travel agencies such as Priceline Expedia

Travelocity and their related brands as well as other regional competitors such as Ctrip in China We also compete with other

travel agencies for both travelers and the acquisition and retention of supply

Travel suppliersSuppliers have increasingly focused on distributing their products through their own websites For

example some low-cost airlines which are having increasing success in the marketplace distribute their online supply

exclusively through their own websites and several large hotel chains have combined to establish single online hotel-search

platform with links directly to their own websites Delta Air Lines Inc in recent years eliminated sales of airline tickets

through several third-party distributors limited forward distribution of its fares to meta-search providers such as Kayak and

limited the extent to which certain fare classes may be used in the construction of multi-carrier itineraries all in an attempt to

drive customers to book directly on its website Suppliers may offer advantages for customers to book directly such as

member-only fares bonus miles or loyalty points which could make their offerings more attractive to customers In response to

these pressures in the past we and other online travel companies reduced or eliminated domestic booking fees on retail airline

tickets and hotel stays and removed certain change and cancellation fees Our results of operations could be negatively affected

if competitive dynamics in the industry caused us to reduce further or to eliminate the service fees we charge our customers

Search engines We also face increasing competition from search engines like Google Bing and Yahoo Search Search

engines have grown in popularity and may offer comprehensive travel planning or shopping capabilities which may drive more

traffic directly to the websites of suppliers or competitors Google appears to have increased its focus on appealing to travel

customers through its launch of Google Places and Google Flights an air-travel-specific website that promotes air suppliers

sites and not those of OTCs In addition Googles efforts around Google Places could lead to it favoring Google Places or

favored partner over and above our pages which could undermine our ability to obtain prominent placement in paid or unpaid

search results at reasonable cost or at all In addition we currently license our search functionality QPX Software from ITA

Software Inc subsidiary of Google Googles ownership of ITA could result in its developing new software or other products

in the future that it may not make available to us which could put us at competitive disadvantage

Travel meta-search engines and content aggregators Travel meta-search websites including Kayak.com which entered

into merger agreement with Priceline.com in November 2012 and Trivago.com in which Expedia has agreed to acquire

majority ownership interest and travel research sites that have search functionality such as TripAdvisor aggregate travel

search results for specific itinerary across supplier travel agent and other websites If these competitors limit our participation

within their results it could affect our traffic-generating arrangements in negative mannet In addition some meta-search

sites such as Kayak.com offer users the ability to make hotel reservations directly on their websites which may reduce the

amount of traffic and transactions available to us through referrals from these sites

There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against any current emerging and future

competitors or on platforms that may emerge or provide differentiated products and services to our customer base Increasing

competition from current and emerging competitors the introduction of new technologies and the continued expansion of

existing technologies such as meta-search and other search engine technologies may force us to make changes to our business

models which could affect our financial performance and liquidity Increased competition has resulted in and may continue to

result in reduced margins as well as loss of customer transactions and brand recognition

We rely on search engines and content providers who may change their business models in ways that could have negative

impact on our business

We use Google and other internet search engines to generate traffic to our websites principally through the purchase of

travel-related keywords Google and other search engines frequently update and change the logic that determines the placement

and display of results of users search These changes could negatively affect the purchased or algorithmic placement of links

to our websites In addition significant amount of traffic is directed to our websites through our participation in pay-per-click

and display advertising campaigns on search engines meta-search sites and content properties Pricing and operating dynamics

for these traffic sources can experience rapid change both technically and competitively Moreover any of these providers

could for competitive or other purposes alter their search algorithms or results causing our websites to place lower in search

query results If major search engine changes its algorithms in manner that negatively affects the search engine ranking

paid or unpaid of our websites or that of our third-party distribution partners or if competitive dynamics impact the costs or

effectiveness of search engine optimization search engine marketing or other traffic generating arrangements in negative

manner our business and financial performance would be adversely affected potentially to material extent
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Certain of our international subsidiaries have history of significant operating losses and our inability to improve their

scale and profitability could adversely affect our business and results of operations

We have historically incurred significant operating losses at our international subsidiaries and may continue to

experience operating losses in the future particularly since we expect to continue to incur high levels of marketing and other

expenses in order to expand our international operations As result we have made and may continue to make significant

investments in our international operations by using portion of the cash flow generated from our domestic operations or

making borrowings under our revolving credit facility There can be no assurance that our international subsidiaries will be

profitable in the future or that any profits generated by them will be sufficient to recover our investments in them

The profitability of our international subsidiaries depends to large extent on the scale of their operations If we fail to

achieve the desired scale we may not be able to effectively compete in the global marketplace and our business and results of

operations may be adversely affected

Our international operations are subject to additional risks not encountered when doing business in the United States

including foreign exchange risk and our exposure to these risks will increase as we expand our international operations

With employees in over 25 countries outside the United States we generated 28% of our net revenue for the year ended

December 31 2012 from our international operations We are subject to certain risks as result of having international

operations and from having operations in multiple countries generally including

difficulties in staffing and managing operations due to distance time zones language and cultural differences

including issues associated with establishing management infrastructure in various countries

differences and unexpected changes in local regulatory requirements and exposure to local economic conditions

limits on our ability to enforce our intellectual property rights and increased risk of piracy

preference of local populations for local providers

restrictions on the repatriation of non-U.S investments and earnings back to the United States including withholding

taxes imposed by certain foreign jurisdictions

diminished ability to legally enforce our contractual rights and

currency exchange rate fluctuations

To the extent we are not able to effectively mitigate or eliminate these risks our results of operations could be adversely

affected

Further our international operations require us to comply with number of U.S and international regulations including

among others the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act FCPA and the U.K.s Bribery Act 2010 Any failure by us to adopt

appropriate compliance procedures to ensure that our employees and agents comply with the FCPA and applicable laws and

regulations in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial penalties or restrictions on our ability to conduct business in

certain foreign jurisdictions

We are dependent upon third-party systems and service providers and any disruption or adverse change in their businesses

could have material adverse effect on our business

We currently rely on certain third-party computer systems service providers and software companies including the

electronic central reservation systems and GDSs of the airline hotel and car rental industries In particular our businesses rely

on third parties to

conduct searches for airfares

process hotel room transactions

process credit card payments and

provide computer infrastructure critical to our business

In addition we rely on group of business process outsourcing companies located in various countries to provide us

with call center and telesales services back office administrative services such as ticketing fulfillment hotel rate loading and

quality control and information technology services as well as financial services Any interruption in these third-party services

could have material adverse effect on us
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Further we currently utilize GDSs including Worldspan Galileo and Amadeus to process significant portion of our

bookings and any interruption or deterioration in our GDS partners products or services could prevent us from searching and

booking airline and car rental reservations which would have material adverse effect on our business

Our success is dependent on our ability to maintain relationships with our technology partners In the event our

arrangements with any of these third parties are impaired or terminated we may not be able to fmd an alternative source of

systems support on timely basis or on commercially reasonable terms which could result in significant additional costs or

disruptions to our business In addition some of our agreements with third-party service providers can be terminated by those

parties on short notice and in many cases provide no recourse for service interruptions termination of these services could

have material adverse effect on our business financial condition and results of operations

We rely on information technology to operate our businesses and maintain our competitiveness and any failure to adapt to

technological developments or industry trends could harm our business

We depend upon the use of sophisticated information technologies and systems including technologies and systems

utilized for reservations communications procurement and administrative systems Certain of our businesses also utilize third-

party fare search solutions and GDSs or other technologies As our operations grow in both size and scope we must

continuously improve and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to offer our customers enhanced products services features

and functionality while maintaining the reliability and integrity of our systems and infrastructure Our future success also

depends on our ability to adapt our services and infrastructure to meet rapidly evolving industry standards while continuing to

improve the performance features and reliability of our service in response to competitive service and product offerings and

the changing demands of the marketplace In particular expanding our systems and infrastructure to meet any potential

increases in business volume will require us to commit additional financial operational and technical resources before those

increases materialize with no assurance that they actually will Furthermore our use of this technology could be challenged by

claims that we have infringed upon the patents copyrights or other intellectual property rights of others

In addition we may not be able to maintain our existing systems obtain new technologies and systems or replace or

introduce new technologies and systems as quickly as our competitors or in cost-effective manner Also we may fail to

achieve the benefits anticipated or required from any new technology or system or we may be unable to devote financial

resources to new technologies and systems in the future If any of these events occur our business could suffer

System interruptions and the lack of redundancy may cause us to lose customers or business opportunities

Our inability to maintain and improve our information technology systems and infrastructure may result in system

interruptions System interruptions and slow delivery times unreliable service levels prolonged or frequent service outages or

insufficient capacity may prevent us from efficiently providing services to our customers which could result in our losing

customers and revenue or incurring liabilities In addition to the risks associated with inadequate maintenance or upgrading our

information technologies and systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from various causes including

natural disasters war and acts of terrorism

power losses computer systems failure Internet and telecommunications or data network failures operator error

losses and corruption of data and similar events

computer viruses penetration by individuals seeking to disrupt operations or misappropriate information and other

physical or electronic breaches of security and

the failure of third-party systems or services that we rely upon to maintain our own operations

We do not have backup systems for certain critical aspects of our operations For example if we were unable to connect

to certain third-party systems such as GDSs due to failure of our systems our ability to process bookings could be

significantly or completely impaired Many other systems are not fully redundant and our disaster recovery planning may not

be sufficient In addition we may have inadequate insurance coverage or insurance limits to compensate for losses from

major interruption and remediation may be costly and have material adverse effect on our operating results and financial

condition Any extended interruption in our technologies or systems could significantly curtail our ability to conduct our

businesses and generate revenue

We are involved in various legalproceedings and may experience unfavorable outcomes which could harm us

We are involved in various legal proceedings including but not limited to actions relating to intellectual property in

particular patent infringement claims against us tax matters employment law and other negligence breach of contract and

fraud claims that involve claims for substantial amounts of money or for other relief or that might necessitate changes to our
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business or operations The defense of these actions may be both time consuming and expensive If any of these legal

proceedings were to result in an unfavorable outcome it could have material adverse effect on our business financial position

and results of operations In addition historically our insurers have reimbursed us for significant portion of costs we incurred

to defend cases related to use or occupancy tax of hotel accommodations that some states and localities impose hotel

occupancy tax We will not receive any additional insurance reimbursements in future periods as our insurance coverage has

now been exhausted

We may not be effecti vely protecting our intellectual property which would allow competitors to duplicate our products and

services This could make it more difficult for us to compete with them

Our success and ability to compete depend in part upon our technology and other intellectual property including our

brands Among our significant assets are our software and other proprietary information and intellectual property rights We

rely on combination of copyright trademark and patent laws trade secrets confidentiality procedures and contractual

provisions to protect these assets However we have limited number of patents and our software and related documentation

are protected principally under trade secret and copyright laws which afford only limited protection and the laws of some

jurisdictions provide less protection for our proprietary rights than the laws of the United States We have granted Travelport an

exclusive license to our supplier link technology including our patents related to that technology Under the exclusive license

Travelport has the first right to enforce those patents and so we will only be able to bring actions to enforce those patents if

Travelport declines to do so Unauthorized use and misuse of our intellectual property could have material adverse effect on

our business financial condition and results of operations and the legal remedies available to us may not adequately

compensate us for the damages caused by unauthorized use

Further intellectual property challenges have been increasingly brought against members of the travel industry These

legal actions have in the past and might in the future result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management

attention In addition we may need to take legal action in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights to protect our

trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others and these enforcement actions could

result in the invalidation or other impairment of intellectual property rights we assert

Our business and financial performance could be negatively impacted by adverse tax events

New sales use occupancy or other tax laws statutes rules regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time Such

enactments could adversely affect our domestic and international business operations and our business and financial

performance Further existing tax laws statutes rules regulations or ordinances could be interpreted changed modified or

applied adversely to us These events could require us to pay additional tax amounts on prospective or retroactive basis as

well as require us to pay fees penalties andlor interest for past amounts deemed to be due In addition our revenue may decline

because we may have to charge more for our products and services

We are subject to U.S federal income tax examination for the 2010 tax year While we believe that our tax provisions

are appropriate there is no assurance that the result of this or any future tax examinations would not result in additional

amounts being due to taxing authorities

New changed modified or newly interpreted or applied tax laws could also increase our compliance operating and

other costs as well as the costs of our products or services Further these events could decrease the capital we have available to

operate our business Any or all of these events could adversely impact our business and financial performance

We and other providers of travel in the online travel industry are currently subject to various lawsuits related to hotel

occupancy tax in numerous jurisdictions in the United States and other jurisdictions may be considering similar lawsuits An

adverse ruling in the existing hotel occupancy tax cases could require us to pay tax retroactively and prospectively and possibly

penalties interest and/or fees We have also been contacted by several municipalities or other taxing bodies concerning our

possible obligation with respect to local hotel occupancy or related taxes and certain municipalities have begun audit

proceedings and some have issued assessments against us If we are found to be subject to the hotel occupancy tax ordinance

by taxing authority and we appeal the decision in court certain jurisdictions may attempt to require us to provide financial

security or pay the assessment to the municipality in order to challenge the tax assessment in court The proliferation of new

hotel occupancy tax cases or audit proceedings could result in substantial additional defense costs These events could also

adversely impact our business and financial performance See Item Legal Proceedings
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Our businesses are highly regulated and any failure to comply with applicable regulations or any changes in those

regulations could adversely affect us

We operate in highly regulated industry both in the United States and internationally Our business financial condition

and results of operations could be adversely affected by unfavorable changes in or the enactment of new laws rules and

regulations applicable to us which could decrease demand for our products and services increase costs or subject us to

additional liabilities Moreover regulatory authorities have relatively broad discretion to grant renew and revoke licenses and

approvals and to implement regulations Accordingly these regulatory authorities could prevent or temporarily suspend us from

carrying on some or all of our activities or otherwise penalize us if our practices were found not to comply with the then current

regulatory or licensing requirements or any interpretation of such requirements by the regulatory authority Our failure to

comply with any of these requirements or interpretations could have material adverse effect on our operations In addition the

various regulatory regimes to which we are subject may conflict so that compliance with the regulatory requirements in one

jurisdiction may create regulatory issues in another

Our business is subject to laws and regulations relating to our revenue generating and marketing activities including

those prohibiting unfair and deceptive advertising or practices Our travel services are subject to regulation and laws governing

the offer of travel products and services including laws requiring us to register as seller of travel in various jurisdictions

and to comply with certain disclosure requirements As an OTC that offers customers the ability to book air travel in the United

States we are also subject to regulation by the Department of Transportation which has authority to enforce economic

regulations and may assess civil penalties or challenge our operating authority

Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations may subject us to fines penalties and potential criminal violations

Any changes to these laws or regulations or any new laws or regulations may make it more difficult for us to operate our

businesses and may have material adverse effect on our operations

We are exposed to risks associated with online commerce security and credit card fraudL

The secure transmission of confidential information over the Internet is essential in maintaining customer and supplier

confidence in our services Substantial or ongoing security breaches whether instigated internally or externally on our system

or other Internet-based systems could significantly harm our business We currently require customers to guarantee their

transactions with their credit cards online We rely on licensed encryption and authentication technology to effect secure

transmission of confidential customer information including credit card numbers It is possible that advances in computer

capabilities new discoveries or other developments could result in compromise or breach of the technology that we use to

protect customer transaction data

We incur substantial expense to protect against and remedy security breaches and their consequences However our

security measures may not prevent security breaches We may be unsuccessful in implementing our remediation plan to address

these potential exposures party whether internal external an affiliate or unrelated third party that is able to circumvent our

security systems could steal proprietary information or cause significant interruptions in our operations Security breaches

could damage our reputation and
expose us to risk of loss or litigation and possible liability Security breaches could also

cause customers and potential customers to lose confidence in our security which would have negative effect on the demand

for our products and services

Moreover public perception concerning security and privacy on the Internet could adversely affect customers

willingness to use our websites publicized breach of security even if it only affects other companies conducting business

over the Internet could inhibit the growth of the Internet and therefore our services as means of conducting commercial

transactions

We may be held liable for accepting fraudulent credit cards as payment for transactions where we are the merchant of

record and have established an allowance for such fraudulent purchases If we are unable to control the amount of fraudulent

chargebacks for which we are liable our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected

Our processing storage use and disclosure ofpersonal data could give rise to liabilities as result of governmental

regulation conflicting legal requirements differing views ofpersonalprivacy rights or security breaches

In the processing of customer transactions we receive and store large volume of personally identifiable information

This information is increasingly subject to legislation and regulations in numerous jurisdictions around the world This

legislation and regulation is generally intended to protect the privacy and security of personal information including credit card

information that is collected processed and transmitted in or from the governing jurisdiction We could be adversely affected if
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domestic or international legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in our business practices or if governing

jurisdictions interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect our business

Travel companies have also been subjected to investigations lawsuits and adverse publicity due to allegedly improper

disclosure of passenger information As privacy and data protection have become more sensitive issues we may also become

exposed to potential liabilities as result of differing views on the privacy of travel data These and other privacy concerns

including security breaches could adversely impact our business financial condition and results of operations

Our ability to attracA train and retain executives and other qualified employees is critical to our results of operations and

future growth

We depend substantially on the continued services and performance of our key executives senior management and

skilled personnel particularly our professionals with experience in our industry and our information technology and systems

Any of these individuals may choose to terminate their employment with us at any time The specialized skills we require can

be difficult and time-consuming to acquire and as result these skills are often in short supply significant period of time

and expense may be required to hire and train replacement personnel when skilled personnel depart the Company Our inability

to hire train and retain sufficient number of qualified employees could materially hinder our business by for example

delaying our ability to bring new products and services to market or impairing the success of our operations or prospects for

future growth

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in leased office space in Chicago Illinois We also lease office space for our

ebookers brand portfolio in various countries including the United Kingdom Finland France Germany Ireland Sweden and

Switzerland In addition we lease office space for our HotelClub brand portfolio primarily in Sydney Australia We believe

that our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current requirements and that additional space will be available as needed to

accommodate any further expansion of our business

Item Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various claims legal proceedings and governmental inquiries related to contract disputes business

practices antitrust intellectual property and other commercial employment and tax matters We will not receive any additional

insurance reimbursements in defending hotel occupancy tax proceedings in future periods as our related insurance coverage has

now been exhausted The following list identifies all litigation matters for which we believe that an adverse outcome could be

material to our financial position or results of operations as well as other matters that may be of particular interest to our

stockholders

Litigation Relating to Hotel Occupancy Taxes

Orbitz Worldwide Inc and certain of its current and former subsidiaries and affiliates including Orbitz Inc Orbitz

LLC Trip Network Inc d/bla Cheaptickets.com Travelport Inc f/Ida Cendant Travel Distribution Services Group Inc
and Intemetwork Publishing Corp d/b/a Lodging.com are parties to various cases brought by consumers and municipalities

and other governmental entities in the U.S involving hotel occupancy taxes and our merchant hotel business model Some of

the cases are purported class actions and most of the cases were brought simultaneously against other online travel companies

including Expedia Travelocity and Priceline The cases allege among other things that we violated the jurisdictions hotel

occupancy tax ordinances as well as related sales and use taxes While not identical in their allegations the cases generally

assert similar claims including violations of local or state occupancy tax ordinances failure to pay sales or use taxes and in

some cases violations of consumer protection ordinances conversion unjust enrichment imposition of constructive trust

demand for legal or equitable accounting injunctive relief declaratory judgment and civil conspiracy The plaintiffs seek

relief in variety of forms including declaratory judgment full accounting of monies owed imposition of constructive trust

compensatory and punitive damages disgorgement restitution interest penalties and costs attorneys fees and where class

action has been claimed an order certifying the action as class action Adverse rulings in these cases could require us to pay
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tax retroactively and prospectively and possibly pay interest penalties and fmes The proliferation of additional cases could

result in substantial additional defense costs The following table reflects the hotel tax cases in which we are currently

defendant

City or County Filing Litigation

City of Chicago Illinois

City of Rome Georgia

City of Atlanta Georgia

City of San Antonio Texas

Wake County North Carolina

Dare County North Carolina

Buncombe County North Carolina

City of Gallup New Mexico

Mecklenburg County North

Carolina

Jefferson County Arkansas

Leon County Florida state tax

Leon County Florida local tax

County of Lawrence Pennsylvania

Baltimore County Maryland

Hamilton County Ohio

Montana Department of Revenue

Montgomery County Maryland

McAllister et al Consumer Action

Washington D.C

Volusia County Florida

Breckenridge Colorado

Nassau County New York

State of Mississippi

County of Kalamazoo Michigan

City of Fargo North Dakota

Date Litigation Instituted

November 2005

November 18 2005

March 29 2006

May 2006

November 2006

January 26 2007

February 2007

July 2007

January 10 2008

September 25 2009

November 2009

December 14 2009

January 14 2010

May 2010

August 23 2010

November 2010

December 21 2010

February 22 2011

April 222011

May 11 2011

July 25 2011

September 26 2011

January 2012

August 28 2012

February 27 2013

Court Where Litigation is Pending

Circuit Court of Cook County Illinois

United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

Superior Court Fulton County Georgia

United States District Court for the Western District of

Texas

Court of Appeals of North Carolina

Court of Appeals for North Carolina

Case was coordinated with the Wake County case above
on April 2007

Court of Appeals for North Carolina

Case was coordinated with the Wake County case above
onApril 42007

United States District Court for the District of New Mexico

Court of Appeals for North Carolina

Case was coordinated with the Wake County case above
on February 19 2008

Circuit Court of Jefferson County Arkansas

Florida First District Court of Appeals

Florida First District Court of Appeals

Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania

United States District Court for the District of Maryland

United States District Court for the Northern District of

Ohio

Montana First Judicial District Louis and Clark County

United States District Court for the District of Maryland

Circuit Court of Saline County Arkansas

Superior Court for the District of Columbia

Circuit Court for the Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for

Volusia County Florida

District Court for Summit County Colorado

Supreme Court of New York Nassau County

Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds

County Mississippi

Ninth Judicial Circuit for the County of Kalamazoo

District Court for the County of Cass North Dakota

Indicates purported class action filed on behalf of named City or County and other unnamed cities counties

governments or other taxing authorities with similar tax ordinances

Indicates court certified class action on behalf of named City or County and other unnamed cities counties

governments or other taxing authorities with similar tax ordinances

Procedurally the cases listed above are at various stages In seven of these cases we have obtained summary judgment

and the municipalities are in the process of appealing those decisions Rome Georgia Wake County North Carolina Dare

County North Carolina Buncombe County North Carolina Mecklenberg County North Carolina Leon County Florida state

tax and Leon County Florida local tax We have motions for summary judgment pending in an additional four of these cases

Chicago Illinois City of Atlanta Georgia City of Gallup New Mexico and Hamilton County Ohio In the San Antonio

case in November 2011 the online travel companies filed motion in which they requested that the court amend its findings of

fact and conclusions of law to provide that online travel companiest services are not subject to local hotel occupancy tax as

held by the Texas Court of Appeals in City of Houston Hotels.com The trial court recently denied that motion In the

Washington D.C case the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the District on the issue of liability and the court is

now in the process of determining damages The remaining cases on the list are pending at the trial court level

25



The following legal proceedings relating to hotel occupancy taxes we previously reported were concluded since

October 2012

Baltimore City Maryland On October 2012 the parties executed settlement agreement On October 16 2012 the

parties filed stipulation of dismissal with prejudice ending the case

Houston Texas On October 26 2012 the Texas Supreme Court denied the Citys Petition for Review

Santa Monica California On November 2012 the Court of Appeal of the State of California affirmed the judgment

of the Superior Court of Los Angeles County California which found the OTCs not subject to Santa Monicas ordinance On

January 23 2013 the California Supreme Court denied review thereby ending the case

Kent County Michigan On December 2012 the Circuit Court for the Count of Kent Michigan granted the Countys

motion to dismiss the complaint with prejudice

Branson Missouri On January 23 2013 the Missouri Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of Bransons complaint

On February 19 2013 the Court of Appeals denied Bransons petition for rehearing

Audit Related Proceedings Related To Hotel Occupancy and Related Taxes

We have also been contacted by several municipalities or other taxing bodies concerning our possible obligations with

respect to state or local hotel occupancy or related taxes The following taxing authorities have issued assessments that are

subject to further review by the taxing authorities the Colorado Department of Revenue the City of Aurora Colorado the

Maryland Comptroller the Texas Comptroller the West Virginia Department of Revenue Osceola Florida and Lake County

Indiana We dispute that any hotel occupancy or related tax is owed under these ordinances and are challenging the assessments

made against us These assessments range from approximately $20000 to approximately $58 million and total approximately

$80 million Some of these assessments including $58 million assessment from the Hawaii Department of Taxation are not

based on historical transaction data On several occasions where we have received an assessment we have been required to

provide financial security or pay the assessment to the municipality in order to seek judicial review

Certain assessments made in these audit proceedings are administratively final and subject to judicial review The

following is description of the lawsuits brought by the Company challenging such final assessments

Orbitz LLC Broward County Florida No 2009 CA 000126 Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit Leon

County Florida On May 20 2008 Broward County Florida issued an estimated assessment of approximately $0.4 million

against Orbitz LLC and $0.08 million against Internetwork Publishing Corp On November 13 2008 the County finalized the

assessments On January 12 2009 Orbitz LLC and Internetwork Publishing Corp filed complaint in the Circuit Court

Second Judicial Circuit Leon County Florida against Broward County and the Florida Department of Revenue asserting that

they are not subject to the tourist development tax On February 2009 the County filed its Answer and Counterclaim On

March 31 2009 the County issued additional assessments of approximately $0.05 million against Orbitz LLC and

approximately $0.03 million against Intemetwork Publishing Corp On February 28 2011 the County issued additional

assessments of approximately $0.2 million against Orbitz LLC and approximately $0.04 million against Internetwork

Publishing Corp On February 24 2010 the Circuit Court granted in part and denied in the OTCs motion to dismiss the

Countys Counterclaim dismissing Count II unjust enrichment Count III conversion and Count IV permanent injunction

On July 13 2012 the Circuit Court Second Judicial Circuit for Leon County Florida granted partial summary judgment in

favor of the OTCs on their affirmative claims and all of Broward Countys Counterclaims On November 12 2012 Broward

County filed motion for reconsideration which was denied on January 11 2013 On February 2013 Broward County filed

notice of appeal

Orbitz LLC Indiana Department of Revenue No 49T10-0903-TA-00010 Indiana Tax Court On May 2008 the

Indiana Department of Revenue issued estimated assessments of approximately $0.2 million against Orbitz LLC On

November 24 2008 the Department of Revenue confirmed the estimated assessments as its final administrative assessment

On March 2009 Orbitz LLC filed petition with the Indian Tax Court seeking to set aside the Department of Revenues

final determination

Orbitz LLC Miami-Dade Florida No 2009 CA 4977 Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit in and for Leon

County Florida On December 21 2009 the online travel companies filed complaint in the Circuit Court Second Judicial

Circuit Leon County Florida against Miami-Dade County and the Florida Department of Revenue asserting that they are not

subject to the tourist development tax and the convention development tax On June 2010 the Circuit Court granted the
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parties motion to stay the action pending final determination of the Monroe County Florida matter On February 11 2011 the

Circuit Court granted the parties joint motion to lift the stay and entered the parties joint stipulation for partial dismissal of

claims in accordance with the class action settlement in the Monroe County Florida matter

Orbitz LLC Osceola Florida Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit Leon County Florida On August 27

2010 Osceola County Florida issued estimated assessments against various Orbitz entities On October 27 2010 the County

denied the Companys appeal and finalized assessments of approximately $1.0 against Orbitz Inc and Orbitz LLC and

approximately $0.2 million against Trip Network Inc and Internetwork Publishing Corp On January 24 2011 the online

travel companies filed complaint in the Circuit Court Second Judicial Circuit Leon County Florida against Osceola County

and the Florida Department of Revenue asserting that they are not subject to the tourist development tax

Orbitz LLC Hawaii Department of Taxation Hawaii Tax Appeal Court On December 30 2010 the State of Hawaii

Department of Taxation issued series of proposed assessments for the transient accommodations tax and general excise tax

totaling approximately $10.2 million against various Orbitz entities On January 31 2011 the Department of Revenue issued

its Final Notices of Assessments for those same amounts On March 2011 the online travel companies filed their Notice of

Appeal to the Tax Appeal Court On May 2012 the Hawaii Department of Taxation issued additional proposed assessments

for the period of January 2000 to December 31 2011 totaling approximately $48.6 million against the Orbitz entities

bringing the total amount of assessments to approximately $58.8 million On October 22 2012 the Tax Appeal Court orally

denied the Department of Taxations motion for partial summary judgment and granted the online travel companies motion for

partial summary judgment on the transient accommodations tax On January 11 2013 the Tax Court of Appeal orally granted

in part the Department of Taxations motion for summary judgment and denied the online travel companies motion as it relates

to application of the general excise tax On February 2013 the online travel companies filed motion for reconsideration

Expedia Inc City and County ofDenve Colorado District Court Denver Colorado On February 2012 the

Citys appointed hearing officer issued his fmal administrative decision finding the online travel companies are subject to

Denvers Lodgers Tax and approved an assessment against Orbitz in the amount of $0.6 million On February 13 2012 the

online travel companies filed their notice of intent to appeal the hearing officers final administrative decision On March 30

2012 the City filed motion to dismiss the first claim for relief of the online travel companies complaint On July 26 2012
the District Court denied the Citys motion to dismiss On October 2012 the online travel companies filed their brief

supporting their claim for relief

In Re Transient Occupancy Tax Cases Coordination Proceeding No 4472 Superior Court of the State of California for

the County of Los Angeles

City ofAnaheim

On February 2010 the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles California granted defendants writ of

mandate fmding the Citys ordinance does not impose transient occupancy tax based on the retail price of hotel rooms

rented by or through the defendants and setting aside the Hearing Officers decision to the contrary On August 30 2010

the Court granted the online travel companies Consolidated Demurrer to the City of Anaheims First Amended Cross-

Complaint On December 16 2010 the Court issued peremptory writ of mandamus remanding the proceedings to the

Citys hearing officer directing him to withdraw his February 2009 decision ruling that the online travel companies are

operators of hotels and thus liable for transient occupancy tax on the amount each received as payment for its online

travel related services The Court also dismissed with prejudice the Citys causes of action for preliminary and permanent

injunction conversion violation of California Civil Code 2223 violation of California Civil Code 2224 imposition

of constructive trust breach of fiduciary duty fraudulent concealment money had and received and unjust

enrichment On January 24 2011 the City of Anaheim filed its notice of appeal On November 2012 the Court of

Appeal of the State of California affirmed the judgment of the Superior Court of the County of Los Angeles on behalf of

the online travel companies On January 23 2013 the California Supreme Court denied review thereby ending the case

City of San Francisco

On March 2010 the City of San Francisco issued final assessment of approximately $3.2 million for the

period of January 2000 to September 30 2008 including penalties and interest through March 31 2008 against

various Orbitz entities On March 31 2010 we paid the final assessment pursuant to the Citys pay to play

requirement On April 2010 we filed refund request with the City On May 14 2010 the online travel companies

filed Complaint for Tax Refund and Declaratory Relief against the City and County of San Francisco seeking tax

refund and declaratory relief On December 18 2012 the City of San Francisco issued supplemental fmal assessments of

approximately $1.4 million against Orbitz LLC Trip Network Inc and Internetwork Publishing Corp On January

27



2013 these entities paid this assessment pursuant to the Citys pay to play requirement On February 2013 the

Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles granted the online travel companies motion for summary judgment

City of San Diego

On February 2006 the City of San Diego California filed an action in Court for the County of San Diego

California against number of current and former Internet travel companies including Orbitz Inc Orbitz LLC Trip

Network Inc and Internetwork Publishing Corp The complaint alleges among other things that the defendants violated

the jurisdictions hotel occupancy tax ordinance with respect to the charges and remittance of amounts to cover taxes

under the ordinance On July 26 2007 the court stayed the case pending plaintiffs exhaustion of administrative

remedies On March 19 2009 the City issued an Amended Audit Deficiency Invoice of approximately $1.9 million

for taxes interest and penalties for transient occupancy taxes On May 28 2010 hearing officer appointed by the City

approved assessments of approximately $1.4 million against the Company On September 2011 the Superior Court

for the State of California for Los Angeles County issued peremptory writ of mandamus remanding the proceedings to

the Citys hearing officer directing him to withdraw his decision ruling that the online travel companies are not

operators of hotels and thus not liable for transient occupancy tax on the amount each received as payment for its

online travel related services On July 10 2012 the Court entered judgment on the online travel companies consolidated

writ of mandate and an order for consent judgment in favor of the online travel companies on the Citys Third Amended

Complaint On August 21 2012 the City filed notice of appeal

Los Angeles Caljfornia

On December 30 2004 the City of Los Angeles California filed an action in the Superior Court Los Angeles

County against number of defendants including Orbitz Inc Orbitz LLC Trip Network Inc and Internetwork

Publishing Corp The complaint alleges among other things that defendants violated the jurisdictions hotel occupancy

tax ordinance with respect to the charges and remittance of amounts to cover taxes under the ordinance On July 27

2007 the court stayed the case pending the Citys exhaustion of administrative remedies On September 2009 the City

issued estimated assessments against Orbitz LLC and Trip Network Inc On August 31 2011 the City issued an

estimated assessment of approximately $0.9 million against Internetwork Publishing Corp d/b/a Lodging.com On

September 21 2011 the Citys board of review confirmed assessments of approximately $1.8 million against Orbitz

LLC and approximately $0.3 million against Trip Network Inc On November 19 2011 the online travel companies

filed verified petition for writ of mandate seeking to vacate the board of reviews final determination On November

13 2012 the Citys board of review issued its notice of assessment against Internetwork Publishing Corp dlb/a

Lodging.com for approximately $0.2 million On December 10 2012 Intemetwork Publishing Corp d/b/a

Lodging.com filed verified petition for the writ of mandate On January 17 2013 the online travel companies and the

County filed cross motions for judgment on the writ of mandate

Other Actions Filed by the Company

New York City Litigation On December 22 2009 we and other online travel companies brought an action in the

Supreme Court of the State of New York New York County against the city of New York Department of Finance and the City

of New York Expedia Inc City of New York Department of Finance No 65076 1/2009 Supreme Court New York County

New York The complaint asserts two claims for declaratory judgment challenging the constitutionality and legality of the law

relating to New York City hotel room occupancy taxes passed on June 29 2009 On October 22 2010 the court granted

defendants motion to dismiss On November 29 2011 the Supreme Court Appellate Division First Department reversed the

lower courts decision finding that the Citys tax law exceeded the grant of authority provided by the New York State Enabling

Act that was in place at the time New York City passed its law On April 26 2012 the Appellate Division of the Supreme Court

for the First Judicial Department in the County of New York denied the New York Department of Finance and the City of New

Yorks motion for reargument or in the alternative for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals the November 29 2011 order

The City appealed this decision and the appeal is currently pending in the New York Court of Appeals the highest court in New
York

North Carolina Litigation On February 24 2011 we and other online travel companies brought an action in the

General Court of Justice Superior Court Division Wake County North Carolina against David Hoyle Secretary of Revenue of

the State of North Carolina the North Carolina Department of Revenue and Durham County challenging the state of North

Carolinas amended sales tax statute that seeks to tax the revenue generated from the services provided by online travel

companies Orbitz LLC Hoyle No 11 CV 001857 General Court of Justice Superior Court Division Wake County North

Carolina The complaint assets claims for violation of the Internet Tax Freedom Act unconstitutional impairment of contracts
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violation of the Commerce Clause violation of state uniformity clause and federal equal protection and void for vagueness On

April 18 2011 defendants filed motion to dismiss

Portlana Oregon On February 17 2012 we and other online travel companies brought an action in the Circuit Court

of the State of Oregon County of Multnomah against the City of Portland Oregon and Multnomah County Expedia Inc et al

City ofPortlanc1 eta No 1202-02223 Cir Ct Oregon Multnomah County. The complaint asserts four claims for

declaratory judgment challenging the constitutionality and legality of the law relating to the Portland City and Multnomah

Countys transient lodging taxes and one claim for injunctive relief enjoining enforcement of the taxes against the online travel

companies On March 22 2012 the court entered temporary restraining order against the City of Portland Oregon and

Multnomah County enjoining the enforcement of previously issued assessments On June 15 2012 the Court denied the City

of Portland Oregon and Multnomah Countys motion to dismiss for failure to exhaust administrative remedies fmding the

court had jurisdiction over the matter On November 30 2012 the Court granted the online travel companies motion to dismiss

the City of Portland Oregon and Multnomah Countys common law counterclaims finding that the tax ordinances provided the

exclusive remedy for the City of Portland Oregon and Multnomah Countys alleged damage

Consumer Class Actions

On-Line Travel Company OTC Hotel Booking Antitrust Litigation On August 20 2012 putative consumer class

action was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against certain hotel chains and the

major online travel companies including Orbitz The complaint alleges that the hotel chains and several major online travel

companies including Orbitz have violated the antitrust and consumer protection laws by entering into agreements in which

online travel companies agree not to facilitate the reservation of hotel rooms at prices that are less than what the hotel chain

offers on its own website Following the filing of the initial complaint on August 20 2012 several dozen additional putative

consumer class action complaints have been filed in federal courts across the country On December 11 2012 the Judicial

Panel on Multidistrict Litigation issued an order consolidating these cases in the United States District Court for the Northern

District of Texas

Debra Miller 1-800-Flowers.com et On September 2012 Orbitz was named as defendant in putative

consumer class action pending in the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut The complaint alleges the

defendants including Orbitz violated certain federal and state laws relating to their marketing practices On December 21

2012 Orbitz filed motion to dismiss

Litigation related to Intellectual Property

Global Sessions L.P Travelocily.com L.P et In December 2010 Global Sessions filed suit for patent

infringement in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas against 19 defendants including Orbitz

Worldwide LLC Orbitz Worldwide Inc Orbitz Inc Orbitz LLC and Trip Network Inc the Orbitz Defendants The

lawsuit alleges that the defendants infringed U.S Patent Nos 6480894 6076108 6085220 and 6360249 In January

2013 the parties entered into settlement agreement On January 16 2013 the Court issued an Order dismissing with

prejudice all claims and counterclaims between Plaintiffs and the Orbitz Defendants

Pinpoint Inc Groupon eta On August 16 2011 Pinpoint Inc filed patent infringement suit against group of

defendants including Orbitz LLC in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois Pinpoint alleges that

Orbitz LLC and the other defendants are infringing U.S Patent Nos 5754938 and 7853600 The case was dismissed

without prejudice on December 12 2012 and refiled as separate case against Orbitz LLC on that same date On June 13

2012 the Court stayed proceedings in the case pending its ruling on related claim construction issues in separate patent

infringement suit brought by Pinpoint against Hotwire

TQP Development LLC Caterpillar Inc et al On September 2011 TQP Development LLC filed patent

infringement suit against Orbitz LLC and several other defendants in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of

Texas The plaintiff alleges that Orbitz LLC and the other defendants are infringing U.S Patent No 5412730

LVL Patent Group LLC Amazon com Inc eta On September 15 2011 LVL Patent Group LLC LVL filed

patent infringement suit in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware against group of defendants including

Orbitz Worldwide Inc The plaintiff alleges that Orbitz Worldwide Inc and the other defendants are infringing U.S Patent No
8019060 On August 16 2012 the Court granted Defendants motion for summary judgment that the asserted patent is invalid

LVL now proceeding as Cyberfone Systems LLC has appealed the decision
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Unified Messaging Solutions LLC Orbitz LLC On March 2012 Unified Messaging Solutions LLC UMS filed

suit for patent infringement against Orbitz LLC in the United States District Court for Northern District of Illinois alleging

infringement of U.S Patent Nos 6857074 7836141 7895306 7895313 and 7934148 On April 23 2012 UMS filed an

Amended Complaint in which it alleged infringement of only one of the five originally asserted patents U.S Patent No

7934148

Ameranth Inc Orbitz LLC On June 29 2012 Ameranth Inc filed lawsuit against Orbitz LLC in the United

States District Court for the Southern District of California alleging infringement of U.S Patent Nos 6384850 6871325 and

8146077

Parallel Iron LLC Orbitz LLC On July 12 2012 Parallel Iron LLC filed lawsuit against Orbitz LLC in the

United States District Court for the District of Delaware alleging infringement of United States Patent Nos 7197662

7958388 and 7543177

Met asearch Systems LLC Orbitz Worldwide Inc On September 21 2012 Metasearch Systems LLC filed suit for

patent infringement against Orbitz Worldwide Inc in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware alleging that

Orbitz infringes U.S Patent Nos 8239451 8171079 8.073904 7490091 7421468 and 7277918 On December 19

2012 Metasearch filed an Amended Complaint adding allegations of infringement for U.S Patent No 8326924

Other Litigation

Trilegiant Corporation Orbitz LLC and Trip Network Inc On July 2011 Trilegiant Corporation filed an action

for breach of contract and declaratory judgment in the Supreme Court of New York against Orbitz LLC and Trip Network Inc

Trilegiant alleges that the defendants are obligated to make series of termination payments arising out of promotion

agreement that defendants terminated at the end of 2007 On December 2012 Trilegiant moved to dismiss certain of Orbitzs

affirmative defenses On January 14 2013 Orbitz moved for summary judgment and filed an opposition to Trilegiants motion

to dismiss

American Airlines Inc Travelport Limited et al On April 12 2011 American Airlines Inc filed suit against

Travelport Limited Travelport LP and Orbitz Worldwide LLC in the United States District Court for the Northern District of

Texas American Airlines alleged that Orbitz through its Travelport GDS Service Agreement violated the Sherman Antitrust

Act On June 2011 American Airlines filed First Amended Complaint adding Sabre Inc and affiliated entities to its

lawsuit On November 22 2011 the court granted Orbitzs motion to dismiss and dismissed all claims against Orbitz On

December 2011 American Airlines filed under seal second Amended Complaint against Travelport Sabre and Orbitz

Against Orbitz the Second Amended Complaint realleged one claim that was previously dismissed and added one new claim

alleging that Orbitz violated the Sherman Act through communications with other travel agents relating to Americans

termination of Orbitzs ticketing authority in December 2010 On February 28 2012 the Court clarified that the original claim

that American Airlines realleged in the Second Amended Complaint was dismissed with prejudice On December 22 2011

Orbitz moved to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint On August 2012 the Court denied Orbitzs motion to dismiss On

September 2012 the Court granted the motion of American Airlines Travelport and Orbitz to stay all deadlines in the case

until December 21 2012 On January 2013 the Court granted the parties motion to extend the stay until January 15 2013

On January 30 2013 Orbitz filed motion to enforce settlement agreement that it believes it reached with American Airlines

On February 12 2013 the court denied Orbitzs motion

We intend to defend vigorously against the claims described above Litigation is inherently unpredictable and although

we believe we have valid defenses in these matters unfavorable resolutions could occur We cannot estimate our range of loss

except to the extent taxing authorities have issued assessments against us Although we believe it is unlikely that an adverse

outcome will result from these proceedings an adverse outcome could be material to us with respect to earnings or cash flows

in any given reporting period

Item Mine Safety Disclosure

Not Applicable
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Market Information

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol OWW The following table sets forth

the high and low sales prices for our common stock for each of the periods presented

2012 2011

High Low High Low

Fourth Quarter 2.80 2.07 4.49 1.57

Third Quarter 4.75 2.33 3.70 2.04

Second Quarter 4.24 3.00 3.69 2.06

First Quarter 4.15 2.91 5.75 3.25

Holders

As of February 25 2013 there were approximately 41 holders of record of our common stock Several brokerage firms

banks and other institutions nominees are listed once on the stockholders of record listing Howevei in most cases the

nominees holdings represent blocks of our common stock held in brokerage accounts for number of individual stockholders

Accordingly the number of beneficial owners of our stock is higher than the number of registered stockholders of record

Dividends

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock during the years ended December 31 2012 and

2011 and we do not intend to in the foreseeable future Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of

our Board of Directors may require the consent of Travelport and will depend on several factors including our fmancial

condition results of operations capital requirements restrictions contained in existing and future financing instruments and

other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31 2012 with respect to shares of our common stock that may
be issued under our equity compensation plans

Number of Securities

Number of Securities Weighted-Average Remaining Available for

to be Issued Upon Exercise Price of Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Outstanding Equity Compensation Plans

Outstanding Options Options Warrants Excluding Securities

Plan Category Warrants and Rights and Rights Reflected in First Column

Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders

Stock options 2724253 4.98

Restricted stock units 4560536

Performance-based restricted stock units 2062250

Deferred stock units 1183637

Equity compensation plans not approved by

security holders

Total 10530676 8111408
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Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total shareholder return through December 31 2012 of an investment of $100 in cash on

December 31 2007 for our common stock and an investment of $100 in cash on December 31 2007 for the SP MidCap

400 Index ii the SP SmallCap 600 Index and iiithe Research Data Group RDG Internet Composite Index

The RDG Internet Composite Index is an index of stocks representing the Internet industry including Internet software

and services companies and e-commerce companies Historic stock performance is not necessarily indicative of future stock

price performance All values assume reinvestment of the full amount of all dividends and are calculated as of the last day of

each month

The SP Smalicap 600 Index was added to the performance graph as the market capitalization of the companies

included in the index are more similar to our market capitalization that those companies in the SP Midcap 400 Index We

intend to use the SP Smallcap 600 Index in the future and have included the SP Midcap 400 Index in this years graph for

comparison purposes

COMPARISON OF FIVE YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Among Orbitz Worldwide Inc the SP Midcap 400 Index the SP SmallCap 600 Index

and the RDG Internet Composite Index

rbi Woædwide Inc SP mUcap 60

sp dcap 400 DG 1rmet Copote
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Item Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data presented in the table below is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements

This data is not necessarily indicative of future results and should be read in conjunction with Item Managements

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and our consolidated fmancial statements and

notes thereto included in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Statements of Operations Data

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

in millions except share and per share data

Net revenue

Cost and expenses

Cost of revenue

Selling general and administrative

Marketing

Depreciation and amortization

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Impairment of property and equipment and

other assets

Total operating expenses

Operating income/loss

Other income/expense

Net interest expense

Other income

Total other expense

Loss before income taxes

Provisionlbenefit for income taxes

Net loss

Net loss per share

Weighted-average shares outstanding

Cash dividends declared
per common share

779 767 757 738 870

148 139 138 128 152

261 271 244 257 272

253 242 233 225 321

57 60 73 69 66

321 50 70 332 297

11

1041 762 769 1011 1108

262 12 273 238

37 41 44 57 63

37 40 44 55 63
299 35 56 328 301

302 37 58 337 299

2.86 0.36 0.58 4.01 3.58

105582736 104118983 101269274 84073593 83342333

December 31

During the first quarter of 2011 we changed the classification of expenses for commissions paid to private label partners

affiliate commissions from cost of revenue to marketing expense in our consolidated statements of operations

Affiliate commissions were reclassified from cost of revenue to marketing expense for the years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008 in the amount of $16 million $10 million and $11 million respectively

Net loss per share may not recalculate due to rounding

Defined as current assets less current liabilities

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

in millions

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 130 136 97 89 31

Working capital deficit 248 233 234 250 258
Total assets 834 1146 1217 1294 1590

Total long-term debt 415 440 472 598 608

Total shareholders equity 143 161 190 130 438
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

EXECUTiVE OVERVIEW

General

We are leading global online travel company OTC that uses innovative technology to enable leisure and business

travelers to research plan and book broad range
of travel products and services Our brand portfolio includes Orbitz

CheapTickets and the Away Network in the Americas ebookers in Europe and HotelCiub and RatesToGo collectively

referred to as HotelClub based in Australia which have operations globally We also own and operate Orbitz for Business

corporate travel company and Orbitz Worldwide Distribution group delivers private label travel solutions to broad range of

partners We provide customers with the ability to book wide array of travel products and services from suppliers worldwide

including air travel hotels vacation packages car rentals cruises travel insurance and destination services such as ground

transportation event tickets and tours

Industry Trends

Our position in the industry is affected by the industry-wide trends discussed below as well as number of factors

specific to our global operations and supplier relationships In addition the presence of high unemployment rates and related

pressure on consumer spending as well as perceived uncertainty about the state of the global economy cause uncertainty and

volatility in the travel market

The worldwide travel industry is large and dynamic industry that has been characterized by rapid and significant

change The online travel industry continues to benefit from increasing internet usage rates and the growing acceptance of

online booking According to PhoCusWright an independent travel tourism and hospitality research firmin 2012 the online

travel booking penetration rate in the United States was nearly 60% and was over 40% in Europe Asia Pacific lags behind

Europe with an online penetration rate ofjust under 25% We expect online penetration rates will continue to grow in the

future which represents significant growth opportunity for us and our competitors

The online travel industry is highly competitive and competition has intensified in recent years Airlines and hotels have

increasingly focused on distributing their products through their own websites and meta-search and travel research sites have

gained in popularity In fact some of our competitors have recently announced acquisitions or investments in meta-search

companies We have also seen search engines such as Google increase their interest in the online travel vertical

Intense competition in the travel industry has historically led OTCs and travel suppliers to aggressively spend on online

marketing Competition for search engine key words continues to be intense as certain OTCs and travel suppliers increase their

marketing spending in this area Competitive dynamics could cause the cost to acquire traffic to continue to increase

Over the past few years fundamentals in the global hotel industry have strengthened In general we have seen rising

hotel occupancy rates and higher average daily rates for hotel rooms In addition we have seen shift in the business model

under which some of our competitors make hotel rooms available to consumers Our hotel business operates predominantly

under the merchant model however some of our competitors have adopted retail model or model where the traveler can

choose to purchase hotel room under either retail or merchant model This could put pressure on historical business models

Demand in the air travel industry has strengthened over the past few years driven largely by increased corporate travel

demand In addition airlines continued to maintain discipline around capacity in 2012 Both of these factors resulted in higher

airfares Higher airfares generally put pressure on leisure travel demand which represents the majority of air bookings through

OTCs

Suppliers continue to look for ways to decrease their overall distribution costs which could significantly reduce the net

revenue OTCs earn from travel and other ancillary travel products We have encountered and expect to continue to encounter

pressure on supplier economics as certain supply agreements are renegotiated
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended Increase/ Years Ended Increase/

December 31 Decrease December 31 Decrease

2012 2011 2011 2010

in thousands in thousands

Net revenue 778796 766819 11977 766819 757487 9332

Cost and expenses

Cost of revenue 147840 139390 8450 6% 139390 138279 1111

Selling general and administrative 260253 270617 10364 4% 270617 244114 26503 11

Marketing 252993 241670 11323 241670 232757 8913 4%

Depreciation and amortization 57046 60540 3494 6% 60540 72891 12351 17%

Impairment of goodwill and intangible

assets 321172 49891 271281 49891 70151 20260 29%

Impairment of property and equipment

andotherassets 1417 1417 11099 11099 lOO%

Total operating expenses 1040721 762108 278613 37 762108 769291 7183 l%
Operatingincome/Ioss 261925 4711 266636 4711 11804 16515

Other income/expense

Net interest expense 36599 40488 3889 lO% 40488 44070 3582 8%
Other income/loss 41 551 592 551 18 533

Total other expense 36640 39937 3297 8% 39937 44052 4115 9%
Loss before income taxes 298565 35226 263339 35226 55856 20630 37%

Provision for income taxes 3173 2051 1122 55 2051 2381 330 14%

Net loss 301738 37277 $264461 37277 58237 20960 36%

Not meaningful

Overall Financial Results

In February 2012 we completed multi-year initiative to bring all of our consumer brands onto common global

technology platform with the successful migration of the air car and dynamic packaging paths of Orbitz.com With this

migration project behind us we have increased our focus on technology innovation and growth The completion of this

migration effort has created opportunities for us to enhance efficiency site performance and the consumer experience in 2012

and beyond

During the year ended December 31 2012 we reported net loss of $301.7 million compared with net loss of $37.3

million in 2011 We recorded $321.2 million charge for the impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in 2012 compared

with $49.9 million charge in 2011 Our overall results were impacted by certain external factors including challenging

economic environment in Europe stronger U.S dollar and declining domestic air travel in the OTC channel These negative

factors were partially offset by growth in our distribution channel particularly in the second half of the year

Domestically hotel and vacation package transaction volume grew in 2012 However air volume declined due primarily

to lower U.S OTC channel volume and changes we made with respect to certain revenue management strategies in September

2011

Internationally we continued to see growth in hotel and vacation package transaction volume at ebookers however

financial performance was affected by unfavorable foreign currency fluctuations and weak macroeconomic conditions in

Europe In addition HotelClub experienced improving hotel transaction performance in the second half of the year and

experienced year-over-year growth in the fourth quarter

Key Operating Metrics

The table below shows our gross bookings net revenue transaction growth and hotel room night growth for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 Gross bookings transactions and stayed hotel room nights not only impact our net

revenue trends but these metrics also provide insight to changes in overall travel demand both industry-wide and on our
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Gross bookings

Years Ended Increase/

December 31 Decrease

2012 2011

in thousands

Domestic

International

Total gross bookings

Air

Hotel

Vacation package

Advertising and media

Other

Total net revenue

Net revenue

Domestic

International

Total net revenue

8948277 9097885 $149608

2289201 2242633 46568

11237478 11340518 103040

7899289 8196984 297695

3338189 3143534 194655

11237478 11340518 103040

265167 3629

209589 16065

120688 9410

54599 3466

103441 116776 13335

778796 766819 11977

562091 547120 14971

216705 219699 2994

778796 766819 11977

9097885 9563755 $465870

2242633 1806422 436211

11340518 11370177 29659

8196984 8437063 240079

3143534 2933114 210420

11340518 11370177 29659

265167 274568 9401

209589 203821 5768

120688 115161 5527

54599 49353 5246

116776 114584 2192

766819 757487 9332

547120 579585 32465

219699 177902 41797

766819 757487 9332

Transaction and hotel room night growth/decline

Booked transactions 3%
Stayed hotel room nights

For the years ended December 31 20122011 and 2010 $112.8 million $122.8 million and $127.2 million of our total

net revenue respectively was from incentive payments earned for air car and hotel segments processed through GDSs

Gross Bookings

The decrease in domestic gross bookings for the year
ended December 31 2012 was driven primarily by lower air

transaction volume partially offset by higher air fares and higher vacation package and hotel volume The increase in

international gross bookings for the year ended December 31 2012 was due primarily to higher vacation package and hotel

volume

For the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the year ended December 31 2010 the decrease in domestic

gross bookings was due to lower air transaction volume partially offset by higher air fares International gross bookings

increased due to higher air and vacation package transaction volume partially offset by lower hotel volume at HotelClub

Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $12.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the year ended December

31 2011 Excluding unfavorable foreign exchange fluctuations revenue increased by $21.8 million in 2012 compared with

2011

Ai Net revenue from air bookings decreased $3.6 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the

year ended December 31 2011 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations net revenue from air bookings increased

$0.6 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the prior year

websites Air gross bookings are comprised of standalone air gross bookings while non-air gross bookings include gross

bookings from hotels car rentals vacation packages cruises destination services and travel insurance

Years Ended

December 31

Increase

Decrease

2011 2010

in thousands

Standalone air

Non-air

Total gross bookings

Net revenue

261538

225654

130098

58065

2%
2%

1%

4%
6%

l%

l%
8%

8%

6%

l%

2%

3%

1%
2%

5%
24%

3%
7%

3%
3%

5%

11%

2%

1%

6%
23

1%

8%
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Domestic air net revenue decreased $1.1 million for the
year

ended December 31 2012 as compared with the
year

ended

December 31 2011 The decrease was due primarily to lower transaction volume and the absence in 2012 of the incremental

incentive revenue earned per segment processed through Travelport GDSs from December 22 2010 through June 2011 The

lower domestic transaction volume for the year ended December 31 2012 was driven primarily by lower U.S OTC channel

volume and changes we made with respect to certain revenue management strategies The lower volume was partially offset by

higher net revenue per airline ticket primarily resulting from these revenue management strategies and the recognition of $2.6

million due to reduction in our unfavorable contract liability resulting from the negotiation of new agreement with one of

our airline suppliers see Note Unfavorable Contracts of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements International air

net revenue decreased by $2.5 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the year ended December 31
2011 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations international air net revenue increased $1.7 million The increase

in international air net revenue was due primarily to higher transaction volume

Net revenue from air bookings decreased $9.4 million or 3% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the

same period in 2010 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations net revenue from air bookings decreased $14.7

million Domestically air net revenue decreased $20.3 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the same

period in 2010 driven by $27.2 million decrease due to lower transaction volume In addition the termination of the Charter

Associate Agreement between American Airlines and us effective December 21 2010 resulted in the recognition of $5.6

million in revenue in the fourth quarter of 2010 see Note Unfavorable Contracts of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements These decreases were partially offset by $12.5 million increase due to higher average net revenue per airline

ticket The lower domestic transaction volume was primarily driven by decline in transactions for our domestic leisure brands

due to actions taken by certain airlines to limit the forward distribution of their fares on meta-search sites such as Kayak higher

air fares fare structure change implemented by major airline and to lesser extent due to American Airlines content not

being offered on Orbitz.com and Orbitz for Business websites from December 22 2010 through June 2011 We were able to

replace much of the American Airlines ticket volume through substitution for other airlines offered on our websites The higher

average net revenue per airline ticket was due to shift in supplier mix towards airlines from which we earn higher

commissions including those with variable commission structures and also reflects an increase in the incentive revenue earned

per segment processed through Travelport GDSs from December 22 2010 through June 2011 see Letter Agreement

section of Note 15 Related Party Transactions of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Internationally air net

revenue increased $10.9 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the same period in 2010 Excluding the

impact of foreign currency fluctuations international air net revenue increased $5.6 million This increase was primarily due to

higher transaction volume which was driven in part by marketing efforts at ebookers

Hotel Net revenue from hotel bookings increased $16.1 million or 8% for the year ended December 31 2012 compared

with the year ended December 31 2011 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations net revenue from hotel

bookings increased $17.5 million for the year ended December 31 2012 Domestic hotel net revenue increased $18.4 million as

compared with the prior year The increase was due primarily to higher volume and higher net revenue per room night

International hotel net revenue decreased $2.3 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the year ended

December 31 2011 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations international hotel net revenue decreased $0.9

million The decrease was due to lower stayed room nights at HoteiClub partially offset by growth in stayed room nights at

ebookers and higher net revenue per room night

Net revenue from hotel bookings increased $5.8 million or 3% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with

same period in 2010 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations net revenue from hotel bookings decreased $1.4

million Domestic hotel net revenue increased $1.7 million primarily due to higher ADRs partially offset by lower transaction

volume International hotel net revenue increased $4.1 million Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

international hotel net revenue decreased $3.1 million The decrease was due primarily to lower transaction volume for

HotelCiub and lower breakage at ebookers These decreases were partially offset by higher transaction volume for ebookers

which was driven by the benefits of the global platform including user-interface improvements and mobile capabilities as well

as return on its strategic marketing investments and by an increase in ADRs

Vacation package For the year ended December 31 2012 net revenue from vacation package bookings increased $9.4

million or 8% as compared with the year ended December 31 2011 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations net

revenue from vacation package bookings increased $11.4 million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the

year ended December 31 2011 Domestic vacation package net revenue increased $4.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2012 as compared with the year ended December 31 2011 driven primarily by higher transaction volume

partially offset by shift in package mix to lower margin packages International vacation package net revenue increased $5.1

million for the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the
year

ended December 31 2011 Excluding the impact of

foreign currency fluctuations international vacation package net revenue increased $7.1 million The increase was due to

higher net revenue per package and higher transaction volume
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Net revenue from vacation package bookings increased $5.5 million or 5% for the year ended December 31 2011

compared with the same period in 2010 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations net revenue from vacation

package bookings increased $3.6 million Domestic vacation package net revenue decreased by $11.5 million driven primarily

by lower transaction volume resulting in part from higher average air fares and higher ADRs International vacation package

net revenue increased $17.0 million Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations international vacation package net

revenue increased $15.1 million The increase was due to higher transaction volume for ebookers driven by new product

offerings and marketing efforts particularly related to beach destinations

Advertising and media Advertising and media net revenue increased $3.5 million or 6% for the year ended

December 31 2012 compared with the
year

ended December 31 2011 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

advertising and media net revenue increased $3.8 million The increase was driven by higher display advertising

Advertising and media net revenue increased $5.2 million or 11% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with

the same period in 2010 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations advertising and media net revenue increased

$4.9 million The increase was primarily driven by higher display advertising partially offset by decline in net revenue from

membership discount programs that we discontinued on our domestic leisure websites effective March 31 2010

Other Other net revenue is comprised primarily of net revenue from travel insurance car bookings cruise bookings

and destination services Other net revenue decreased $13.3 million or 11% for the year ended December 31 2012 compared

with the year ended December 31 2011 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations other net revenue decreased

$11.5 million The decrease was driven by lower insurance net revenue due primarily to new Department of Transportation

regulation that went into effect in January 2012 that no longer allows travel insurance options to be pre-selected which reduced

the attachment rate for insurance products decrease in destination services net revenue due to lower volume and lower

hosting net revenue due to the termination of an airline hosting agreement in July 2011 also contributed to the other net revenue

decrease

Other net revenue increased $2.2 million or 2% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the same period in

2010 Excludin.g the impact of foreign currency fluctuations other net revenue was flat year-over-year Higher car net revenue

and travel insurance net revenue was largely offset by lower hosting net revenue Car net revenue increased mainly due to

higher breakage revenue at ebookers while travel insurance revenue increased primarily due to higher air fares and attachment

rates and the shift to new travel insurance provider at ebookers which resulted in higher economics and an improved product

offering The increase in travel insurance revenue was partially offset by change in estimate related to the timing of our

recognition of this revenue in the first quarter of 2010 which resulted in 13 months of revenue recognized in 2010 compared

with 12 months in 2011 Prior to 2010 we had recorded travel insurance revenue one month in arrears upon receipt of

payment as we did not have sufficient reporting from our travel insurance supplier to conclude that the price was fixed or

determinable prior to that time In the first quarter of 2010 however our travel insurance supplier implemented timelier

reporting and as result we were able to recognize travel insurance revenue on an accrual basis rather than one month in

arrears Hosting net revenue decreased primarily due to the full year impact of the termination of one of our airline hosting

agreements in 2010 and the termination of our remaining airline hosting agreement effective July 30 2011

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue is comprised of costs to operate our customer service call centers credit card processing fees and

other costs which include customer refunds and charge-backs hosting costs and connectivity and other processing costs

Years Ended Increase Years Ended Increase

December 31 Decrease December 31 Decrease

2012 2011 2011 2010

Cost of revenue in thousands in thousands

Customerservicecosts 58316 53812 4504 8% 53812 56102 2290 4%
Credit card processing fees 47946 46519 1427 3% 46519 44163 2356 5%

Other 41578 39059 2519 6% 39059 38014 1045

Total cost of revenue 147840 139390 8450 6% 139390 138279 1111

Cost of revenue increased $8.5 million $10.2 million increase excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with the year ended December 31 2011 due primarily to $4.5 million
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increase in customer service costs largely driven by the growth in our private label distribution channel $1.4 million increase

in credit card processing fees due primarily to the volume growth at ebookers $0.8 million increase in connectivity and

processing costs $0.5 million increase in customer refunds and charge-backs and an increase in hotel occupancy taxes

Cost of revenue increased $1.1 million $2.0 million decrease excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations

for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the same period in 2010 The increase was primarily driven by $2.9

million increase in customer refunds and charge-backs and $2.4 million increase in credit card processing fees These

increases were partially offset by $2.3 million decrease in customer service costs $1.1 million decrease in ticketing costs

$0.9 million decrease in hosting costs and $0.7 million decrease in connectivity and processing costs

In 2011 customer refunds charge-backs and credit card processing fees increased from the prior year due primarily to

higher volume at ebookers In addition customer service costs decreased primarily due to higher customer service staffing

levels required as result of the travel disruptions caused by the volcano eruption in Iceland in April 2010 Ticketing and

connectivity and processing costs decreased primarily due to lower domestic transaction volume and the decrease in hosting

costs resulting from the termination of our airline hosting agreements in 2010 and 2011

Selling General andAdministrative

Our selling general and administrative
expense is comprised of wages and benefits contract labor costs network

communications systems maintenance and equipment costs and other costs which include professional fees foreign currency

transaction and hedging and other administrative costs

Years Ended Increase Years Ended Increase

December 31 Decrease December 31 Decrease

2012 2011 2011 2010

Selling general and in thousands in thousands

administrative

Wages andbenefits 142531 152887 10356 7% 152887 146754 6133 4%

Contract labor 26329 27002 673 2% 27002 20245 6757 33%

Network communications systems

maintenance and equipment 28619 25760 2859 11 25760 25051 709 3%

Other 62774 64968 2194 3% 64968 52064 12904 25%

Total selling general and
administrative 260253 270617 10364 4% 270617 244114 26503 11%

The amounts presented above for wages and benefits and contract labor are net of amounts capitalized related to

software development

Selling general and administrative expense decreased $10.4 million $8.2 million excluding the impact of foreign

currency fluctuations for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease

in expense was primarily driven by $10.4 million decrease in wages and benefits $1.4 million decrease in facilities

expense $1.3 million decrease in travel expense $0.7 million decrease in foreign currency losses and hedging costs and

$0.7 million decrease in contract labor costs partially offset by $2.0 million increase in network communications costs $1.0

million increase in professional fees and $0.9 million increase in systems maintenance and equipment costs Wages and

benefits and contract labor costs decreased due to the annualized impact of the centralization of our finance function in Europe

in 2011 cost savings achieved from the migration of HotelClub to the global platform and lower incentive compensation The

increase in professional fees was due primarily to higher legal costs primarily related to hotel occupancy tax and patent

infringement cases partially offset by $5.0 million insurance reimbursement received in 2012 for hotel occupancy tax

litigation cases compared with reimbursement of $2.5 million received in 2011

Selling general and administrative expense increased $26.5 million $17.9 million excluding the impact of foreign

currency fluctuations for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the same period in 2010 The increase was

primarily driven by $9.2 million increase in legal costs net of insurance reimbursements $6.8 million increase in contract

labor costs $6.1 million increase in wages and benefits $2.1 million increase in facilities costs $0.7 million increase in

network communications systems maintenance and equipment costs and $0.6 million increase in travel expenses Legal

costs net of insurance reimbursements increased primarily due to ongoing litigation contract disputes and lower insurance

reimbursements in 2011 Wages and benefits contract labor costs and travel expenses increased primarily due to higher staffmg

levels required to support our strategic initiatives including the global platform migration
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Marketing

Our marketing expense is primarily comprised of online marketing costs such as search engine marketing travel

research and affiliates and offline marketing costs such as television radio and print advertising Our online marketing

spending is significantly greater than our offline marketing spending

Marketing expense increased $11.3 million $15.1 million excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations for the

year
ended December 31 2012 compared with the year

ended December 31 2011 due primarily to higher global online

marketing spending as well as growth in our private label distribution channel offset partially by decline in offline marketing

Marketing expense increased $8.9 million $1.8 million excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations for the

year ended December 31 2011 compared with the same period in 2010 These increases were primarily due to higher

marketing spending at ebookers and continued growth in our private label channel partially offset by lower marketing spending

for our domestic leisure brands

Depreciation andAmortization

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $3.5 million on both reported and constant currency basis for the

year ended December 31 2012 compared with the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease in depreciation and

amortization expense was due primarily to certain fixed and other assets that became fully depreciated and amortized in 2011

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $12.4 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with

the same period in 2010 Excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations depreciation and amortization decreased $13.2

million The decrease was primarily due to lower amortization related to the expiration of the useful lives of certain customer

relationship intangible assets during the third quarter of 2010 as well as certain other assets that became fully depreciated in

2010 or in the first half of 2011

Impairment

For the
year

ended December 31 2012 in connection with our annual impairment test for goodwill and intangible

assets and as result of lower than expected performance and decline in expected future cash flows for the Americas

reporting unit we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $321.2 million of which $301.9 million related to goodwill $17.6

million related to trademarks and trade names associated with Orbitz and CheapTickets and $1.6 million related to fmite-lived

intangible assets See Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements As of

December 31 2012 the remaining balance of goodwill and other intangible assets totaled $437.0 million

In addition we reduced the unfavorable contract liability by $1.2 million due to the negotiation of new agreement with

one of our airline suppliers resulting in the termination of the former agreement with this airline The $1.2 million reduction in

the liability was comprised of $2.6 million non-cash increase to net revenue see Air Net Revenue discussion above and

$1.4 million non-cash charge related to the in-kind marketing and promotional support that we expected to receive under the

old agreement see Note Unfavorable Contracts of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

During the year ended December 31 2011 in connection with our annual impairment test for goodwill and intangible

assets and as result of lower than expected performance and future cash flows for Orbitz and HoteiClub we recorded non-

cash impairment charge of $49.9 million of which $29.8 million related to the goodwill of HotelClub and $20.1 million related

to the trademarks and trade names associated with HotelClub and Orbitz See Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets of the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Net Interest Expense

Net interest
expense

decreased $3.9 million for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with the year ended

December 31 2011 The decrease in net interest expense was due primarily to lower effective interest rates on the Term Loan

including related interest rate hedges and to lesser extent lower average debt outstanding during 2012 partially offset by

higher letter of credit fees The decrease was also driven by lower non-cash interest expense related to the tax sharing liability

Net interest expense decreased $3.6 million or 8% for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with the same period

in 2010 primarily due to lower effective interest rate on the term loan including related interest rate hedges and lower

average debt outstanding during 2011
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Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded tax provision of $3.2 million $2.1 million and $2.4 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively The tax provisions were due primarily to taxes on the income of certain European-based subsidiaries

and U.S state and local income taxes The increase of $0.9 million in tax
expense

for the
year

ended December 31 2012

compared with the prior year was due to an increase in pretax earnings in certain foreign jurisdictions The decrease in tax

expense of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31 2011 as compared with 2010 was driven by decrease in taxable

income in certain foreign jurisdictions and decrease in the related average tax rate

As of December 31 2012 the valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets was $296.8 million of which $183.8

million relates to U.S jurisdictions We have maintained full valuation allowances in all jurisdictions that had previously

established valuation allowance We will continue to assess the level of the valuation allowance required if sufficient positive

evidence exists in future periods to support release of some or all of the valuation allowance such release would likely have

material impact on our results of operations

The tax provisions recorded for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 were disproportionate to the amount

of pre-tax net loss incurred during each respective period primarily because we were not able to realize any tax benefits on the

goodwill and trademark and trade names impairment charges The provision for income taxes only includes the tax effect of the

net income or net loss of certain foreign subsidiaries that had not established valuation allowance and U.S state and local

income taxes

Related Party Transactions

For discussion of certain relationships and related party transactions see Note 15 Related Party Transactions of the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Seasonality

Our businesses experience seasonal fluctuations in the demand for the products and services we offer The majority of

our customers book leisure travel rather than business travel Gross bookings for leisure travel are generally highest in the first

half of the year as customers plan and book their spring and summer vacations Cash is received upon booking for the majority

of transactions booked on our websites and net revenue for non-standalone air transactions is generally recognized when the

travel takes place and typically lags bookings by several weeks or longer As result our cash receipts are generally highest in

the first half of the year and our net revenue is typically highest in the second and third quarters Our seasonality may also be

affected by fluctuations in the travel products our suppliers make available to us for booking the growth of our international

operations or change in our product mix

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash flows from operations and our cash and cash equivalents We also have

availability under the senior secured credit agreement which includes $72.5 million revolving credit facility which

terminates in July 2013 the Revolver See Note Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements At December 31 2012 and 2011 our cash and cash equivalents balances were $130.3 million and $136.2

million respectively The amount of letters of credit issued under the Revolver reduces the amount available for borrowings

Due to the letters of credit issued under the Revolver we had $61.3 million and $61.7 million of availability at December 31
2012 and 2011 respectively Total available liquidity from cash and cash equivalents and the Revolver was $191.6 million and

$197.9 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

We require letters of credit to support certain supplier and commercial agreements lease obligations and non-U.S

regulatory and governmental regulations At December 31 2012 and 2011 we had $96.5 million and $85.0 million of

outstanding letters of credit The majority of these letters of credit have been issued by Travelport on our behalf For further

details on our letters of credit see Note Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

In September 2012 we entered into new $25 million multi-currency letter of credit facility This facility requires cash

to be held in collateral account as letters of credit are issued At December 31 2012 we had $12.8 million of outstanding

letters of credit issued under this facility and $13.3 million held as collateral which reduced our liquidity
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Under our merchant model customers generally pay us for reservations at the time of booking and we pay our suppliers

at later date which is generally when the customer uses the reservation except in the case of payment for merchant air which

generally occurs prior to the consumption date Initially we record these customer receipts as accrued merchant payables and

either deferred income or net revenue depending upon the travel product The timing difference between when cash is

collected from our customers and when payments are made to our suppliers improves our operating cash flow and represents

source of liquidity for us

Seasonal fluctuations in our business also affect the timing of our cash flows Gross bookings are generally highest in the

first half of the
year as customers plan and purchase their spring and summer vacations As result our cash receipts are

generally highest in the first half of the year We generally have net cash outflows during the second half of the year since cash

payments to suppliers typically exceed the cash inflows from new merchant reservations While we expect this seasonal cash

flow pattern to continue changes in our business model could affect the timing or seasonal nature of our cash flows

As of December 31 2012 we had working capital deficit of $247.7 million compared with deficit of $233.0 million

as of December 31 2011 The increased deficit in 2012 was largely due to higher accounts receivable lower accounts payable

and higher restricted cash partially offset by higher merchant payables Over time we expect to reduce this deficit through

growth in our business in particular our global hotel business

We generated positive cash flow from operations for the years ended December 31 2008 through December 31 2012

despite experiencing net losses in these periods and we expect annual cash flow from operations to remain positive in the

foreseeable future We generally use this cash flow to fund our operations make principal and interest payments on our debt

finance capital expenditures and meet our other cash operating needs For the year ending December 31 2013 we expect our

capital expenditures to be between $40 million and $45 million portion of which is discretionary in nature We do not intend

to declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future

With respect to both our short- and long-term liquidity needs we currently believe that cash flow generated from

operations cash on hand and borrowing availability under the Revolver through its maturity in July 2013 will provide

sufficient liquidity to fund our operating activities capital expenditures and other obligations into 2014 In the future if we

require more liquidity than is available to us from our available cash and under the Revolver if we are unable to refinance or

extend the Revolver beyond its July 2013 maturity date or if we are unable to refinance or repay the Term Loan by its July

2014 maturity date we may need to raise additional funds through the disposition of assets or through debt and/or equity

offerings The issuance of equity could be materially dilutive to existing stockholders We cannot provide assurance that we

will be able to take any of these actions if necessary on timely basis or on terms satisfactory to us or at all See Item 1A

Risk Factors Our business is dependent on our liquidity and our ability to access funding

Our liquidity could be negatively impacted in the future if any of the following events occur

Travelport is no longer obligated or able to issue letters of credit on our behalf which would require us to issue these

letters of credit under the Revolver or our $25.0 million letter of credit facility or to establish cash reserves/collateral

which would reduce our liquidity and cash available to grow our business

termination of major airlines participation on our websites or change in their distribution strategy

decline in merchant gross bookings resulting from changes in our business model

changes to payment terms or other requirements imposed by vendors suppliers or regulatory agencies such as

requiring us to provide letters of credit cash reserves or other forms of financial security or increases in such

requirements

lower than anticipated operating cash flows

other unanticipated events such as unfavorable outcomes in our legal proceedings including in the case of hotel

occupancy tax proceedings certain jurisdictions requirements that we provide financial security or pay an assessment

to the municipality in order to challenge the assessment in court
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Cash Flows

Our net cash flows from operating investing and financing activities were as follows

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Beginning cash and cash equivalents 136171 97222 88656

Cash provided by/used in

Operating activities 107059 117846 98609

Investing activities 63838 47530 40142

Financing activities 50001 30511 49075

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 871 856 826
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5909 38949 8566

Ending cash and cash equivalents 130262 136171 97222

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities consists of our net loss adjusted for non-cash items such as depreciation

amortization impairment of goodwill and intangible assets and stock-based compensation and changes in various working

capital accounts principally accounts receivable deferred income accrued merchant payables accounts payable and accrued

expenses

We generated cash flow from operations of $107.1 million for the year ended December 31 2012 compared with $117.8

million for the year ended December 31 2011 The decrease in cash flow from operations was primarily due to the timing of

cash receipts and payments primarily lower accounts payable higher accounts receivable including amounts due from

Travelport partially offset by higher merchant payables

We generated cash flow from operations of $117.8 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared with $98.6

million for the year ended December 31 2010 The increase in operating cash flow was due to changes in our working capital

accounts of $39.9 million partially offset by $20.7 million decrease in cash inflows from our net loss adjusted for non-cash

items described above The net change in working capital accounts was primarily driven by changes in our current liability

balances and the timing of payments from Travelport Overall the $20.7 million decrease in cash flows from our net loss

related to higher spending to support our strategic initiatives as well as increased legal expenses during 2011 as compared with

2010

Investing Activities

Cash flow used in investing activities increased to $63.8 million for the year ended December 31 2012 from $47.5

million for the year ended December 31 2011 This increase in the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with 2011 was

due primarily to establishing higher restricted cash balances due to requirements under the new letter of credit facility

Cash flow used in investing activities increased to $47.5 million for the
year

ended December 31 2011 from $40.1

million for the year ended December 31 2010 This increase was due to higher capital spending of $4.0 million to support our

strategic initiatives including investments in our global platform and private label distribution infrastructure and an increase in

restricted cash balances

Financing Activities

Cash flow used in financing activities increased to $50.0 million for the year ended December 31 2012 from $30.5

million for the year ended December 31 2011 The increase was due to higher excess cash flow payment made on the Term

Loan and higher payments on the tax sharing liability during the year ended December 31 2012 as compared with the prior

year period

Cash flow used in fmancing activities decreased to $30.5 million for the year ended December 31 2011 from $49.1

million for the year ended December 31 2010 In 2010 we received cash proceeds net of issuance costs from the purchase of

shares of our common stock by Travelport and we repaid borrowings made under the Revolver and repaid and also
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extinguished amounts under the term loan No similar proceeds were received nor were any debt extinguishments or

repayments made under the Revolver in 2011 other than the required payment on the term loan in an amount similar to that in

2010 The decrease in cash used in financing activities was also due to lower payments on the tax sharing liability in the current

year as compared with the prior year

Financing Arrangements

On July 25 2007 we entered into $685.0 million senior secured credit agreement the Credit Agreement consisting

of seven-year $600.0 million term loan facility the Term Loan and six-year $85.0 million revolving credit facility which

was effectively reduced to the $72.5 million Revolver The Term Loan and the Revolver bear interest at variable rates at our

option of LIBOR or an alternative base rate plus margin At December 31 2012 and 2011 $440.0 million and $472.2 million

of borrowings were outstanding on the Term Loan respectively At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were no outstanding

borrowings under the Revolver In addition at December 31 2012 and 2011 there were the equivalent of $11.2 million and

$10.8 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the Revolver respectively the majority of which were denominated

in multiple currencies The amount of letters of credit issued under the Revolver reduces the amount available to us for

borrowings

On June 2009 we entered into an amendment the Amendment to our Credit Agreement which permitted us to

purchase portions of the outstanding Term Loan on non-pro rata basis using cash up to $10.0 million and future cash proceeds

from equity issuances and in exchange for equity interests on or prior to June 2010 The portions of the Term Loan purchased

by us were retired pursuant to the terms of the Amendment During the year
ended December 31 2010 we purchased aggregate

principal amounts of the Term Loan totaling $63.6 million

The Term Loan and Revolver are both secured by substantially all of our and our domestic subsidiaries tangible and

intangible assets including pledge of 100% of the outstanding capital stock or other equity interests of substantially all of our

direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the capital stock or other equity interests of certain of our foreign

subsidiaries subject to certain exceptions The Term Loan and Revolver are also guaranteed by substantially all of our domestic

subsidiaries

The Credit Agreement contains various customary restrictive covenants that limit our ability to among other things

incur additional indebtedness or enter into guarantees

enter into sale or leaseback transactions

make investments loans or acquisitions

grant or incur liens on our assets

sell our assets

engage in mergers consolidations liquidations or dissolutions

engage in transactions with affiliates and

make restricted payments

The Credit Agreement requires us to maintain minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and not exceed maximum total

leverage ratio each as defined in the Credit Agreement We are required to maintain minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of

to and not exceed maximum total leverage ratio of 3.0 to for the remainder of the Credit Agreement As of

December 31 2012 we were in compliance with all covenants and conditions of the Credit Agreement and expect to be in

compliance for the foreseeable future

In addition we are required to make an annual prepayment on the Term Loan in the first quarter of each fiscal year in an

amount up to 50% of the prior years excess cash flow as defined in the Credit Agreement Based on our excess cash flow for

the year ended December 31 2011 we made $32.2 million prepayment on the Term Loan in the first quarter of 2012

Prepayments from excess cash flow are applied in order of maturity to the scheduled quarterly Term Loan principal payments

Due to the total excess cash flow payments that we have made we are not required to make any scheduled principal payments

on the Term Loan for the remainder of its term Based on our excess cash flow for the year ended December 31 2012 we are

required to make $24.7 million prepayment in the first quarter of 2013 The potential amount of prepayment from excess cash

flow that will be required beyond the first quarter of 2013 is not reasonably estimable as of December 31 2012 The non

current balance of $415.3 million is required to be paid in 2014 as part of the prepayment from excess cash flow or as the final

installment due in July 2014
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When we were wholly-owned subsidiary of Travelport Travelport provided guarantees letters of credit and surety

bonds on our behalf under our commercial agreements and leases and for the benefit of regulatory agencies Under the

Separation Agreement entered into in connection with the IPO we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to have

Travelport released from any then outstanding guarantees and surety bonds Travelport no longer provides surety bonds on our

behalf or guarantees in connection with commercial agreements or leases entered into or replaced by us subsequent to the IPO
At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were $72.5 million and $74.2 million of outstanding letters of credit issued by

Travelport on our behalf respectively Travelport has agreed to issue U.S dollar denominated letters of credit on our behalf in

an aggregate amount not to exceed $75.0 million so long as Travelport and its affiliates as defined in the Separation

Agreement own at least 50% of our voting stock Travelport charges us fees for issuing renewing or extending letters of credit

on our behalf The expenses related to these fees are included in interest
expense in our consolidated statements of operations

During 2012 we secured new multi-currency letter of credit facility the Facility that terminates in September 2015

The Facility provides for the issuance of letters of credit of up to $25.0 million The Facility requires cash to be held in

collateral account in an unrestricted subsidiary equal to 1.03 times the outstanding letters of credit amount plus fees As of

December 31 2012 we had $12.8 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the Facility which were denominated in

multiple currencies

Financial Obligations

Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various cases brought by consumers and municipalities and other U.S governmental entities involving

hotel occupancy taxes and our merchant hotel business model We believe that we have meritorious defenses and we are

vigorously defending against these claims proceedings and inquiries see Note Commitments and Contingencies of the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Litigation is inherently unpredictable and although we believe we have valid defenses in these matters unfavorable

resolutions could occur We generally cannot estimate our range of loss except to the extent taxing authorities have issued

assessments against us Although we believe it is unlikely that materially adverse outcome will result from these proceedings

an adverse outcome could be material to us with respect to earnings or cash flows in any given reporting period

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our future contractual obligations as of December 31 2012

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

in thousands

TermLoana 24708 $415322 $440030

Interestb 13419 7609 21028

Contract exit costs 11246 647 278 63 12234

Operating leases 7045 5843 3431 3112 2936 14896 37263

Travelport GDS contract 34762 20000 54762

Tax sharing liability 15953 11007 12983 17851 36417 29714 123925

Other service and licensing contracts 11996 9657 21653

Total contractual obligations $119129 $470085 16692 $21026 $39353 44610 710895

The amounts shown in the table above represent future payments under the Term Loan see Note Term Loan and

Revolving Credit Facility of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Based on our cash flow for the year ended

December 31 2012 we are required to make prepayment on the Term Loan of $24.7 million in the first quarter of 2013

The non-current balance of $415.3 million is obligated to be paid in 2014 as part of the prepayment from excess cash flow

or as the final installment due in July 2014

Represents estimated interest payments on the variable portion of the Term Loan based on the one-month LIBOR as of

December 31 2012 and fixed interest payments under interest rate swaps

Represents disputed costs due to the early termination of an agreement
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The Travelport GDS Service Agreement is structured such that we earn incentive revenue for each segment that is

processed through the the Travelport GDSs This agreement requires that we process
certain minimum number of

segments for our domestic brands through the Travelport GDSs each year Our domestic brands were required to process

total of 31.4 million segments during the
year

ended December 31 2012 16.0 million segments through Worldspan and

15.4 million segments through Galileo The required number of segments processed annually for Worldspan is fixed at

16.0 million segments while the required number of segments for Galileo is subject to adjustment based upon the actual

segments processed by our domestic brands in the preceding year We are required to process approximately 11.8 million

segments through Galileo during the year ending December 31 2013 Our failure to process at least 95% of these

segments through the Travelport GDSs would result in shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment below the required

minimum We are not subject to these minimum volume thresholds to the extent that we process all eligible segments

through the Travelport GDS Historically we have met the minimum segment requirement for our domestic brands The

table above includes shortfall payments required by the agreement if we do not process any segments through Worldspan

during the remainder of the contract term and shortfall payments required if we do not process any segments through

Galileo during the year ending December 31 2013 Because the required number of segments for Galileo adjusts based

on the actual segments processed in the preceding year we are unable to predict shortfall payments that may be required

beyond 2013 However we do not expect to make any shortfall payments for our domestic brands in the foreseeable

future

The Travelport GDS Service Agreement also requires that ebookers use the Travelport GDSs exclusively in certain

countries for segments processed through GDSs in Europe Our failure to process at least 95% of these segments through

the Travelport GDSs would result in shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment for each segment processed through an

alternative GDS provider We failed to meet this minimum segment requirement during each of the years
ended

December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 and as result we were required to make shortfall payments of $0.4 million

to Travelport related to each of these
years

There was not shortfall for the
year

ended December 31 2012 Because the

required number of segments to be processed through the Travelport GDSs is dependent on the actual segments processed

by ebookers in certain countries in given year we are unable to predict shortfall payments that may be required in future

years As result the table above excludes any shortfall payments that may be required related to our ebookers brands If

we meet the minimum number of segments we are not required to make shortfall payments to Travelport see Note 15

Related Party Transactions of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Represents payments in connection with the tax sharing agreement
with the Founding Airlines see Note Tax Sharing

Liability of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Excluded from the above table are $4.1 million of liabilities for uncertain tax positions for which the period of settlement

is not currently determinable

Other Commercial Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the ordinary course of business we obtain surety bonds and bank guarantees issued for the benefit of third party to

secure performance of certain of our obligations see Note Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements

We are also required to issue letters of credit to certain suppliers and non-U.S regulatory and government agencies See

Financing Arrangements above for further discussion of our outstanding letters of credit

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related notes in conformity with generally accepted

accounting principles requires us to make judgments estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported therein An

accounting policy is considered to be critical if it meets the following two criteria

the policy requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at

the time the estimate is made and

different estimates that reasonably could have been used or changes in the estimates that are reasonably likely to

occur from period to period would have material impact on our consolidated financial statements

We believe that the estimates and assumptions used when preparing our consolidated financial statements were the most

appropriate at that time However events that are outside of our control cannot be predicted and as such they cannot be
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contemplated in evaluating such estimates and assumptions We have discussed these estimates with our Audit Committee of

the Board of Directors

Presented below are those accounting policies that we believe require subjective and complex judgments that could

potentially affect our reported results Although we believe these policies to be the most critical other accounting policies also

have significant effect on our consolidated financial statements and certain of these policies may also require the use of

estimates and assumptions see Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements

Revenue Recognition

Merchant revenues are from transactions where we are the merchant of record and have the ability to determine the price

charged to the customer We have agreements with suppliers that provide our customers the ability to book their supply through

our sites for example air tickets or hotel rooms that we sell We present merchant revenues on net basis in accordance with

Accounting Standards Codification 605-45 Revenue Recognition Principal Agent Considerations Based upon evaluation of

our merchant transactions and in accordance with the various indicators identified in the ASC we concluded that our suppliers

assume the majority of the business risks including the risk of unsold air tickets or hotel rooms As such we recognize

revenues for merchant transactions at the net amount which is the amount charged to the customer less the amount to be paid

to the supplier

We accrue for the cost of merchant hotel and merchant car transactions based on amounts we expect to be invoiced by

suppliers Based on our historical experience and contract terms we reverse portion of the accrued cost which increases net

revenue when we determine it is not probable that we will be required to pay the supplier Actual amounts could be greater or

less than the amounts estimated due to changes in hotel billing practices or changes in traveler behavior

Impairment ofLong-LivedAssets Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets including property and equipment and finite-lived intangible

assets when circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable This analysis is performed

by comparing the canying values of the assets to the current and expected future cash flows to be generated from these assets

on an undiscounted basis If this analysis indicates that the carrying value of an asset is not recoverable the carrying value is

reduced to fair value through an impairment charge in our consolidated statements of operations The evaluation of long-lived

assets for impairment requires assumptions about operating strategies and estimates of future cash flows An estimate of future

cash flows requires us to assess current and projected market conditions as well as operating performance variation of the

assumptions used could lead to different conclusion regarding the recoverability of an asset and could have significant effect

on our consolidated financial statements

In 2012 we recorded $1.4 million non-cash charge due to the negotiation of new agreement with one of our airline

suppliers which resulted in the termination of the former agreement with this airline The $1.2 million net reduction in the

liability of this agreement was comprised of $2.6 million non-cash increase to net revenue and $1.4 million non-cash charge

related to the in-kind marketing and promotional support that we expected to receive under the former agreement The

impairment charge was included in the impairment of property and equipment and other assets line item in our consolidated

statements of operations

In 2012 we recorded non-cash impairment charge of$1 .6 million related to finite-lived intangible assets This charge

was included in impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in our consolidated statements of operations The remaining

finite-lived intangible asset balance following this charge is not material

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We assess the carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually or more

frequently whenever events occur and circumstances change indicating potential impairment We perform our annual

impairment testing of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31

We assess goodwill for possible impairment using two-step process The first step identifies if there is potential

goodwill impairment If the step one analysis indicates that impairment may exist step two analysis is performed to measure

the amount of the goodwill impairment if any Application of the goodwill impairment test requires managements judgment
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including identifying reporting units assigning assets and liabilities to reporting units and determining the fair value of each

reporting unit We estimate the fair value of our reporting units to which goodwill is allocated using generally accepted

valuation methodologies including market and income based approaches and relevant data available through and as of the

testing date The market approach is valuation method in which fair value is estimated based on observed prices in actual

transactions and on asking prices for similar assets Under the market approach the valuation process is essentially that of

comparison and correlation between the subject asset and other similar assets The income approach is method in which fair

value is estimated based on the cash flows that an asset could be expected to generate over its useful life including residual

value cash flows These cash flows are then discounted to their present value equivalents using rate of return that accounts for

the relative risk of not realizing the estimated annual cash flows and for the time value of money Variations of the income

approach are used to estimate certain of the intangible asset fair values

Our trademarks and trade names are indefinite-lived intangible assets We test these assets for impairment by comparing

their carrying values to their estimated fair values If the estimated fair values are less than the carrying amounts of the

intangible assets then the carrying values are reduced to fair value through an impairment charge recorded in our consolidated

statements of operations We use market or income valuation approach or combination of both to estimate fair values of

the relevant trademarks and trade names

Our testing for impairment involves estimates of our future cash flows which requires us to assess current and projected

market conditions as well as operating performance Our estimates may differ from actual cash flows due to changes in our

operating performance capital structure or capital expenditure needs as well as changes to general economic and travel

industry conditions We must also make estimates and judgments in the selection of discount rate that reflects the risk inherent

in those future cash flows The impairment analysis may also require certain assumptions about other businesses with limited

financial histories variation of the assumptions used could lead to different conclusion regarding the fair value of an asset

and could have significant effect on our consolidated financial statements

During the year ended December 31 2012 we performed our annual impairment test of goodwill and trademarks and

trade names as of December 31 2012 We used the income approach to estimate the fair value of all reporting units and used

the market approach to corroborate this estimate We considered the market approach from reasonableness standpoint by

comparing the multiples of guideline companies with the implied multiples from the income approach but primarily relied

upon our observed market capitalization to assess reasonableness of the income approach conclusions We used an income

valuation approach to estimate the fair value of the relevant trademarks and trade names for each of our reporting units

We determined that the carrying value of the Americas reporting unit exceeded its fair value and additional procedures

were required to determine the fair value of its other assets including property and equipment and trademarks The ebookers

and HotelClub reporting units do not have any recorded goodwill at December 31 2012 We determined that the carrying value

of our Orbitz and CheapTickets trademarks exceeded their respective fair values The estimated fair value of our ebookers and

HotelClub trademarks each exceeded their respective carrying values

In connection with our annual impairment test and as result of lower performance and anticipated future cash flows for

the Americas reporting unit we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $319.5 million of which $301.9 million related to

goodwill and $17.6 million related to trademarks and trade names These charges were included in impairment of goodwill and

intangible assets line item in our consolidated statements of operations Prior to the annual impairment test as of December 31

2012 there were no events or circumstances during the year
that constituted an indicator of impairment based on managements

review of potential indicators An important consideration in the annual impairment test is an estimate of our future cash flows

During the fourth quarter of 2012 we modified our financial forecasts due in part to expected changes in growth and certain

supplier economics which indicated decrease in the anticipated future cash flows compared with previous forecasts

For sensitivity purposes we considered the impact of each of the following scenarios on the estimated fair value of the

Orbitz trademark if estimated future revenues were reduced by 10% if the terminal growth rate was decreased by 100 basis

points if the assumed royalty rate was decreased by 50 basis points or if the discount rate was increased by 100 basis points

Based on our analysis change of varying amounts in each assumption assuming all other assumptions and estimates remain

constant would have resulted in an additional impairment charge of up to $8.8 million for the Orbitz trademark In addition if

the assumed discount rate was increased by 100 basis points it would have resulted in an additional goodwill impairment

charge of $14.3 million As result if actual results and/or the underlying assumptions differ from our expectations future

impairment charge may be necessary Since the carrying value of the CheapTickets ebookers and HotelClub trademark and

trade names are not significant no sensitivity analysis was performed for these intangibles
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Occupancy Taxes

We are involved in number of lawsuits brought by states cities and counties over issues involving the payment of hotel

occupancy or similartaxes We do not believe that we are liable for these taxes generally imposed on entities that own operate

or control hotels or provide hotel rooms or similar accommodations We accrue for potential losses in those circumstances that

we believe loss is probable and for which we are able to develop reasonable estimate of any such loss The ultimate

resolution of these lawsuits or contingencies may differ substantially from our estimates

Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability method Under this method deferred tax assets

and liabilities are calculated based upon the temporary differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of

assets and liabilities using the combined federal and state effective tax rates that are applicable to us in given year The

deferred tax assets are recorded net of valuation allowance when based on the weight of available evidence we believe it is

more likely than not that some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods Increases

to the valuation allowance are recorded as increases to the provision for income taxes The realization of the deferred tax assets

net of valuation allowance is primarily dependent on estimated future taxable income as well as the consideration of other

factors We currently have valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets of $296.8 million of which $183.8 million relates

to U.S jurisdictions As of December 31 2012 we maintained full valuation allowances in all jurisdictions that had previously

established valuation allowance On quarterly basis we assess the level of valuation allowance required if sufficient

positive evidence exists in future periods to support release of some or all of the valuation allowance such release would

likely have material impact on our results of operations Due to expected continued improvement in the U.S operations

management believes possibility exists that within the next yeai
sufficient positive evidence may become available to reach

conclusion that significant portion of the U.S valuation allowance will no longer be needed

Tax Sharing Liability

We have liability included in our consolidated balance sheets that relates to tax sharing agreement between Orbitz

and the Founding Airlines see Note Tax Sharing Liability of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further

details We use discounted cash flows in calculating and recognizing the tax sharing liability We review the calculation of the

tax sharing liability on quarterly basis and make revisions to our estimated timing of payments when appropriate We also

assess whether there are any significant changes such as changes in the amount of payments and tax rates that could materially

affect the present value of the tax sharing liability

The valuation of the tax sharing liability requires us to make certain estimates in projecting the quarterly depreciation

and amortization benefit we expect to receive as well as the associated effective income tax rates The estimates require certain

assumptions as to our future operating performance and taxable income the tax rate the timing of tax payments current and

projected market conditions and the applicable discount rate variation of the assumptions used could lead to different

conclusion regarding the carrying value of the tax sharing liability and could have significant effect on our consolidated

financial statements

Internal Use Software

We capitalize the costs of software developed for internal use Capitalization commences when the preliminary project

stage of the application has been completed and it is probable that the project will be completed and used to perform the

function intended Amortization commences when the software is placed into service The determination of costs to be

capitalized and the useful life of the software require us to make estimates and judgments

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

Our international operations are subject to risks typical of international operations including but not limited to differing

economic conditions changes in political climate differing tax structures and foreign exchange rate volatility Accordingly our

future results could be materially adversely impacted by changes in these or other factors
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Transaction Exposure

We use foreign currency contracts to manage our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates associated with

our foreign currency denominated receivables payables intercompany transactions and borrowings under the Revolver We

primarily hedge our foreign currency exposure to the Pound sterling Euro Swiss franc and Australian dollar We do not engage

in trading market making or speculative activities in the derivatives markets The foreign currency contracts utilized by us do

not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and as result any
fluctuations in the value of these foreign currency contracts are

recognized in selling general and administrative expense
in our consolidated statements of operations as incurred The

fluctuations in the value of these foreign currency contracts do however largely offset the impact of changes in the value of the

underlying risk that they are intended to economically hedge At December 31 2012 and 2011 we had foreign currency

contracts with net notional values equivalent to $320.6 million and $256.1 million respectively

Translation Exposure

Foreign exchange rate fluctuations may adversely impact our financial position as the assets and liabilities of our foreign

operations are translated into U.S dollars in preparing our consolidated balance sheets The effect of foreign exchange rate

fluctuations on our consolidated balance sheets at December 31 2012 and 2011 was net translation gainlloss of $4.8

million and $2.4 million respectively This gain/loss is recognized as an adjustment to shareholders equity through

accumulated other comprehensive income

Interest Rate Risk

The Term Loan and the Revolver bear interest at variable rate based on LIBOR or an alternative base rate We limit

interest rate risk associated with the Term Loan using interest rate swaps with combined notional amount of $100.0 million at

December 31 2012 to hedge fluctuations in LIBOR see Note 12 Derivative Financial Instruments of the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements We do not engage in trading market making or speculative activities in the derivatives

markets

Sensitivity Analysis

We assess our market risk based on changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates utilizing sensitivity

analysis that measures the potential impact on earnings fair values and cash flows based on hypothetical 10% change

increase and decrease in foreign currency rates and interest rates We used December 31 2012 market rates to perform

sensitivity analysis separately for each of our market risk exposures The estimates assume instantaneous parallel shifts in

interest rate yield curves and exchange rates We determined through this analysis that the potential decrease in net current

assets from hypothetical 10% adverse change in quoted foreign currency exchange rates would be $7.6 million at December

31 2012 compared with $6.2 million at December 31 2011 There are inherent limitations in the sensitivity analysis primarily

due to assumptions that foreign exchange rate movements are linear and instantaneous The effect of hypothetical 10%

adverse change in market rates of interest on interest expense would be $0.1 million at both December 31 2012 and

December 31 2011 respectively which represents the effect on annual interest expense
related to the unhedged portion of the

Term Loan The hedged portion of the Term Loan is not affected by changes in market rates of interest as it has effectively been

converted to fixed interest rate through interest rate swaps
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Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Orbitz Worldwide Inc

Chicago Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Orbitz Worldwide Inc and subsidiaries the

Company as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive loss

cash flows and shareholders equity/deflcit for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 Our audits also

included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 These financial statements and financial statement

schedule are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial

statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates

made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide

reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion such consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of

Orbitz Worldwide Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America Also in our opinion such financial statement schedule when considered in relation

to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth

therein

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the Companys internal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on the criteria established in

Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

and our report dated March 2013 expressed an adverse opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Chicago Illinois

March 2013
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except share and per share data

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net revenue 778796 766819 757487

Cost and expenses

Cost of revenue 147840 139390 138279

Selling general and administrative 260253 270617 244114

Marketing 252993 241670 232757

Depreciation and amortization 57046 60540 72891

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 321172 49891 70151

Impairment of property and equipment and other assets 1417 11099

Total operating expenses 1040721 762108 769291

Operating income/loss 261925 4711 11804

Other income/expense

Net interest expense 36599 40488 44070

Other income/expense 41 551 18

Total other expense 36640 39937 44052

Loss before income taxes 298565 35226 55856

Provision for income taxes 3173 2051 2381

Net loss 301738 37277 58237

Net loss per share basic and diluted

Net loss per share 2.86 0.36 0.58

Weighted-average shares outstanding 105582736 104118983 101269274

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORI3ITZ WORLDWIDE INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net loss 301738 37277 58237

Other comprehensive income/Ioss

Currency translation adjustment 7147 1273 7197

Unrealized gain on floating to fixed interest rate swaps 311 2329 2419

Other comprehensive income/loss 6836 1056 9616

Comprehensive loss 308574 36221 48621

There was no income tax impact to other comprehensive income/loss for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE INC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except share data

December 31 2012 December 312011

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 130262 136171

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $903

and $1108 respectively 75789 62377

Prepaidexpenses 11018 15917

Due from Travelport net 5617 3898

Other current assets 3072 2402

Total current assets 225758 220765

Property and equipment net 132544 141702

Goodwill 345388 647300

Trademarks and trade names 90790 108194

Other intangible assets net 830 4162

Deferred income taxes non-current 6773 7311

Restricted cash 24485 7296

Other non-current assets 7746 9056

Total Assets 834314 1145786

Liabilities and Shareholders Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 21485 30937

Accrued merchant payable 268589 238694

Accrued expenses 118329 120962

Deferred income 34948 28953

Term loan current 24708 32183

Other current liabilities 5365 2034

Total current liabilities 473424 453763

Term loan non-current 415322 440030

Tax sharing liability 70912 68411

Unfavorable contracts 4440

Other non-current liabilities 17319 18617

Total Liabilities 976977 985261

Commitments and contingencies see Note

Shareholders Equity/Deficit

Preferred stock $0.01 par value 100 shares authorized no shares issued or outstanding

Common stock $0.01 par value 140000000 shares authorized 105119044

and 103814769 shares issued respectively 1051 1038

Treasury stock at cost 25237 shares held 52 52
Additional paid-in capital 1041466 1036093

Accumulated deficit 1182624 880886

Accumulated other comprehensive income/loss net of accumulated tax

benefit of $2558 2504 4332

Total Shareholders Equity/Deficit 142663 160525

Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity/Deficit 834314 1145786

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

in thousands

Operating activities

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Net gain on extinguishment of debt

Depreciation and amortization

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Impairment of property and equipment and other assets

Amortization of unfavorable contract liability

Non-cash net interest expense

Deferred income taxes

Stock compensation

Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable

Due from Travelport net

Accounts payable accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Accrued merchant payable

Deferred income

Other

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities

Property and equipment additions

Changes in restricted cash

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock net of issuance costs

Payments of fees to repurchase portion of the term loan

Payments on the term loan

Payments to extinguish debt

Employee tax withholdings related to net share settlements of

equity-based awards

Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options

Payments on tax sharing liability

Payments on line of credit

Proceeds from note payable

Payments on note payable

Net cash used in financing activities

Effects of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

301738 37277 58237

57
57046 60540 72891

321172 49891 70151

1417 11099

6717 1678 9226

13251 15008 15797

869 767 1494

7566 8521 12535

12549 7073 222

1624 12960 12126

5549 20738 11636

28065 1358 14593

8429 2291 831

2579 3618 7616

107059 117846 98609

47026 44059 40010

16812 3471 132

63838 47530 40142

48930

248

32183 19808 20994

13488

2179 1628 2984

72

15408 8847 18885

42221

800

231 228 57

50001 30511 49075

871 856 826

5909 38949 8566

136171 97222 88656

130262 136171 97222

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS continued

in thousands

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Income tax payments net 1170 1342 1120

Cash interest payments
26635 26613 27935

Non-cash investing activity

Capital expenditures incurred not yet paid 2309 447 2948

Non-cash financing activity

Repayment of term loan in connection with debt-equity exchange 49564

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY/DEFICIT

in thousands except share data

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive

Income/Loss

Balance at January 2010

Net loss

Amortization of equity-based compensation
awards granted to employees net of shares

withheld to satisfy employee tax withholding

obligations upon vesting

Common shares issued pursuant to Exchange

Agreement and Stock Purchase Agreement

see Note 17166673

Common shares issued upon vesting of

restricted stock units 1333624

Common shares issued upon exercise of

stock options

Common shares withheld to satisfy employee

tax withholding obligations upon vesting of

restricted stock

Other comprehensive income

Balance at December 31 2010

Net loss

Amortization of equity-based compensation

awards granted to employees net of shares

withheld to satisfy employee tax withholding

obligations upon vesting

Common shares issued upon vesting of

restricted stock units 1446672

Other comprehensive income/loss

Balance at December 31 2011

Net loss

Amortization of equity-based compensation

awards granted to employees net of shares

withheld to satisfy employee tax withholding

obligations upon vesting

Common shares issued upon vesting of

restricted stock units

Other comprehensive income/loss

Balance at December 31 2012

Common Stock Treasury Stock
Additional Interest Foreign Shareholders

Paid in Accumulated Rate Currency Equity/
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Swaps Translation Deficit

83856082 838 24521 48 921425 785372 2777 3563 130503

58237 58237

9555 9555

172 98176 98348

13 13

11718 72 72

716

2419 7197 9616

102368097 1023 25237 52 1029215 843609 358 3634 189853

37277 37277

6893 6893

15 15

2329 1273 1056

103814769 1038 25237 52 1036093 880886 1971 2361 160525

301738 301738

5386 5386

1304275 13 13

311 7147 6836

105119044 1051 25237 52 $1041466 1182624 2282 4786 142663

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Organization and Basis of Presentation

Description of the Business

Orbitz Inc Orbitz was formed in early 2000 by American Airlines Inc Continental Airlines Inc Delta Air Lines

Inc Northwest Airlines Inc and United Air Lines Inc the Founding Airlines In November 2004 Orbitz was acquired by

Cendant Corporation Cendant whose online travel distribution businesses included the HotelCiub and RatesToGo brands

collectively referred to as HotelCiub and the CheapTickets brand In February 2005 Cendant acquired ebookers Limited

an international online travel brand which currently has operations in 12 countries throughout Europe ebookers

On August 23 2006 Travelport Limited Travelport which consisted of Cendants travel distribution services

businesses including the businesses that currently comprise Orbitz Worldwide Inc was acquired by affiliates of The

Blackstone Group Blackstone and Technology Crossover Ventures We refer to this acquisition as the Blackstone

Acquisition

Orbitz Worldwide Inc was incorporated in Delaware on June 18 2007 and was formed to be the parent company of the

business-to-consumer travel businesses of Travelport including Orbitz ebookers and HotelClub and the related subsidiaries

and affiliates of those businesses We are the registrant as result of the completion of the initial public offering the IPO of

34000000 shares of our common stock on July 25 2007 At December 31 2012 and 2011 Travelport and investment funds

that own and/or control Travelports ultimate parent company beneficially owned approximately 53% and 55% of our

outstanding common stock respectively

We are leading global online travel company that uses innovative technology to enable leisure and business travelers to

research plan and book broad range of travel products and services Our brand portfolio includes Orbitz CheapTickets and

the Away Network in the Americas ebookers in Europe and HotelCiub and RatesToGo collectively referred to as

HotelClub based in Australia which have operations globally We also own and operate Orbitz for Business corporate

travel company and Orbitz Worldwide Distribution group delivers private label travel solutions to broad range of partners

We provide customers with the ability to book wide array of travel products and services from suppliers worldwide including

air travel hotels vacation packages car rentals cruises travel insurance and destination services such as ground transportation

event tickets and tours

Basis ofPresentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the accounts of Orbitz ebookers and HotelCiub and the

related subsidiaries and affiliates of those businesses collectively doing business as Orbitz Worldwide Inc These entities

became wholly-owned subsidiaries of ours as part of an intercompany restructuring that was completed on July 18 2007 in

connection with the IPO Prior to the IPO these entities had operated as indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of Travelport

Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States GAAP All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the

consolidated financial statements

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related notes in conformity with GAAP requires us to make

certain estimates and assumptions Our estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets liabilities revenues

and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities On an ongoing basis we evaluate our estimates

including those related to matters that require significant level ofjudgment or are otherwise subject to an inherent degree of

uncertainty
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Our significant estimates include elements of revenue recognition the realization of deferred tax assets amounts that

may be due under the tax sharing agreement impairment of long-lived assets goodwill and indefmite-lived intangible assets

costs to be capitalized as well as the useful life of capitalized software and contingent liabilities including taxes related to

hotel occupancy Actual amounts may differ from these estimates

During the first quarter of 2010 we had change in estimate related to the timing of our recognition of travel insurance

revenue Prior to the first quarter of 2010 we recorded travel insurance revenue one month in arrears upon receipt of payment

as we did not have sufficient reporting from our travel insurance supplier to conclude that the price was fixed or determinable

prior to that time Our travel insurance supplier implemented timelier reporting and as result beginning with the first quarter

of 2010 we were able to recognize travel insurance revenue on an accrual basis rather than one month in arrears This change

in estimate resulted in $2.5 million increase in net revenue and net income and $0.02 increase in basic and diluted earnings

per share for the year ended December 31 2010

Foreign Currency Translation

Balance sheet accounts of our operations outside of the United States are translated from foreign currencies into

U.S dollars at the exchange rates as of the consolidated balance sheet dates Revenues and expenses are translated at average

exchange rates during the period Foreign currency translation gains or losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive

income loss in shareholders equity Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions which are denominated in

currencies other than the entitys functional currency are included in our consolidated statements of operations

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when it is earned and realizable when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists services

have been rendered the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured We have two primary types of

contractual arrangements with our vendors which we refer to herein as the merchant and retail models Under both the

merchant and retail models we record revenue earned net of all amounts paid to our suppliers

We provide customers the ability to book air travel hotels car rentals and other travel products and services through our

various websites These travel products and services are made available to our customers for booking on standalone basis or

as part of vacation package

Under the merchant model we generate revenue for our services based on the difference between the total amount the

customer pays for the travel product and the negotiated net rate plus estimated taxes that the supplier charges us for that

product Customers generally pay us for reservations at the time of booking Initially we record these customer receipts as

accrued merchant payables and either deferred income or net revenue depending on the travel product In the merchant model

we do not take on credit risk with the customer however we are subject to charge-backs and fraud risk which we monitor

closely we have the ability to determine the price we are not responsible for the actual delivery of the flight hotel room or car

rental we take no inventory risk we have no ability to determine or change the products or services delivered and the

customer chooses the supplier

We recognize net revenue under the merchant model when we have no further obligations to the customer For merchant

air transactions this is at the time of booking For merchant hotel transactions and merchant car transactions net revenue is

recognized at the time of check-in or customer pick-up respectively The timing of revenue recognition is different for

merchant air travel because our primary service to the customer is fulfilled at the time of booking

We accrue for the cost of merchant hotel and merchant car transactions based on amounts we expect to be invoiced by

suppliers If we do not receive an invoice within certain period of time generally within six months or the invoice received is

less than the accrued amount we reverse portion of the accrued cost when we determine it is not probable that we will be

required to pay the supplier based on our historical experience and contract terms This results in an increase in net revenue

and decrease to the accrued merchant payable

Under the retail model we pass reservations booked by our customers to the travel supplier for commission In the

retail model we do not take on credit risk with the customer we are not the primary obligor with the customer we have no

latitude in determining pricing we take no inventory risk we have no ability to determine or change the products or services

delivered and the customer chooses the supplier
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We recognize net revenue under the retail model when the reservation is made secured by customer with credit card

and we have no further obligations to the customer For air transactions this is at the time of booking For hotel transactions

and car transactions net revenue is recognized at the time of check-in or customer pick-up respectively net of an allowance for

cancelled reservations The timing of recognition is different for retail hotel and retail car transactions than for retail air travel

because unlike air travel where the reservation is secured by customers credit card at booking car rental bookings and hotel

bookings are not secured by customers credit card until the pick-up date and check-in date respectively Allowances for

cancelled reservations primarily relate to cancellations that do not occur through our websites but instead occur directly

through the supplier of the travel product The amount of the allowance is determined based on our historical experience The

majority of commissions earned under the retail model are based upon contractual agreements

Vacation packages offer customers the ability to book combination of travel products For example travel products

booked in vacation package may include combination of air travel hotel and car rental reservations We recognize net

revenue for the entire package when the customer uses the reservation which generally occurs on the same day for each travel

product included in the vacation package

Under both the merchant and retail models we may depending upon the brand and the travel product charge our

customers service fee for booking their travel reservation We recognize revenue for service fees at the time we recognize the

net revenue for the corresponding travel product We also may receive override commissions from suppliers if we meet certain

contractual volume thresholds These commissions are recognized when the amount of the commissions becomes fixed or

determinable which is generally upon notification by the respective travel supplier

We utilize global distribution systems GDS services provided by Galileo Worldspan and Amadeus IT Group Under

our GDS service agreements we earn revenue in the form of an incentive payment for air car and hotel segments that are

processed through GDS Revenue is recognized for these incentive payments at the time the travel reservation is processed

through the GDS which is generally at the time of booking

We also generate other revenue which is primarily comprised of revenue from advertising including sponsoring links

on our websites and travel insurance Advertising revenue is derived primarily from the delivery of advertisements on our

websites and is recognized either at the time of display of each individual advertisement or ratably over the advertising

delivery period depending on the terms of the advertising contract Revenues generated from sponsoring links are recognized

upon notification from the alliance partner that transaction has occurred Travel insurance revenue is recognized when the

reservation is made secured by customer with credit card and we have no further obligations to the customer which for

travel insurance is at the time of booking

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue is primarily comprised of direct costs incurred to generate revenue including costs to operate our

customer service call centers credit card processing fees and other costs which include customer refunds and charge-backs

connectivity and other processing costs These costs are generally variable in nature and are primarily driven by transaction

volume

Marketing Expense

Marketing expense is primarily comprised of online marketing costs such as search and banner advertising and affiliate

commissions and offline marketing costs such as television radio and print advertising Online advertising expense is

recognized based on the terms of the individual agreements based on the ratio of actual impressions to contracted impressions

pay-per-click or on straight-line basis over the term of the contract Offline marketing expense is recognized in the period in

which it is incurred Our online marketing costs are significantly greater than our offline marketing costs

Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability method Under this method deferred tax assets

and liabilities are calculated based upon the temporary differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of

assets and liabilities using the combined federal and state or foreign effective tax rates that are applicable to us in given year

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the year in which

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled The deferred tax assets are recorded net of valuation

allowance when based on the weight of available evidence we believe it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
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recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods The realization of the deferred tax assets net of valuation

allowance is primarily dependent on estimated future taxable income change in our estimate of future taxable income may

require an increase or decrease to the valuation allowance

Derivative Financial Instruments

We measure derivatives at fair value and recognize them in our consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabilities

depending on our rights or obligations under the applicable derivative contract For our derivatives designated as fair value

hedges if any the changes in the fair value of both the derivative instrument and the hedged item are recorded in earnings For

our derivatives designated as cash flow hedges the effective portions of changes in fair value of the derivative are reported in

other comprehensive income and are subsequently reclassified into earnings when the hedged item affects earnings Changes in

fair value of derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments and ineffective portions of hedges are recognized in

earnings in the current period

We manage interest rate exposure by utilizing interest rate swaps to achieve desired mix of fixed and variable rate debt

As of December 31 2012 we had one interest rate swap that effectively converted $100.0 million of the term loan facility from

variable to fixed interest rate see Note 12 Derivative Financial Instruments We determined that the interest rate swaps

outstanding during the year ended December 31 2012 qualified for hedge accounting and were highly effective as hedges

Accordingly we have recorded the change in fair value of our interest rate swaps in accumulated other comprehensive income

loss

We have entered into foreign currency contracts to manage exposure to changes in foreign currencies associated with

receivables payables and intercompany transactions These foreign currency contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting

treatment As result the changes in fair values of the foreign currency contracts were recorded in selling general and

administrative expense in our consolidated statements of operations

We do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative purposes We require that the hedges or derivative financial

instruments be effective in managing the interest rate risk or foreign currency risk exposure that they are designated to hedge

Hedges that qualify for hedge accounting are formally designated as such at the inception of the contract When the terms of an

underlying transaction are modified or when the underlying hedged item ceases to exist resulting in some ineffectiveness the

change in the fair value of the derivative instrument will be included in earnings Additionally any derivative instrument used

for risk management that becomes ineffective is marked-to-market each period We believe that our credit risk has been

mitigated by entering into these agreements with major financial institutions Net interest differentials to be paid or received

under our interest rate swaps are included in interest expense as incurred or earned

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk We maintain cash and cash

equivalent balances with financial institutions that in some cases are in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

insurance limits or that are deposited in foreign institutions

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider cash and highly liquid investments such as money market funds with an original maturity of three months

or less to be cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates or equals fair value

due to their short-term nature

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Our accounts receivable are reflected in our consolidated balance sheets net of an allowance for doubtful accounts We

provide for estimated bad debts based on our assessment of our ability to realize receivables considering historical collection

experience the general economic environment and specific customer information When we determine that receivable is not

collectable the account is charged to expense in our consolidated statements of operations Bad debt
expense

is recorded in

selling general and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of operations Bad debt expense was not significant

for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2010 and we recorded bad debt expense of $0.3 million for the year ended

December 31 2011
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Property and Equipmens Net

Property and equipment is recorded at cost net of accumulated depreciation We depreciate property and equipment over

their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method The estimated useful lives by asset category are

Asset Cateeory Estimated Useful Life

Leasehold improvements Shorter of assets useful life or non-cancellable lease term

Capitalized software 10 years

Furniture fixtures and equipment years

We capitalize the costs of software developed for internal use when the preliminary project stage of the application has

been completed and it is probable that the project will be completed and used to perform the function intended Depreciation

commences when the software is placed into service

We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying value of our long-lived assets including property and equipment and

finite-lived intangible assets when circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be fully recoverable

This analysis is performed by comparing the carrying values of the assets to the expected undiscounted future cash flows to be

generated from these assets including estimated sales proceeds when appropriate If this analysis indicates that the carrying

value of an asset is not recoverable the carrying value is reduced to fair value through an impairment charge in our

consolidated statements of operations

Goodwill Trademarks and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the underlying assets acquired and

liabilities assumed in the acquisition of business We assign goodwill to reporting units that are expected to benefit from the

business combination as of the acquisition date Goodwill is not subject to amortization

Our indefinite-lived intangible assets include our trademarks and trade names which are not subject to amortization Our

fmite-lived intangible assets primarily include our customer and vendor relationships and are amortized over their estimated

useful lives generally to years using the straight-line method Our intangible assets primarily relate to the acquisition of

entities accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and are estimated by management based on the fair value of

assets received

We assess the carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually or more

frequently whenever events occur and circumstances change indicating potential impairment We perform our annual

impairment testing of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31

We assess goodwill for possible impairment using two-step process The first step identifies if there is potential

goodwill impairment If the step one analysis indicates that impairment may exist step two analysis is performed to measure

the amount of the goodwill impairment if any Goodwill impairment exists when the estimated fair value of goodwill is less

than its carrying value If impairment exists the carrying value of the goodwill is reduced to fair value through an impairment

charge in our consolidated statements of operations

For purposes of goodwill impairment testing we estimate the fair value of our reporting units to which goodwill is

allocated using generally accepted valuation methodologies including market and income based approaches and relevant data

available through and as of the testing date The market approach is valuation method in which fair value is estimated based

on observed prices in actual transactions and on asking prices for similar assets Under the market approach the valuation

process is essentially that of comparison and correlation between the subject asset and other similar assets The income

approach is method in which fair value is estimated based on the cash flows that an asset could be expected to generate over

its useful life including residual value cash flows These cash flows are then discounted to their present value equivalents using

rate of return that accounts for the relative risk of not realizing the estimated annual cash flows and for the time value of

money Variations of the income approach are used to estimate certain of the intangible asset fair values

We assess our trademarks and trade names for impairment by comparing their carrying values to their estimated fair

values Impairment exists when the estimated fair value of the trademark or trade name is less than its carrying value If

impairment exists then the carrying value is reduced to fair value through an impairment charge in our consolidated statements
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of operations We use market or income based valuation approach or combination of both to estimate fair values of the

relevant trademarks and trade names

Restricted Cash

In order to collateralize the multi-currency letter of credit facility secured in 2012 and bank guarantees as well as for other

general business purposes we have funds deposited as restricted cash

Tax Sharing Liability

We have liability included in our consolidated balance sheets that relates to tax sharing agreement between Orbitz

and the Founding Airlines The agreement governs the allocation of tax benefits resulting from taxable exchange that took

place in connection with the Orbitz initial public offering in December 2003 Orbitz IPO As result of this taxable

exchange the Founding Airlines incurred taxable gain The taxable exchange caused Orbitz to have additional future tax

deductions for depreciation and amortization due to the increased tax basis of its assets The additional tax deductions for

depreciation and amortization may reduce the amount of taxes we are required to pay in future years For each tax period

during the term of the tax sharing agreement we are obligated to pay the Founding Airlines significant percentage of the

amount of the tax benefit realized as result of the taxable exchange The tax sharing agreement commenced upon

consummation of the Orbitz IPO and continues until all tax benefits have been utilized

We use discounted cash flows in calculating and recognizing the tax sharing liability We review the calculation of the

tax sharing liability on quarterly basis and make revisions to our estimated timing of payments when appropriate We also

assess whether there are any significant changes such as changes in the amount of payments and tax rates that could materially

affect the present value of the tax sharing liability Although the expected gross remaining payments that may be due under this

agreement were $123.9 million as of December 31 2012 the timing and amount of payments may change Any changes in

timing of payments are recognized prospectively as accretions to the tax sharing liability in our consolidated balance sheets and

non-cash interest expense in our consolidated statements of operations Any changes in the amount of payments are recognized

in selling general and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of operations

At the time of the Blackstone Acquisition Cendant now Avis Budget Group Inc indemnified Travelport and us for

portion of the amounts due under the tax sharing agreement As result we recorded $37.0 million long-term asset which

was included in other non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31 2010 During 2011 we wrote off

this asset and the corresponding portion of the tax sharing liability see Note Tax Sharing Liability for further details

Equity-Based Compensation

We measure equity-based compensation cost at fair value and recognize the corresponding compensation expense over

the service period during which awards are expected to vest We include equity-based compensation in selling general and

administrative expense in our consolidated statements of operations The fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units

is determined based on the average of the high and low price of our common stock on the date of grant The fair value of stock

options is determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model The amount of equity-based compensation

expense recorded each period is net of estimated forfeitures based on historical forfeiture rates

Hotel Occupancy Taxes

Some states and localities impose tax on the use or occupancy of hotel accommodations hotel occupancy tax
Generally hotels collect hotel occupancy tax based on the amount of money they receive for renting their hotel rooms and

remit the tax to the appropriate taxing authorities Using the travel services our websites offer customers are able to make hotel

room reservations While applicable tax laws
vary among different taxing jurisdictions we generally believe that these laws do

not require us to collect and remit hotel occupancy tax on the compensation that we receive for our travel services Some tax

authorities have initiated lawsuits or administrative proceedings asserting that we are required to collect and remit hotel

occupancy tax on the amount of money we receive from customers for facilitating their reservations The ultimate resolution of

these lawsuits and proceedings in all jurisdictions cannot be determined at this time We establish an accrual for legal

proceedings tax or otherwise when we determine that loss is both probable and can be reasonably estimated See Note

Commitments and Contingencies
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued guidance to allow companies the option of

performing qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill If

entities determine on the basis of qualitative factors that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is more likely

than not greater than the carrying amount further testing of the indefinite-lived intangible asset for impairment would not be

performed This guidance does not change how indefinite-lived intangible assets are calculated nor does it revise the

requirement to test indefinite-lived intangible assets annually for impairment The guidance is effective for annual and interim

impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15 2012

In February 2013 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2013-02 Reporting of Amounts

Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income ASU 20 13-02 improves the reporting of reclassifications out

of accumulated other comprehensive income by requiring an entity to report their corresponding effects on net income This

pronouncement is effective for fiscal years
and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15 2012 The

adoption of this guidance is not anticipated to have an effect on our consolidated financial position results of operations or

cash flows

Property and Equipment Net

Property and equipment net consisted of the following

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

in thousands

Capitalized software 322466 285277

Furniture fixtures and equipment 81516 78157

Leasehold improvements 13873 13650

Construction in progress 12307 13868

Gross property and equipment 430162 390952

Less accumulated depreciation 297618 249250

Property and equipment net 132544 141702

We recorded depreciation expense
related to property and equipment in the amount of $55.3 million $57.0 million and

$61.7 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

There were no assets subject to capital leases at December 31 2012 or 2011

As result of our decision to migrate HotelClub to the global technology platform we recorded $4.5 million non-cash

charge during the year
ended December 31 2010 to impair HotelClub capitalized software This charge was included in

impairment of property and equipment and other assets in our consolidated statements of operations The remaining capitalized

software balance at HoteiClub following this charge was not material

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were as follows

Amount

in thousands

Balance at January 12011 net of accumulated impairment of $500952 677964

Impairment 29762

Impact of foreign currency translation 902
Balance at December 31 2011 net of accumulated impairment of $530714 647300

Impairment 301912

Balance at December 31 2012 net of accumulated impairment of $832626 345388
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Trademarks and trade names which are not subject to amortization totaled $90.8 million and $108.2 million as of

December 31 2012 and 2011

Impairment of Goodwill and Trademarks and Trade Names

2012

As of the year ended December 31 2012 we performed our annual impairment test of goodwill trademarks and trade

names

We estimated the fair value of our reporting units to which goodwill is allocated using generally accepted valuation

methodologies including market and income based approaches and relevant data available through and as of December 31
2012 We used the income based approach to estimate the fair value of our reporting units that had goodwill balances and used

the market approach to corroborate these estimates We considered the market approach from reasonableness standpoint by

comparing the multiples of guideline companies with the implied multiples from the income based approach and we also

considered our market capitalization to assess reasonableness of the income based approach valuations The key assumptions

used in determining the estimated fair value of our reporting units were the terminal growth rates forecasted cash flows and the

discount rates

As of December 31 2012 we used an income based valuation approach to separately estimate the fair values of all of our

trademarks and trade names and compared those estimates to the respective carrying values The key assumptions used in

determining the estimated fair value of our trademarks and trade names were the terminal growth rates forecasted revenues

assumed royalty rates and discount rates Significant judgment was required to select these inputs based on observed market

data

In connection with our annual impairment test as of December 31 2012 and as result of lower than expected

performance and future cash flows for the Americas reporting unit we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $319.5

million during the year ended December 31 2012 of which $301.9 million was related to the goodwill of the Americas

reporting unit and $17.6 million was related to the trademarks and trade names associated with Orbitz and CheapTickets These

charges were included in impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in our consolidated statements of operations

2011

During the year ended December 31 2011 we performed our annual impairment test of goodwill and trademark and

trade names as of October 2011 and December 31 2011

We estimated the fair value of our reporting units to which goodwill is allocated using generally accepted valuation

methodologies including market and income based approaches and relevant data available through and as of October 2011

We used the income based approach to estimate the fair value of our reporting units that had goodwill balances and used the

market approach to corroborate these estimates We considered the market approach from reasonableness standpoint by

comparing the multiples of guideline companies with the implied multiples from the income based approach and we also

considered our market capitalization to assess reasonableness of the income based approach valuations The key assumptions

used in determining the estimated fair value of our reporting units were the terminal growth rates forecasted cash flows and the

discount rates

We used an income based valuation approach to separately estimate the fair values of all of our trademarks and trade

names as of October 2011 and compared those estimates to the respective carrying values The key assumptions used in

determining the estimated fair value of our trademarks and trade names were the terminal growth rates forecasted revenues

assumed royalty rates and discount rates Significant judgment was required to select these inputs based on observed market

data

In connection with our annual impairment test as of October 2011 and as result of lower than expected performance

and future cash flows for Orbitz and HoteiClub we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $49.9 million during the year

ended December 31 2011 of which $29.8 million was related to the goodwill of HotelClub and $20.1 million was related to

the trademarks and trade names associated with Orbitz and HotelCiub These charges were included in impairment of goodwill

and intangible assets in our consolidated statements of operations
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During the year
ended December 31 2011 we changed our annual testing date from October to December 31 In

connection with our annual impairment test as of December 31 2011 which utilized the same approach as our October 2011

analysis no further impairment was identified

2010

During the year ended December 31 2010 we performed our annual impairment test of goodwill and trademark and

trade names as of October 2010

We estimated the fair value of our reporting units to which goodwill is allocated using generally accepted valuation

methodologies including market and income based approaches as described above and relevant data available through and as

of October 2010 The key assumptions used in determining the estimated fair value of our reporting units were the terminal

growth rates forecasted cash flows and the discount rates

We used an income based valuation approach to separately estimate the fair values of all of our trademarks and trade

names as of October 2010 and compared those estimates to the respective carrying values The key assumptions used in

determining the estimated fair value of our trademarks and trade names were the terminal growth rates forecasted revenues

assumed royalty rates and the discount rates Significant judgment was required to select these inputs based on observed market

data

In connection with our annual impairment test and as result of lower than expected performance and forecasted cash

flows for HotelClub and CheapTickets we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $70.2 million during the year ended

December 31 2010 of which $41.8 million was related to the goodwill of HotelClub and $28.4 million was related to the

trademarks and trade names associated with HotelClub and CheapTickets These charges were included in impairment of

goodwill and intangible assets in our consolidated statements of operations

Finite-Lived Intangibles

Finite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

in thousands in thousands

Customer relationships 8000 5375 2625

Vendor relationships 5447 4617 830 5379 3842 1537

Totalfinite-livedintangibleassets 5447 4617 830 13379 9217 4162

In 2012 we recorded non-cash impairment charge of $1.6 million related to finite-lived intangible assets This charge

was included in impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in our consolidated statements of operations There are no

significant finite-lived intangible assets remaining

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recorded amortization
expense

related to fmite-lived

intangible assets in the amount of $1.7 million $3.5 million and $11.2 million respectively These amounts were included in

depreciation and amortization expense in our consolidated statements of operations

The estimated amortization expense related to our finite-lived intangible assets will be $0.7 million and $0.1 million for

the years ended December 31 2013 and 2014 respectively
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Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following

December 312012 December 31 2011

in thousands

Advertising and marketing 30530 26461

Tax sharing liability see Note 15226 20579

Employee costs 13026 21220

Contract exit costs 10939 10017

Professional fees 10425 6458

Customer service costs 9906 8337

Technology costs 7017 5406

Customer refunds 5383 5328

Customer incentive costs 4704 2861

Unfavorable contracts see Note 3580 4440

Airline rebates 3428 4534

Other 4165 5321

Total accrued expenses 118329 120962

In connection with the early termination of an agreement with Trilegiant Corporation now Affinion Group in 2007 we

accrued termination payments for the period from January 2008 to December 31 2016 We made termination

payments of $0 $0 and $1.1 million during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 see Note

Commitments and Contingencies At December 31 2012 and 2011 the liabilitys carrying value of $11.7 million was

included in our consolidated balance sheets $10.9 million of which was included in accrued expenses and $0.8 million

of which was included in other non-current liabilities at December 31 2012 and $10.0 million of which was included in

accrued expenses and $1.7 million of which was included in other non-current liabilities at December 31 2011 We
accreted interest expense of $0 $0.6 million and $1.0 million related to the termination liability for the years ended

December 31 20122011 and 2010

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

On July 25 2007 we entered into $685.0 million senior secured credit agreement the Credit Agreement consisting

of seven-year $600.0 million term loan facility the Term Loan and six-year $85.0 million revolving credit facility which

was effectively reduced to $72.5 million revolving credit facility following the bankruptcy of Lehman Commercial Paper Inc

in October 2008 the Revolver

Term Loan

The Term Loan bears interest at variable rate at our option of LIBOR plus margin of 300 basis points or an

alternative base rate plus margin of 200 basis points The alternative base rate is equal to the higher of the Federal Funds Rate

plus one half of 1% and the prime rate The principal amount of the Term Loan is payable in quarterly installments of $1.3

million with the final installment equal to the remaining outstanding balance due upon maturity in July 2014 In addition we

are required to make an annual prepayment on the Term Loan in the first quarter of each fiscal year in an amount up to 50% of

the prior years excess cash flow as defined in the Credit Agreement Based on our excess cash flow for the year ended

December 31 2011 we made $32.2 million prepayment on the Term Loan in the first quarter of 2012 Based on our excess

cash flow for the year ended December 31 2012 we are required to make $24.7 million prepayment on the Term Loan in the

first quarter of 2013 Prepayments from excess cash flow are applied in order of maturity to the scheduled quarterly Term

Loan principal payments Due to the total excess cash flow payments that we have made we are not required to make any

scheduled principal payments on the Term Loan for the remainder of its term The non-current balance of $415.3 million is

required to be paid in 2014 as part of the prepayment from excess cash flow in the first quarter of 2014 or as the final

installment due at maturity in July 2014
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The changes in the Term Loan during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were as follows

Amount

in thousands

Balance at January 2011 current and non-current 492021

Prepayment from excess cash flow 19808

Balance at December 31 2011 current and non-current 472213

Prepayment from excess cash flow 32183

Balance at December 31 2012 current and non-current 440030

At December 31 2012 $100.0 million of the Term Loan had fixed interest rate as result of interest rate swaps and

$340.0 million had variable interest rate based on LIBOR resulting in blended weighted-average interest rate of 3.32% see

Note 12 Derivative Financial Instruments At December 31 2011 $300.0 million of the Term Loan had fixed interest rate

as result of interest rate swaps and $172.2 million had variable interest rate based on LIBOR resulting in blended

weighted-average interest rate of 3.81%

On January 26 2010 pursuant to an Exchange Agreement we entered into with PAR Investment Partners L.P PAR
as amended PAR exchanged $49.6 million aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan for 8141402 shares of our common

stock We immediately retired the portion of the Term Loan purchased from PAR in accordance with the Amendment The fair

value of our common shares issued in the exchange was $49.4 million After taking into account the write-off of unamortized

debt issuance costs of $0.4 million and $0.2 million of other miscellaneous fees incurred to purchase this portion of the Term

Loan we recorded $0.4 million loss on extinguishment of this portion of the Term Loan which was included in other income

in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31 2010 Concurrently pursuant to Stock Purchase

Agreement we entered into with Travelport Travelport purchased 9025271 shares of our common stock for $50.0 million in

cash We incurred $1.1 million of issuance costs associated with these equity investments by PAR and Travelport which were

included in additional paid in capital in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31 2010

Revolver

The Revolver provides for borrowings and letters of credit of up to $72.5 million $42.6 million in U.S dollars and the

equivalent of $29.9 million denominated in Euros and Pounds sterling and at December 31 2012 bears interest at variable

rate at our option of LIBOR plus margin of 200 basis points or the alternative base rate plus margin of 100 basis points

The margin is subject to change based on our total leverage ratio as defined in the Credit Agreement with maximum margin

of 250 basis points on LIBOR-based loans and 150 basis points on Alternative Base Rate loans We incur commitment fee of

50 basis points on any unused amounts on the Revolver The Revolver matures in July 2013

At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were no outstanding borrowings under the Revolver and the equivalent of $11.2

million and $10.8 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the Revolver respectively see Note Commitments

and Contingencies The amount of letters of credit issued under the Revolver reduces the amount available for borrowings

Due to the letters of credit issued under the Revolver we had $61.3 million and $61.7 million of availability at December 31

2012 and 2011 respectively Commitment fees on unused amounts under the Revolver were $0.3 million for each of the years

ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010

Credit Agreement Terms

We incurred an aggregate of $5.0 million of debt issuance costs in connection with the Term Loan and Revolver These

costs are being amortized to interest expense over the contractual terms of the Term Loan and Revolver based on the effective-

yield method Amortization of debt issuance costs was $0.6 million $0.6 million and $0.7 million for the years
ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The Term Loan and Revolver are both secured by substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries tangible and intangible

assets including pledge of 100% of the outstanding capital stock or other equity interests of substantially all of our direct and

indirect domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the capital stock or other equity interests of certain of our foreign subsidiaries

subject to certain exceptions The Term Loan and Revolver are also guaranteed by substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries
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The Credit Agreement contains various customary restrictive covenants that limit our ability to among other things

incur additional indebtedness or enter into guarantees enter into sale and leaseback transactions make investments loans or

acquisitions grant or incur liens on our assets sell our assets engage in mergers consolidations liquidations or dissolutions

engage in transactions with affiliates and make restricted payments

The Credit Agreement requires us to maintain minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and not to exceed maximum

total leverage ratio each as defined in the Credit Agreement The minimum fixed charge coverage ratio that we are required to

maintain for the remainder of the Credit Agreement is to The maximum total leverage ratio that we were required not to

exceed was 3.5 to at December 31 2010 and declined to 3.0 to effective March 31 2011 As of December 31 2012 we
were in compliance with all fmancial covenants and conditions of the Credit Agreement

Tax Sharing Liability

We have liability included in our consolidated balance sheets that relates to tax sharing agreement between Orbitz and

the Founding Airlines The agreement governs the allocation of tax benefits resulting from taxable exchange that took place in

connection with the Orbitz IPO in December 2003 As result of this taxable exchange the Founding Airlines incurred

taxable gain The taxable exchange caused Orbitz to have additional future tax deductions for depreciation and amortization due

to the increased tax basis of its assets The additional tax deductions for depreciation and amortization may reduce the amount

of taxes we are required to pay in future years For each tax period while the tax sharing agreement is in effect we are obligated

to pay the Founding Airlines significant percentage of the amount of the tax benefit realized as result of the taxable

exchange The tax sharing agreement commenced upon consummation of the Orbitz IPO and continues until all tax benefits

have been utilized

As of December 31 2012 the estimated remaining payments that may be due under this agreement were approximately

$123.9 million We estimated that the net present value of our obligation to pay tax benefits to the Founding Airlines was $86.1

million and $89.0 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively This estimate was based upon certain assumptions

including our future taxable income the tax rate the timing of tax payments current and projected market conditions and the

applicable discount rate all of which we believe are reasonable These assumptions are inherently uncertain however and

actual amounts may differ from these estimates

The changes in the tax sharing liability for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were as follows

Amount

in thousands

Balance at January 2011 current and non-current 121358

Accretion of interest expense 13525

Cash payments 8847
Other 37046

Balance at December 31 2011 current and non-current 88990

Accretion of interest expense 12556

Cash payments 15408
Balance at December 31 2012 current and non-current 86138

At the time of the Blackstone Acquisition Cendant now Avis Budget Group Inc indemnified Travelport and us for

portion of the amounts probable of becoming due under the tax sharing agreement the Cendant Indemnity As

result we recorded non-current asset of $37.0 million for this indemnity which served to offset $37.0 million of the

remaining tax sharing liability due to the Founding Airlines During 2011 we were relieved of $4.6 million of the tax

sharing liability due to certain payments made by Avis Budget Group Inc to the Founding Airlines We further reduced

each of the non-current asset and the tax sharing liability by $32.4 million due to our determination that no further tax

benefit related to the Cendant Indemnity was probable of being realized The total reduction to other non-current assets

of $37.0 million during 2011 had no net impact on our consolidated statements of operations or cash flows for the year

ended December 31 2011

Based upon the estimated timing of future payments we expect to make the current portion of the tax sharing liability of

$15.2 million and $20.6 million was included in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31 2012 and
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2011 respectively The long-term portion of the tax sharing liability of $70.9 million and $68.4 million was reflected as the tax

sharing liability in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively Our estimated payments under

the tax sharing agreement are as follows

in thousands

2013 15953

2014 11007

2015 12983

2016 17851

2017 36417

Thereafter 29714

Total 123925

Unfavorable Contracts

In December 2003 we entered into amended and restated airline charter associate agreements Charter Associate

Agreements with the Founding Airlines as well as US Airways collectively the Charter Associate Airlines These

agreements pertain to our Orbitz business which was owned by the Founding Airlines at the time we entered into the

agreements Under each Charter Associate Agreement the Charter Associate Airline has agreed to provide Orbitz with

information regarding the airlines flight schedules published air fares and seat availability at no charge and with the same

frequency and at the same time as this information is provided to the airlines own website or to website branded and operated

by the airline and any of its alliance partners or to the airlines internal reservation system The agreements also provide Orbitz

with nondiscriminatory access to seat availability for published fares as well as marketing and promotional support Under

each agreement the Charter Associate Airline provides us with agreed upon transaction payments when consumers book air

travel on the Charter Associate Airline on Orbitz.com

Under the Charter Associate Agreements we must pay portion of the GDS incentive revenue we earn from Worldspan

back to the Charter Associate Airlines in the form of rebate The rebate payments are required when airline tickets for travel

on Charter Associate Airline are booked through our Orbitz.com and OrbitzforBusiness.com websites utilizing Worldspan

We also receive in-kind marketing and promotional support from the Charter Associate Airlines under the Charter Associate

Agreements

The rebate structure under the Charter Associate Agreements was considered unfavorable when compared with market

conditions at the time of the Blackstone Acquisition As result net unfavorable contract liability was established on the

acquisition date The amount of this liability was determined based on the discounted cash flows of the expected future rebate

payments we would be required to make to the Charter Associate Airlines net of the fair value of the expected in-kind

marketing and promotional support we would receive from the Charter Associate Airlines The portion of the net unfavorable

contract liability related to the expected future rebate payments is amortized as an increase to net revenue whereas the partially

offsetting amount for the expected in-kind marketing and promotional support is amortized as an increase to marketing expense

in our consolidated statements of operations both on straight-line basis over the remaining estimated contractual term

The changes in the net unfavorable contract liability for the years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were as follows

Amount

in thousands

Balance at January 2011 current and non-current 10558

Amortization 1678

Balance at December 31 2011 current and non-current 8880

Amortization 4082

Otherb 1218

Balance at December 31 2012 current 3580

We recognized net amortization of $4.1 million $6.7 million was recorded as an increase to net revenue and $2.6

million was recorded as an increase to marketing expense for the year ended December 31 2012 and $1.7 million $7.5
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million was recorded as an increase to net revenue and $5.8 million was recorded as an increase to marketing expense

for the year ended December 31 2011 and $9.2 million $14.7 million was recorded as an increase to net revenue and

$5.5 million was recorded as an increase to marketing expense for the year ended December 31 2010

For the year ended December 31 2012 we reduced the unfavorable contract liability by $1.2 million due to the

negotiation of new agreement with one of our airline suppliers which resulted in the termination of the Charter

Associate Agreement with this airline The $1.2 million reduction in the liability was comprised of $2.6 million non-

cash increase to net revenue and $1.4 million non-cash charge related to the in-kind marketing and promotional support

that we expected to receive under the former agreement The impairment charge was included in the impairment of

property and equipment and other assets line item in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended

December 31 2012

The current portion of the liability of $3.6 million and $4.4 million was included in accrued expenses in our consolidated

balance sheets at December 31 2012 and 2011 The Charter Associate Agreements expire December 31 2013 and the $4.4

million non-current portion of the agreement was reflected as unfavorable contracts in our consolidated balance sheets at

December 31 2011

Commitments and Contingencies

The following table summarizes the timing of our commitments as of December 31 2012

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

in thousands

Contract exit costs $11246 647 278 63 12234

Operating leases 7045 5843 3431 3112 2936 $14896 37263

Travelport GDS contract 34762 20000 54762

Other service and licensing contracts 11996 9657 21653

Total $65049 $36147 3709 3175 2936 $14896 125912

Represents disputed costs due to the early termination of an agreement see Note and Company Litigation section below

for further details

These operating leases are primarily for facilities and equipment and represent non-cancellable leases Certain leases

contain periodic rent escalation adjustments and renewal options Our operating leases expire at various dates with the

latest maturing in 2023 For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recorded rent expense in the amount

of $6.2 million $7.4 million and $6.1 million respectively As result of various subleasing arrangements that we have

entered into we are expecting approximately $2.6 million in sublease income through 2015

We have an agreement with Travelport to use GDS services provided by both Galileo and Worldspan the Travelport

GDS Service Agreement The Travelport GDS Service Agreement is structured such that we earn incentive revenue for

each segment that is processed through the Worldspan and Galileo GDSs the Travelport GDSs This agreement

requires that we process certain minimum number of segments for our domestic brands through the Travelport GDSs

each year Our domestic brands were required to process total of 31.4 million segments during the year ended

December 31 2012 16.0 million segments through Worldspan and 15.4 million segments through Galileo The required

number of segments processed annually for Worldspan is fixed at 16.0 million segments while the required number of

segments for Galileo is subject to adjustment based upon the actual segments processed by our domestic brands in the

preceding year We are required to process approximately 11.8 million segments through Galileo during the year ending

December 31 2013 Our failure to process at least 95% of these segments through the Travelport GDSs would result in

shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment below the required minimum We are not subject to these minimum volume

thresholds to the extent that we process all eligible segments through the Travelport GDS Historically we have met the

minimum segment requirement for our domestic brands The table above includes shortfall payments required by the

agreement if we do not process any segments through Worldspan during the remainder of the contract term and shortfall

payments required if we do not process any segments through Galileo during the year ending December 31 2013

Because the required number of segments for Galileo adjusts based on the actual segments processed in the preceding

year we are unable to predict shortfall payments that may be required beyond 2013 However we do not expect to make

any shortfall payments for our domestic brands in the foreseeable future
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The Travelport GDS Service Agreement also requires that ebookers use the Travelport GDSs exclusively in certain

countries for segments processed through GDSs in Europe Our failure to process at least 95% of these segments through

the Travelport GDSs would result in shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment for each segment processed through an

alternative GDS provider We failed to meet this minimum segment requirement during each of the years ended December

31 2011 and 2010 and as result we were required to make shortfall payments of $0.4 million to Travelport related to

each of these years There was not shortfall for the year ended December 31 2012 Because the required number of

segments to be processed through the Travelport GDSs is dependent on the actual segments processed by ebookers in

certain countries in given year we are unable to predict shortfall payments that may be required As result the table

above excludes any shortfall payments that may be required related to our ebookers brands If we meet the minimum

number of segments we are not required to make shortfall payments to Travelport see Note 15 Related Party

Transactions

In addition to the commitments shown above we are required to make principal payments on the Term Loan see

Note Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility We also expect to make approximately $123.9 million of payments in

connection with the tax sharing agreement with the Founding Airlines see Note Tax Sharing Liability Also excluded from

the above table are $4.1 million of liabilities for uncertain tax positions for which the period of settlement is not currently

determinable

Company Litigation

We are involved in various claims legal proceedings and governmental inquiries related to contract disputes business

practices intellectual property and other commercial employment and tax matters

We are party to various cases brought by consumers and municipalities and other state and local governmental entities in

the U.S involving hotel occupancy or related taxes and our merchant hotel business model Some of the cases are class actions

some of which have been confirmed on state-wide basis and some which are purported and most of the cases were brought

simultaneously against other online travel companies including Expedia Travelocity and Priceline The cases allege among

other things that we violated the jurisdictions hotel occupancy tax ordinances While not identical in their allegations the

cases generally assert similar claims including violations of local or state occupancy tax ordinances sales and use tax

violations of consumer protection ordinances conversion unjust enrichment imposition of constructive trust demand for

legal or equitable accounting injunctive relief declaratory judgment and in some cases civil conspiracy The plaintiffs seek

relief in variety of forms including declaratory judgment full accounting of monies owed imposition of constructive trust

compensatory and punitive damages disgorgement restitution interest penalties and costs attorneys fees and where class

action has been claimed an order certifying the action as class action An adverse ruling in one or more of these cases could

require us to pay tax retroactively and prospectively and possibly pay penalties interest and fines The proliferation of

additional cases could result in substantial additional defense costs

We have also been contacted by several municipalities or other taxing bodies concerning our possible obligations with

respect to state or local hotel occupancy or related taxes The following taxing bodies have issued notices to the Company the

Montana Department of Revenue the Kentucky Department of Revenue an entity representing 84 cities and 14 counties in

Alabama 43 cities in California the cities of Paradise Valley and Phoenix Arizona North Little Rock and Pine Bluff

Arkansas Aurora Broomfield Colorado Springs Golden Greenwood Village Lakewood Littleton Loveland and Steamboat

Springs Colorado Columbia and North Charleston South Carolina and the counties of Jefferson Arkansas Arlington Texas

Brunswick and Stanly North Carolina Duval Florida Davis Summit Salt Lake and Weber Utah and Aiken and Jasper

South Carolina These taxing authorities have not issued assessments but have requested information to conduct an audit and

or have requested that the Company register to pay local hotel occupancy taxes

Assessments or declaratory rulings that are administratively final and subject to judicial review have been issued by the

cities of Los Angeles San Francisco and San Diego California the city of Denver Colorado the counties of Miami-Dade and

Broward Florida the Indiana Department of Revenue the Hawaii Department of Taxation the Wisconsin Department of

Revenue and the Wyoming Department of Revenue In addition the following taxing authorities have issued assessments

which are subject to further review by the taxing authorities the Colorado Department of Revenue the City of Aurora

Colorado the Maryland Comptroller the Texas Comptroller the West Virginia Department of Revenue the South Carolina

Department of Revenue Lake County Indiana the City of Portland Oregon and Osceola Florida In December 2012 the City

of Philadelphia Pennsylvania withdrew its assessment The Company disputes that any hotel occupancy or related tax is owed

under these ordinances and is challenging the assessments made against the Company These assessments range from $0.02

million to approximately $58 million and total approximately $80 million Some of these assessments including $58 million
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assessment from the Hawaii Department of Taxation are not based on historical transaction data If the Company is found to be

subject to the hotel occupancy tax ordinance by taxing authority and appeals the decision in court certain jurisdictions may

attempt to require us to provide financial security or pay the assessment to the municipality in order to challenge the tax

assessment in court

The online travel companies including Orbitz have prevailed in the large majority of hotel tax cases that have been

decided to date However there have been three adverse court decisions against Orbitz and the other online travel companies

that if affirmed could result in significant liability to the Company Each of these decisions is addressed below

First in July 2011 related to the City of San Antonio hotel occupancy tax case the United States District Court for the

Western District of Texas issued its findings of fact and conclusions of law in which it held the defendant online travel

companies including Orbitz liable for hotel occupancy taxes on markup fees and breakage revenue and also imposed

penalties and interest The online travel companies asked the court to modify its findings of fact and conclusions of law to

conform to the Texas Court of Appeals decision in the City of Houston case which determined that the online travel companies

are not liable under an ordinance that is similar to the ones at issue in the San Antonio class action On January 23 2013 the

Court denied the online travel companies motion We expect the Court to enter judgment shortly We expect the amount of

judgment to be approximately $3.5 million against Orbitz Orbitz intends to appeal the decision after the Court enters judgment

Because we do not believe loss is probable given the numerous issues that exist on appeal we have not accrued any liability

related to this case

Second in September 2012 the Superior Court of the District of Columbia granted the Districts motion for partial

summary judgment and denied the online travel companies motion for summary judgment fmding the companies liable for

sales tax on hotel reservations dating back to the inception of the merchant model The Court has not yet determined the

amount of damages at issue Although the Court acknowledged that the District had amended its law in 2011 and that the sales

tax law was ambiguous prior to that time the Court nonetheless found the online travel companies liable for merchant model

hotel reservations before that date Because the Courts finding of ambiguity is inconsistent with determination that the online

travel companies are liable we do not believe loss is probable relating to the pre-amendment case and plan to appeal

Accordingly we have not accrued any liability relating to the District of Columbia case for the period prior to 2011 Although

the Company expects to prevail on this issue it is possible that we will not prevail and if that occurs we estimate that the

amount of the judgments the Company would be required to pay could amount to approximately $3.5 million

Third in January 2013 the Tax Court of Appeals in Hawaii issued an oral ruling in which it held that the online travel

companies are subject to Hawaiis general excise tax The Court also determined that the splitting provision contained in the

Hawaii excise tax statute does not apply to the transactions at issue That provision limits application of the excise tax only to

the amounts that travel agents receive for their services On February 2013 the court entered an order in which it found that

Orbitz is required to pay approximately $16.5 million The Court has scheduled further proceedings relating to whether

penalties will be awarded Although Orbitz disagrees with the Courts decision and intends to appeal it we have established

reserve of $3.5 million in light of the decision The $3.5 million reserve represents the amounts Orbitz estimates it would owe if

the Court had correctly applied the general excise tax splitting provision on merchant reservations Orbitz has not reserved for

the remainder of the ruling because it believes that the general excise tax splitting provision plainly applies to the transactions

in question Although we believe that it is not probable Orbitz ultimately will be liable for more than $3.5 million as result of

the Courts order it is possible that Orbitz will not prevail and if it does not the amount of any fmal award against Orbitz could

exceed $16.5 million Under Hawaii law Orbitz must pay the total amount of any final award to Hawaii prior to appealing the

Courts order We intend to appeal and in order to do that it is likely that we will be required to pay the full amount of the

Courts order by mid-year 2013

In an unrelated matter Trilegiant Corporation filed an action for breach of contract and declaratory judgment in the

Supreme Court of New York against us alleging that we are obligated to make series of termination payments arising out of

promotion agreement that we terminated in 2007 In 2007 we accrued the present value of the termination payments and as of

December 31 2012 we had remaining accrual totaling $11.7 million which was included within accrued expenses
and other

long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet in 2010 in connection with dispute with Trilegiant we ceased making

termination payments

On August 20 2012 putative consumer class action was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern

District of California against hotel chains and the major online travel companies including Orbitz The complaint alleges that

hotel chains and several major online travel companies including Orbitz have violated the antitrust and consumer protection

laws by entering into agreements in which online travel companies agree not to facilitate the reservation of hotel rooms at
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prices that are less than what the hotel chain offers on its own website Following the filing of the initial complaint on August

20 2012 several dozen additional putative consumer class action complaints have been filed in federal courts across the

country We expect that these cases will be consolidated in single forum later this year We cannot estimate range of our

potential loss if we do not prevail in this litigation

We believe that we have meritorious defenses and we are vigorously defending against these claims proceedings and

inquiries At December 31 2012 and 2011 we had $5.2 million and $0.9 million accrual related to various legal proceedings

respectively Litigation is inherently unpredictable and although we believe we have valid defenses in these matters

unfavorable resolutions could occur We cannot estimate our aggregate range of loss in the cases for which we have not

recorded an accrual except to the extent taxing authorities have issued assessments against us Although we believe it is

unlikely that an adverse outcome will result from these proceedings an adverse outcome could be material to us with respect to

earnings or cash flows in any given reporting period

During the
years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we recorded reduction to selling general and

administrative expense of $5.0 million $2.5 million and $6.3 million in our consolidated statements of operations related to

insurance reimbursements received for costs incurred to defend the hotel occupancy tax cases We will not receive any

additional insurance reimbursements in future periods as our related insurance coverage has now been exhausted

Surety Bonds and Bank Guarantees

In the ordinary course of business we obtain surety bonds and bank guarantees to secure performance of certain of our

obligations to third parties At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were $3.6 million and $3.2 million of surety bonds

outstanding respectively of which $3.1 million and $2.7 million were secured by letters of credit respectively At

December 31 2012 and 2011 there were $9.4 million and $1.6 million of bank guarantees outstanding All bank guarantees

were secured by restricted cash at December 31 2012 and 2011

Financing Arrangements

We are required to issue letters of credit to support certain suppliers commercial agreements leases and non-

U.S regulatory and governmental agencies primarily to satisf consumer protection requirements The majority of these letters

of credit were issued by Travelport on our behalf under the terms of the Separation Agreement as amended the Separation

Agreement entered into in connection with the IPO Travelport is obligated to issue letters of credit on our behalf in an

aggregate amount not to exceed $75.0 million denominated in U.S dollars so long as Travelport and its affiliates as defined

in the Separation Agreement own at least 50% of our voting stock At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were $72.5 million

and $74.2 million respectively of outstanding letters of credit issued by Travelport on our behalf

Travelport charges us fees for issuing renewing or extending letters of credit on our behalf In February 2012 we made

one-time payment to Travelport of $3.0 million related to fees associated with an amendment to the Travelport credit facility

entered into during 2011 under which Travelport issues letters of credit on our behalf This payment is subject to refund

provision through September 30 2013 if Travelport is no longer obligated to provide letters of credit on our behalf or if we

obtain our own letter of credit facility We are recognizing the $3.0 million payment to Travelport over the term of its

underlying credit facility or approximately two and half years The expenses related to these fees are included in interest

expense in our consolidated statements of operations

At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were the equivalent of $11.2 million and $10.8 million respectively of

outstanding letters of credit issued under the Revolver which were denominated in multiple currencies see Note Term Loan

and Revolving Credit Facility

During 2012 we secured new multi-currency letter of credit facility the Facility that terminates in September 2015

The Facility provides for the issuance of letters of credit up to $25.0 million We pay fees of 25 basis points on outstanding

letters of credit and incur commitment fee of 37.5 basis points on any unused amounts of the Facility The Facility requires

cash to be held in collateral account in an unrestricted subsidiary equal to 1.03 times the outstanding letters of credit amount

plus fees As of December 31 2012 we had $12.8 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the Facility which were

denominated in multiple currencies
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At December 31 2012 and 2011 there were total of $96.5 million and $85.0 million of outstanding letters of credit

issued under our various arrangements Total letter of credit fees were $7.0 million $5.8 million and $4.1 million for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

10 Income Taxes

Pre-tax income/loss for U.S and non-U.S operations consisted of the following

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

U.S 277375 22129 37723

Non-U.S 21190 57355 93579

Loss before income taxes 298565 35226 55856

The provision/benefit for income taxes consisted of the following

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Current

U.S federal andstate 95 13 93

Non-U.S 2399 1334 794

Total current 2304 1321 887

Deferred

U.S federal and state 253 347
Non-U.S 616 1077 1494

Total deferred 869 730 1494

Provision for income taxes 3173 2051 2381

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 our U.S federal state and foreign income taxes receivable/Qayable was $0.7
million and $0.4 million respectively

The provisions for income taxes for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 were due primarily to taxes on

the net income of certain European-based subsidiaries that had not established valuation allowance and U.S state and local

income taxes We are required to assess whether valuation allowances should be established against our deferred tax assets

based on the consideration of all available evidence using more likely than not standard on each tax jurisdiction basis We

assessed the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income would be generated to

utilize the existing deferred tax assets

We currently have valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets of $296.8 million of which $183.8 million relates to

U.S jurisdictions As of December 31 2012 we maintained full valuation allowances in all jurisdictions that had previously

established valuation allowance We will continue to assess the level of the valuation allowance required if sufficient positive

evidence exists in future periods to support release of some or all of the valuation allowance such release would likely have

material impact on our results of operations With respect to the valuation allowance established against our non-U S.-based

deferred tax assets significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated in our determination was cumulative losses

incurred over the three-year period ended December 31 2012 This objective evidence limited our ability to consider other

subjective evidence such as future income projections With respect to the valuation allowance established against our U.S
based deferred tax assets the lack of sustained trend of profitability along with other subjective factors outweighed the

available positive evidence at the present time Due to expected continued improvement in the U.S operations management

believes possibility exists that within the next year sufficient positive evidence may become available to reach conclusion

that significant portion of the U.S valuation allowance will no longer be needed
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The tax provisions recorded for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 were disproportionate to the amount

of pre-tax net loss incurred during each respective period primarily because we were not able to realize any tax benefits on the

goodwill and trademark and trade names impairment charges recorded during each of those years

Our effective income tax rate differs from the U.S federal statutory rate as follows

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Federal statutory rate 35.0 35.0 35.0

State and local income taxes net of federal benefit 0.0 1.8 1.0

Taxes on non-U.S operations at differing rates 0.4 4.7 5.4

Change in valuation allowance 0.2 4.7 6.0

Goodwill impairment charges 35.4 29.6 25.9

Reserve for uncertain tax positions 0.0 0.4 0.1

Other 0.5 0.4 0.9

Effective income tax rate 1.1% 5.8% 4.3%

Current and non-current deferred income tax assets and liabilities in various jurisdictions are comprised of the following

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

in thousands

Current deferred income tax assets liabilities

Accrued liabilities and deferred income 4233 3916

Provision for bad debts 179 91

Prepaid expenses 1860 1652
Tax sharing liability 5529 7473

Change in reserve accounts 4084 3637

Other 404 404
Valuation allowance 11774 13058

Current net deferred income tax assets 13
Non-current deferred income tax assets/liabilities

U.S net operating loss cariyforwards 46749 46883

Non-U.S net operating loss carryforwards 98437 98695

Accrued liabilities and deferred income 5811 2986

Depreciation and amortization 99508 104764

Tax sharing liability 25750 24842

Change in reserve accounts 1612

Other 15552 13331

Valuation allowance 285034 285802

Non-current net deferred income tax assets 6773 7311

The current portion of the deferred income tax asset at December 31 2012 and 2011 is included in other current

assets in our consolidated balance sheets

The net deferred tax assets at December 31 2012 and 2011 amounted to $6.8 million and $7.3 million respectively

These net deferred tax assets relate to temporary tax to book differences in non-U.S jurisdictions the realization of which is in

managements judgment more likely than not We have assessed based on experience with relevant taxing authorities our

expectations of future taxable income carry-forward periods available and other relevant factors that we will be more likely

than not to recognize these deferred tax assets

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we had established valuation allowances against the majority of our deferred tax

assets As result any changes in our gross deferred tax assets and liabilities during the years ended December 31 2012 and
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2011 were largely offset by corresponding changes in our valuation allowances resulting in decrease in our net deferred tax

assets of $0.5 million and $0.9 million respectively

As of December 31 2012 we had U.S federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $122.4

million and $94.4 million respectively which expire between 2021 and 2031 In addition we had $404.6 million of non

U.S net operating loss carry-forwards most of which do not expire Additionally we had $6.1 million of U.S federal and state

income tax credit carry-forwards which expire between 2027 and 2032 and $1.1 million of U.S federal income tax credits

which have no expiration date No provision has been made for U.S federal or non-U.S deferred income taxes on

approximately $20.1 million of accumulated and undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries at December 31 2012

provision has not been established because it is our present intention to reinvest the undistributed earnings indefmitely in those

foreign operations The determination of the amount of unrecognized U.S federal or non-U.S deferred income tax liabilities

for unremitted earnings at December 31 2012 is not practicable

We have established liability for unrecognized tax benefits that management believes to be adequate Once established

unrecognized tax benefits are adjusted if more accurate information becomes available or change in circumstance or an event

occurs necessitating change to the liability Given the inherent complexities of the business and that we are subject to taxation

in substantial number of jurisdictions we routinely assess the likelihood of additional assessment in each of the taxing

jurisdictions

The table below shows the changes in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits during the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Balance at January 3429 3796 4910

Increase as result of tax positions taken during the prior year 952

Decrease as result of tax positions taken during the prior year 285 367 1140

Impact of foreign currency translation 10 26

Balance at December31 4106 3429 3796

The total amount of unrecognized benefits that if recognized would affect our effective tax rate was $0.9 million $0.7

million and $1.0 million at December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 During the next twelve months we anticipate reduction to

this liability due to the lapsing of statutes of limitations of approximately $0.5 million all of which would affect our effective

tax rate

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense We recognized interest

and penalties of $0 $0.2 million and $0.1 million during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Accrued interest and penalties were $0.6 million and $0.9 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

We file income tax returns in the U.S federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions number of years

may elapse before an uncertain tax position for which we have unrecognized tax benefits is audited and finally resolved We

adjust these unrecognized tax benefits as well as the related interest and penalties in light of changing facts and circumstances

Settlement of any particular position could require the use of cash Favorable resolution could result in reduction to our

effective income tax rate in the period of resolution

The number of years with open tax audits varies depending on the tax jurisdiction Our major taxing jurisdictions include

the United States federal and state the United Kingdom federal and Australia federal With limited exceptions we are no

longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2008

With respect to periods prior to the Blackstone Acquisition we are only required to take into account income tax returns

for which we or one of our subsidiaries is the primary taxpaying entity namely separate state returns and non-U.S returns

Uncertain tax positions related to U.S federal and state combined and unitary income tax returns filed are only applicable in

the post-acquisition accounting period We and our domestic subsidiaries currently file consolidated income tax return for

U.S federal income tax purposes
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11 Equity-Based Compensation

We issue share-based awards under the Orbitz Worldwide Inc 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan as amended the Plan
The Plan provides for the grant of equity-based awards including restricted stock restricted stock units stock options stock

appreciation rights and other equity-based awards to our directors officers and other employees advisors and consultants who

are selected by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors for participation in the Plan At our Annual Meeting of

Shareholders on June 12 2012 our shareholders approved an amendment to the Plan increasing the total number of shares of

our common stock available for issuance under the Plan from 21100000 shares to 24100000 shares subject to adjustment as

provided by the Plan As of December 31 2012 8111408 shares were available for future issuance under the plan

Restricted Stock Units

The table below summarizes activity regarding unvested restricted stock units under the Plan during the year ended

December 31 2012

Weighted-

Average Grant
Restricted Date Fair Value

Stock Units per share

UnvestedatJanuaryl2012 4455507 2.96

Granted 2414000 3.31

Vested 1486599 2.95

Forfeited 822372 3.56

Unvested at December 31 2012 4560536 3.04

We issued 991942 shares of common stock in connection with the vesting of restricted stock units during the year

ended December 31 2012 which is net of the number of shares retained but not issued by us in satisfaction of

minimum tax withholding obligations associated with the vesting

The fair value of restricted stock units that vested during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was $4.4

million $5.0 million and $14.0 million respectively The weighted-average grant date fair value of restricted stock units

granted during the years ended December 31 20122011 and 2010 was $3.31 $2.66 and $5.01 per unit respectively The fair

value of restricted stock units on the date of grant is amortized on straight-line basis over the requisite service period of four

years

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

The table below summarizes activity regarding unvested performance-based restricted stock units PSUs under the

Plan during the year ended December 31 2012

Performance- Weighted-

Based Average Grant
Restricted Date Fair Value

Stock Units per share

UnvestedatJanuary 2012 1065250 2.95

Granted 1425000 2.40

Vested 269250 3.15

Forfeited 158750 2.65

Unvested at December31 2012 2062250 2.57

We granted 1425000 PSUs in June 2012 with fair value per share of $3.65 to certain of our executive officers The

PSUs were subject to the satisfaction of performance condition that the Companys net revenue for fiscal year 2012 equal or

exceed certain threshold In December 2012 the Compensation Committee modified the performance condition such that the

established net revenue threshold can be achieved over any trailing twelve month period ending on or prior to December 31

2013 or each PSU will be forfeited If this performance condition is met the PSUs will vest 25% on each anniversary of the

original grant date This change in the performance condition required the fair value of the PSUs to be revalued as of the date of
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modification to $2.40 per share As of December 31 2012 we expect that the performance condition will be satisfied and as

such the fair value of the PSUs is being amortized over the requisite service period of each vesting tranche

Stock Options

The table below summarizes the stock option activity under the Plan during the year ended December 31 2012

Weighted-

Average

Weighted- Remaining

Average Contractual Aggregate

Exercise Price Term Intrinsic Value

Shares per share in years in thousands

Outstanding at January 2012 3274156 5.15

Forfeited 232638 5.49

Cancelled 317265 6.34

Outstanding at December 31 2012 2724253 4.98 3.6

Exercisable at December31 2012 2328669 5.00 3.5

The exercise price of stock options granted under the Plan is equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock on the

date of grant Stock options generally expire seven to ten years from the grant date Stock options vest annually over four-

year period or vest over four-year period with 25% of the awards vesting after one year and the remaining awards vesting on

monthly basis thereafter The fair value of stock options on the date of grant is amortized on straight-line basis over the

requisite service period There were no stock options granted in 2012

The fair value of stock options granted under the Plan is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model The weighted-average assumptions for stock options granted during the years ended December 31 2011 and

2010 are outlined in the following table Expected volatility is based on implied volatilities for publicly traded options and

historical volatility for comparable companies over the estimated expected life of the stock options The expected life

represents the period of time the stock options are expected to be outstanding and is based on the simplified method We use

the simplified method due to the lack of sufficient historical exercise data to provide reasonable basis upon which to

otherwise estimate the expected life of the stock options The risk-free interest rate is based on yields on U.S Treasury strips

with maturity similar to the estimated expected life of the stock options

The fair value of the stock options and assumptions used are as follows

Years Ended December 31

Assumptions 2011 2010

Dividend yield

Expected volatility 39% 42%

Expected life in years 4.75 4.69

Risk-free interest rate 2.07% 2.09%

Weighted-average grant date fair value per
share $1.98 $1.88

Our dividend yield is estimated to be zero since we did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock

and we do not intend to in the foreseeable future

During the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the total fair value of options that vested during the period

was $1.3 million $3.0 million and $2.2 million respectively In addition the intrinsic value of options exercised was $0 for

each of the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation Plan

We have deferred compensation plan that enables our non-employee directors to defer the receipt of certain

compensation earned in their capacity as non-employee directors Eligible directors may elect to defer up to 100% of their

annual retainer fees which are paid by us on quarterly basis In addition 100% of the annual equity grant payable to non

employee directors is deferred under the Plan
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We grant deferred stock units DSUs to each participating director on the date that the deferred fees would have

otherwise been paid to the director The DSUs are issued as restricted stock units under the Plan and are immediately vested

and non-forfeitable The DSUs entitle the non-employee director to receive one share of our common stock for each deferred

stock unit following the directors retirement or termination of service from the Board of Directors For all awards granted prior

to 2011 the DSUs are distributed 200 days immediately following such termination date and for all awards granted in 2011 or

later the DSUs are distributed immediately The entire grant date fair value of deferred stock units is expensed on the date of

grant

The table below summarizes the deferred stock unit activity under the Plan during the year ended December 31 2012

Weighted-

Average
Grant Date

Deferred Fair Value

Stock Units per share

1004273 3.90

The weighted-average grant date fair value for deferred stock units granted during the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 was $3.47 $2.89 and $5.06 respectively

Compensation Expense

We recognized total equity-based compensation expense of $7.6 million $8.5 million and $12.5 million for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively none of which has provided us with tax benefit As of December 31

2012 total of $13.8 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested restricted stock units unvested stock

options and unvested PSUs are expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average period of 2.8 years

During the year ended December 31 2011 we began using historical share forfeitures rather than historical employee

turnover to estimate future share forfeitures which did not have significant impact on equity-based compensation expense or

on unrecognized compensation costs related to unvested awards in 2011

12 Derivative Financial Instruments

Interest Rate Hedges

At December 31 2012 we had the following interest rate swap outstanding that effectively converted $100.0 million of

the Term Loan from variable to fixed interest rate We pay fixed interest rate on the swap and in exchange receive

variable interest rate based on the one-month LIBOR

Notional Amount Effective Date

$100.0 million January 292010 January 31 2012

$100.0 million January 292010 January 31 2012

The objective of entering into our interest rate swaps is to protect against volatility of future cash flows and effectively

hedge portion of the variable interest payments on the Term Loan We determined that these designated hedging instruments

qualif for cash flow hedge accounting treatment Our interest rate swaps are the only derivative fmancial instruments that we

have designated as hedging instruments

Outstanding at January 2012

Granted

Distributed

Outstanding at December 31 2012

325958

146594

1183637

3.47

4.49

3.71

Fixed Interest Variable Interest

Notional Amount Effective Date Maturity Date Rate Paid Rate Received

$100.0 million July 29 2011 July 31 2013 0.68% One-month LIBOR

The following interest rate swaps matured in January 2012

Fixed Interest Variable Interest

Maturity Date Rate Paid Rate Received

1.15%

1.21%

One-month LIBOR

Three-month LIBOR
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The interest rate swaps were reflected in our consolidated balance sheets at market value The corresponding market

adjustment was recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income/loss OCI The following table shows the fair value

of our interest rate swaps

Fair Value Measurements as of

Balance Sheet Location December 31 2012 December 31 2011

in thousands

Interest rate swaps Other current liabilities 276 275

Interest rate swaps Other non-current liabilities 311

The following table shows the market adjustments recorded during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Gain/Loss Recognized in Income

Loss Reclassified from Ineffective Portion and the

Gain in Other Comprehensive Accumulated OCI into Interest Amount Excluded from

Income/Loss Expense Effective Portion Effectiveness Testing

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Interestrate swaps 311 $2329 2419 561 $3328 $6758

The amount of loss recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income/loss at December 31 2012 that is expected

to be reclassified to interest expense in the next twelve months if interest rates remain unchanged is approximately $0.3 million

after-tax

Foreign Currency Hedges

We enter into foreign currency contracts to manage our exposure to changes in the foreign currency associated with

foreign currency receivables payables intercompany transactions and borrowings if any under the Revolver We primarily

hedge our foreign currency exposure to the Pound sterling and the Australian dollar As of December 31 2012 we had foreign

currency contracts outstanding with total net notional amount of $320.6 million almost all of which matured in January 2013

The foreign currency contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment accordingly changes in the fair value of the

foreign currency contracts are reflected in net loss as component of selling general and administrative
expense

in our

consolidated statements of operations

The following table shows the fair value of our foreign currency hedges

Fair Value Measurements as of

Balance Sheet Location December 31 2012 December 312011

in thousands

Asset Derivatives

Foreign currency hedges Other current assets 991

Liability Derivatives

Foreign currency hedges Other current liabilities 2396 495

The following table shows the changes in the fair value of our foreign currency contracts which were recorded as loss

in selling general and administrative expense

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Foreign currency hedges 11385 2420 1353

We recorded transaction gains/losses associated with the re-measurement and settlement of our foreign denominated

assets and liabilities of $6.7 million $3.0 million and $3.7 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively These transaction gains and losses were included in selling general and administrative

expense in our consolidated statements of operations The net impact of these transaction gains and losses together

with the losses incurred on our foreign currency hedges were losses of $4.7 million $5.4 million and $5.1 million for

the years ended December 31 20122011 and 2010 respectively
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13 Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor defmed contribution savings plan for employees in the United States that provides certain of our eligible

employees an opportunity to accumulate funds for retirement HotelClub and ebookers sponsor similar defined contribution

savings pians After employees have attained one year of service we match the contributions of participating employees on the

basis specified by the plans up to maximum of 3% of participant compensation We recorded total expense
related to these

plans in the amount of $4.8 million $5.3 million and $4.9 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

14 Net loss per Share

We calculate basic net loss
per

share by dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted-average number of shares

outstanding during the period The weighted-average number of shares includes common shares outstanding and deferred stock

units which are immediately vested and non-forfeitable

The following equity awards were not included in the diluted net loss per share calculation because they would have had

an antidilutive effect due to net loss for each period

Years Ended December 31

Antidilutive Equity Awards 2012 2011 2010

Stock options 3009654 3274156 3738833

Restricted stock units 4379665 4455507 4233590

Performance-based restricted stock units 907616 1065250 561108

Total 8296935 8794913 8533531

15 Related Party Transactions

Related Party Transactions with Travelport and its Subsidiaries

We had amounts due from Travelport of $5.6 million and $3.9 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Amounts due to or from Travelport are generally settled on net basis

The following table summarizes the related party transactions with Travelport and its subsidiaries reflected in our

consolidated statements of operations

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Net revenue 98113 110302 117619

Costofrevenue 250 619 477

Selling general and administrative expense
260 875 486

Interest expense 6706 5595 4016

Net revenue includes incentive revenue for segments processed through Galileo and Worldspan This incentive revenue

accounted for more than 10% of our total net revenue see GDS Service Agreement section below

Net revenue includes amounts recognized under our GDS services agreement and bookings sourced through Donvand

Limited and OctopusTravel Group Limited doing business as Gullivers Travel Associates GTA through March 31

2011 as of the end of the second quarter of 2011 GTA was no longer related party In addition net revenue for the

year
ended December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 includes incremental GDS incentive revenue recognized from

December 22 2010 through June 2011 under the Letter Agreement with Travelport see Letter Agreement section

below

Interest expense
relates to letters of credit issued on our behalf by Travelport see Note Commitments and

Contingencies
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Stock Purchase Agreement

On January 26 2010 Travelport purchased 9025271 shares of our common stock for $50.0 million in cash see

Note Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

Separation Agreement

We entered into Separation Agreement with Travelport at the time of the IPO This agreement as amended provided

the general terms for the separation of our respective businesses When we were wholly-owned subsidiary of Travelport

Travelport provided guarantees letters of credit and surety bonds on our behalf under our commercial agreements and leases

and for the benefit of regulatory agencies Under the Separation Agreement we were required to use commercially reasonable

efforts to have Travelport released from
any

then outstanding guarantees and surety bonds As result Travelport no longer

provides surety bonds on our behalf or guarantees in connection with commercial agreements or leases entered into or replaced

by us subsequent to the IPO Our ability to pay dividends may require the prior consent of Travelport

Master License Agreement

We entered into Master License Agreement with Travelport at the time of the IPO Pursuant to this agreement

Travelport licenses certain of our intellectual property and pays us fees for related maintenance and support services The

licenses include our supplier link technology portions of ebookers booking search and vacation package technologies certain

of our products and online booking tools for corporate travel portions Of our private label vacation package technology and

our extranet supplier connectivity functionality

The Master License Agreement granted us the right to use corporate online booking product developed by Travelport

We have entered into value added reseller license with Travelport for this product

GDS Service Agreement

In connection with the IPO we entered into the Travelport GDS Service Agreement which expires on December 31

2014 The Travelport GDS Service Agreement is structured such that we earn incentive revenue for each air car and hotel

segment that is processed through the Travelport GDSs This agreement requires that we process
certain minimum number of

segments for our domestic brands through the Travelport GDSs each year Our domestic brands were required to process total

of 31.4 million 32.8 million and 33.7 million segments through the Travelport GDSs during the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Of the required number of segments 16.0 million segments were required to be processed

each year through Worldspan and 15.4 million 16.8 million and 17.7 million segments were required to be processed through

Galileo during the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The required number of segments processed

in future years for Worldspan is fixed at 16.0 million segments while the required number of segments for Galileo is subject to

adjustment based upon the actual segments processed by our domestic brands in the preceding year Our failure to process at

least 95% of these segments through the Travelport GDSs would result in shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment below the

required minimum We are not subject to these minimum volume thresholds to the extent that we process all eligible segments

through the Travelport GDS No payments were made to Travelport related to the minimum segment requirement for our

domestic brands for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010

The Travelport GDS Service Agreement also requires that ebookers use the Travelport GDSs exclusively in certain

countries for segments processed through GDSs in Europe Our failure to process at least 95% of these segments through the

Travelport GDSs would result in shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment for each segment processed through an alternative

GDS provider We failed to meet this minimum segment requirement during each of the years ended December 31 2011 and

2010 and as result we were required to make shortfall payments of $0.4 million to Travelport related to each of these years

There was not shortfall for the year ended December 31 2012

Hotel Sourcing and Franchise Agreement

We entered into Master Supply and Services Agreement the GTA Agreement with GTA wholly-owned subsidiary

of Travelport which became effective on January 2008 Under the GTA Agreement we pay GTA contract rate for hotel and

destination services inventory it makes available to us for booking on our websites The contract rate exceeds the prices at

which suppliers make their inventory available to GTA for distribution and is based on percentage of the rates GTA makes

such inventory available to its other customers We are also subject to additional fees if we exceed certain specified booking
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levels The initial term of the GTA Agreement expired on December 31 2010 GTA was no longer related party as of

December 31 2011

Corporate Travel Agreement

We provide corporate travel management services to Travelport and its subsidiaries We believe that this agreement was

executed on terms comparable to those of unrelated third parties

Letter Agreement

In February 2011 we entered into Letter Agreement with Travelport which was amended in March 2011 the Letter

Agreement The Letter Agreement amended and clarified certain terms set forth in agreements that we had previously entered

into with Travelport and provided certain benefits to us so long as certain conditions were met

The Letter Agreement contained provision relating to the absence of ticketing authority on AA Under this agreement

our segment incentives payable from Travelport under the parties Travelport GDS Service Agreement were increased effective

December 22 2010 until the earliest of August 31 2011 the reinstatement of ticketing authority by AA for our Orbitz.com

website the consummation of direct connect relationship with AA or the determination by our Audit Committee of the Board

of Directors the Audit Committee that we were engaged in discussion with AA that is reasonably likely to result in

direct connect relationship between us and AA In late 2010 we and AA were unable to agree to terms under which AA tickets

would be marketed and distributed to our customers and thus the offering of AA tickets on the Orbitz.com and Orbitz for

Business websites was discontinued Pursuant to court order in June 2011 AA restored its content to our sites This ruling

resulted in the expiration on June 2011 of the increased segment incentives payable from Travelport pursuant to the Letter

Agreement We resumed offering AA tickets on our sites and have continued to do so pursuant to series of agreements

between us and AA that ran through January 15 2013 Since that date we have continued to market and distribute AA tickets

on our websites but if we cannot reach another formal agreement with AA the offering of AA tickets to our customers might

cease again

The Letter Agreement also contained an amendment to the Travelport GDS Service Agreement This amendment

established higher threshold at which potential decreases in Travelports segment incentive payments to us could take effect

and reduced the percentage impact of the potential decreases We are entitled to receive these benefits as long as our Audit

Committee does not determine that we are engaged in discussion with any airline that is reasonably likely to result in direct

connect relationship and we have not consummated direct connect relationship with any airline

The Letter Agreement also clarified that we were permitted to proceed with an arrangement with ITA that provides for

our use of ITAs airfare search solution after December 31 2011 In addition we agreed to the circumstances under which we

will use e-Pricing for searches on our websites through December 31 2014

Related Party Transactions with Other Affiliates of Blackstone

In the course of conducting business we have entered into various agreements with other affiliates of Blackstone For

example we have agreements with certain hotel management companies that are affiliates of Blackstone and that provide us

with access to their inventory We also purchase services from certain Blackstone affiliates such as telecommunications and

advertising In addition various Blackstone affiliates utilize our partner marketing programs and corporate travel services We

believe that these agreements have been executed on terms comparable to those available from unrelated third parties

The following table summarizes the related party balances with other affiliates of Blackstone reflected in our

consolidated balance sheets

December 31 2012 December 312011

in thousands

Accounts receivable 332 374

Accounts payable 315 4647

Accrued merchant payable 2491 6022

Accrued expenses 30
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The following table summarizes the related party transactions with other affiliates of Blackstone reflected in our

consolidated statements of operations

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Netrevenue 13348 23966 22098

Cost of revenue 15144 30166

Selling general and administrative expense
760 2354 2913

Marketing expense
70 54

16 Fair Value Measurements

The following table shows the fair value of our assets and liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on

recurring basis as of December 31 2012 and 2011 which are classified as cash and cash equivalents other current assets other

current liabilities and other non-current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets

Fair Value Measurements as of

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

Quoted Significant Quoted Significant

prices in other Significant prices
in other Significant

active observable unobservable active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs markets inputs inputs

Total Level Level Level Total Level Level Level

Assets in thousands in thousands

Money market funds 36002 36002

Foreign currency hedges 991 991

Liabilities

Foreign currency hedges 2396 2396 495 495

Interest rate swaps 276 276 586 586

We value our foreign currency hedges based on the difference between the foreign currency contract rate and widely

available foreign currency rates as of the measurement date Our foreign currency hedges are short-term in nature generally

maturing within 30 days We value our interest rate swaps using valuations that are calibrated to the initial trade prices Using

market-based approach subsequent valuations are based on observable inputs to the valuation model including interest rates

credit spreads and volatilities

The following table shows the fair value of our non-financial assets that were required to be measured at fair value on

non-recurring basis during the year ended December 31 2012 These non-financial assets which included the goodwill and

trademarks and trade names associated with Orbitz and the trademarks and trade names associated with CheapTickets were

required to be measured at fair value in connection with the annual impairment test we performed on our goodwill and

trademarks and trade names for the year ended December 31 2012 see Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Significant

prices in other Significant

Balance at
active observable unobservable

December 31 markets inputs inputs

2012 Level Level Level Total Losses

in thousands

Goodwill-Americas 345388 345388 301912

Trademarks and trade names 83065 83065 17635

Customer relationships 1625
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The following table shows the fair value of our non-financial assets that were required to be measured at fair value on

non-recurring basis during the
year ended December 31 2011 These non-financial assets which included the goodwill and

trademarks and trade names associated with our HoteiClub reporting unit as well as the trademarks and trade names associated

with our Orbitz brand were required to be measured at fair value in connection with the annual impairment test we performed

on our goodwill and trademarks and trade names in the fourth quarter of 2011 see Note Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Significant

prices in other Significant

Balance at
active observable unobservable

October markets inputs inputs

2011 Level Level Level Total Losses

in thousands

Goodwill HoteiClub 29762

Trademarks and trade names 99546 99546 20129

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

For certain of our financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable

accrued merchant payable and accrued expenses the carrying value approximates or equals fair value due to their short-term

nature

The carrying value of the Term Loan was $440.0 million at December 31 2012 compared with fair value of $425.7

million At December 31 2011 the carrying value of the Term Loan was $472.2 million compared with fair value of $415.5

million The fair values were determined based on quoted market ask prices which is classified as Level measurement

17 Segment Information

We determine operating segments based on how our chief operating decision maker manages the business including

making operating decisions and evaluating operating performance We operate in one segment and have one reportable

segment

We maintain operations in the United States United Kingdom Australia Germany Sweden France Finland Ireland

Switzerland and other international territories The table below presents net revenue by geographic area the United States and

all other countries Net revenue is based on the location of the legal entity through which the booking is processed

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

in thousands

Net revenue

United States 562026 546840 579386

All other countries 216770 219979 178101

Total 778796 766819 757487

The table below presents property and equipment net by geographic area

December 31 2012 December 31 2011

in thousands

Long-lived assets

United States 126233 134703

All other countries 6311 6999

Total 132544 141702
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18 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

The following tables present certain unaudited consolidated quarterly fmancial information

Three Months Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
2012 2012 2012 2012

in thousands except per share data

Net revenue 189737 198303 200977 189779

Cost andexpenses 495388 173393 186105 185835

Operating income/loss 305651 24910 14872 3944

Net income/loss 314629 14818 4584 6511
Basic net income/loss per share $2.96 $0.14 $0.04 $0.06

Diluted net income/loss per share $2.96 $0.14 $0.04 $0.06

Three Months Ended

December 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
2011 2011 2011 2011

in thousands except per share data

Netrevenue 177146 202924 201826 184923

Cost and expenses 214500 180064 181989 185555

Operating income/loss 37354 22860 19837 632
Net income/loss 46505 11233 8888 10893

Basic net income/loss per share $0.44 $0.11 $0.09 $0 11

Diluted net income/loss per
share $0.44 $0.11 $0.08 $0 11

During the three months ended December 31 2012 and 2011 we recorded non-cash impairment charges related

to goodwill and intangible assets of $321.2 million and $49.9 million respectively see Note Goodwill and

Intangible Assets
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Schedule 11Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Charged to Charged to

Beginning of Costs and Other Balance at

Period Expenses Accounts Deductions End of Period

in thousands

Tax Valuation Allowance

Year Ended December31 2012 298860 530 1522 296808

Year Ended December31 2011 312520 1651 15311 298860

Year Ended December 31 2010 329868 3344 20692 312520

Represents foreign currency translation adjustments to the valuation allowance and reclassification adjustments between

our gross deferred tax assets and the corresponding valuation allowance and the effects of U.K tax rate change

Includes reduction of $12.0 million to the deferred tax asset in connection with reduction of the tax sharing liability to

the airlines The remaining $3.3 million represents the combined effect of foreign currency translation adjustments

reduction to the U.K tax rate and other reclassification adjustments between the gross
deferred tax assets and the

corresponding valuation allowance
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Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation ofDisclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures under Rules 3a- 15e of the Exchange Act are those controls and other procedures of

company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the company in the reports that it files or

submits under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the

SECs rules and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures designed to

ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is

accumulated and communicated to the issuers management including its principal executive and principal financial officers or

persons performing similar functions as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Pursuant to Rule 13a-15e under the Exchange Act our management evaluated the effectiveness of the design and

operation of our disclosure controls and procedures with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer CEOand our

Interim Chief Financial Officer CFOBased on that evaluation because of the material weakness in internal control over

financial reporting described below our management concluded that as of December 31 2012 our disclosure controls and

procedures were not effective We view our internal control over fmancial reporting as an integral part of our disclosure

controls and procedures

In light of the foregoing conclusion we undertook additional procedures in order that management could conclude that

reasonable assurance exists regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements contained in this filing Accordingly management believes that our consolidated financial statements included in

this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012 fairly present in all material respects our financial

position results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 3a- 15f under the Exchange

Act during the fiscal quarter ended December 31 2012 that have materially affected or are reasonable likely to materially

affect our internal control over financial reporting other than as described below in Managements Annual Report on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting is the process designed by or under the supervision of our CEO and Interim

CFO and effected by our Board of Directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of our assets

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of our financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts and expenditures are

being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition

of our assets that could have material effect on our financial statements

material weakness is defined within the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boards Auditing Standard No as

deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over fmancial reporting such that there is reasonable possibility

that material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on timely basis
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting As of

December 31 2012 our management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting using the criteria in Internal Control Integrated Fram ework established by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on this assessment our management has concluded that our internal control

over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31 2012 as result of the material weakness discussed below

Ineffective Information Technology Controls Our management identified number of deficiencies related to the design

and operating effectiveness of certain information technology IT general and application controls that have direct impact

on our financial reporting Based on the nature and interrelationship of the noted deficiencies our management concluded that

these deficiencies when considered in the aggregate resulted in reasonable possibility that material misstatement in our

interim or annual financial statements would not be prevented or detected on timely basis

Specifically the following material weakness existed as of December 31 2012 Policies and procedures over IT program

development and change management do not operate at sufficient level to ensure all changes affecting the financial

statements and underlying accounting records and key reports are identified authorized tested and implemented appropriately

In addition certain deficiencies were noted in automated application and manual business controls and processes that are

dependent on controlled access to system functionality and information for their effective operation and as result financial

information may not be accurately reflected in key reports or in the general ledger These IT-dependent controls include

controls over the replication of data between IT applications such as data completeness input controls and validity checks

which impact our account reconciliations and the preparation ofjournal entries for certain key accounts

Deloitte Touche LLP our independent registered public accounting firm has audited the financial statements

contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and issued an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over

financial reporting which report is included herein

Remediation Plan

We are actively engaged in the implementation of remediation plan to ensure that controls contributing to this material

weakness are designed appropriately and will operate effectively Since late 2011 we have devoted significant effort to

improving the quality of the controls surrounding our IT systems and processes In addition we are continuing the development

of our internally generated subledger reporting system Until the material weakness is remediated we will continue to perform

additional procedures to reasonably assure the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial

statements contained in future periodic filings

During 2012 our management has taken the following actions that materially affect or are reasonably likely to

materially affect our internal control over fmancial reporting and to remediate the material weakness described above

We instituted comprehensive plan to design document implement and test the IT general and application controls

that we believe will result in the remediation of the material weakness in the Companys internal control over

financial reporting We expect to achieve operational effectiveness of these controls in 2013

We have implemented key portions of our subledger reporting system that have and will continue to strengthen our

controls surrounding account reconciliations and journal entries
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Orbitz Worldwide Inc

Chicago Illinois

We have audited Orbitz Worldwide Inc and subsidiaries the Companys internal control over financial reporting as

of December 31 2012 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission The Companys management is responsible for maintaining

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting included in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective

internal control over fmancial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding

of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on that risk and performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed by or under the supervision of the

companys principal executive and principal financial officers or persons performing similar functions and effected by the

companys board of directors management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of fmancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of

the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the

company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys

assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting including the possibility of collusion or

improper management override of controls material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on

timely basis Also projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future

periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

material weakness is deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting such

that there is reasonable possibility that material misstatement of the companys annual or interim financial statements will

not be prevented or detected on timely basis Managements assessment identified certain control deficiencies related to

ineffective information technology controls The aggregation of these deficiencies represents material weakness in the

Companys internal control over financial reporting This material weakness was considered in determining the nature timing

and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and

for the year ended December 31 2012 of the Company and this report does not affect our report on such financial statements

and financial statement schedule

In our opinion because of the effect of the material weakness identified above on the achievement of the objectives of

the control criteria the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2012 based on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31 2012

of the Company and our report dated March 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and

financial statement schedule

Is DELOITTE TOUCHE LLP

Chicago Illinois

March 2013
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Item 9B Other Information

None

PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certain information required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption Proposal Election of

Directors in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is incorporated by reference herein The information required by

Item 405 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption Corporate Governance Section 16a Beneficial Ownership

Reporting Compliance in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is incorporated by reference herein

Information regarding our executive officers is included in Part of this Form 10-K under the heading Executive

Officers of the Registrant and that information is incorporated by reference herein

The information required by Item 407c3 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption Corporate

Governance Director Selection Procedures and the information required under Items 407d4 and d5 of Regulation S-K

will be included under the caption Corporate Governance Committees of the Board of Directors Audit Committee in the

2013 Proxy Statement and that information is incorporated by reference herein

Code of Business Conduct

We have adopted the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Code of Ethics and Business Conduct the Code of Business Conduct
which applies to all of our directors and employees including our chief executive officer chief financial officer and principal

accounting officer In addition we have adopted Code of Ethics for our chief executive officer and senior financial officers

The Code of Business Conduct and the Code of Ethics are available on the corporate governance page of our Investor Relations

website at wwworbitz-ir.com Amendments to or waivers from the Code of Business Conduct applicable to these senior

executives will be posted on our website and provided to you without charge upon written request to Orbitz Worldwide Inc
Attention Corporate Secretary 500W Madison Street Suite 1000 Chicago Illinois 60661

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 402 of Regulation S-K will be included under the captions Executive Compensation

Summary Compensation Table and Director Compensation in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is

incorporated by reference herein

The information required by Items 407e4 and e5 of Regulation S-K will be included under the captions

Corporate Governance Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation and Compensation Committee

Report in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is incorporated by reference herein

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 20 1d of Regulation S-K is included in Item Market for Registrants Common

Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities The information required by Item 403 of

Regulation S-K will be included under the caption Security Ownership in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is

incorporated by reference herein

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by Item 404 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption Certain Relationships and

Related Person Transactions in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is incorporated by reference herein
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The information required by Item 407a of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption Corporate

Governance Independence of Directors in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is incorporated by reference

herein

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information concerning principal accounting fees and services and the information required by Item 14 will be

included under the caption Fees Incurred for Services of Deloitte Touche LLP and Approval of Services Provided by

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm in the 2013 Proxy Statement and that information is incorporated by

reference herein

PART

Item 15 Exhibits Financial Statement Schedules

a1 Financial Statements The following financial statements are included in Item herein

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 52

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 53

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 2012 and 2011 54

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 55

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity/Deficit for the years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 57

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 58

a2 Financial Statement Schedules The following financial statement schedule is included in Item herein

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 88

All other schedules are omitted because they are either not required are not applicable or the information is included in

the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto

a3 Exhibits See the Exhibit Index included in this Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference herein
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

ORBITZ WORLDWIDE iNC

Date March 2013 By Is Barney Harford

Barney Harford

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Date March 2013 By Is Barney Harford

Barney Harford

Chief Executive Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Date March 2013 By Is David Belmont

David Belmont

Interim Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

Date March 2013 By Is Thomas Kram

Thomas Kram

Group Vice President and ChiefAccounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

Date March 2013 By Is Jeff Clarke

Jeff Clarke

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Date March 52013 By Is/Martin Brand

Martin Brand

Director

Date March 2013 By Is Mark Britton

Mark Britton

Director
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Date March 2013 By Is Kenneth Esterow

Kenneth Esterow

Director

Date March 2013 By Is Robert Friedman

Robert Friedman

Director

Date March 2013 By Is Bradley Gerstner

Bradley Gerstner

Director

Date March 2013 By Is Jill Greenthal

Jill Greenthal

Director

Date March 2013 By Is Kristina Leslie

Kristina Leslie

Director

Date March 2013 By Is Jaynie Miller Studenmund

Jaynie Miller Studenmund

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No Description

.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Orbitz Worldwide Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Registration Statement on Form S-i

Reg No 333-142797 filed on July 18 2007

.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Orbitz Worldwide Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to

Amendment No to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Registration Statement on Form S-i Reg
No 333-142797 filed on July 18 2007

.3 Amendment to the Amended and Restated By-laws of Orbitz Worldwide Inc effective as of

December 2007 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on December 2007

.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No to

the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Registration Statement on Form S-i Reg No 333-142797 filed on July 18

2007

10 .1 Form of Second Amended and Restated Airline Charter Associate Agreement between Orbitz LLC and

the Founding Airlines incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No to the Orbitz Inc

Registration Statement on Form S-i Registration No 333-88646 filed on November 25 2003

10 .2 Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Airline Charter Associate Agreement dated as

of July 2009 between Orbitz LLC and United Air Lines Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended September 30 2009

10 .3 Form of Supplier Link Agreement between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and certain airlines incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Registration Statement on

Form S-i Registration No 333-142797 filed on June 13 2007

10 .4 Amendment to the Orbitz Supplier Link Agreement dated as of July 2009 between Orbitz LLC and

United Air Lines Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2009

10 .5 Tax Agreement dated as of November 25 2003 between Orbitz Inc and American Airlines Inc
Continental Airlines Inc Omicron Reservations Management Inc Northwest Airlines Inc and UAL

Loyalty Services Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to Amendment No to the Orbitz

Inc Registration Statement on Form S-i Registration No 333-88646 filed on November 25 2003

10 .6 Credit Agreement dated as of July 25 2007 among Orbitz Worldwide Inc UBS AG Stamford Branch

as administrative agent collateral agent and an L/C issuer UBS Loan Finance LLC as swing line lender

Credit Suisse Securities USA LLC as syndication agent and Lehman Brothers Inc as documentation

agent and the other Lenders party thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz

Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 27 2007

10 .7 Amendment No dated as of June 2009 by and among Orbitz Worldwide Inc the lenders party

thereto and UBS AG Stamford Branch as administrative agent incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 2009

10 .8 Separation Agreement dated as of July 25 2007 by and between Travelport Limited and Orbitz

Worldwide Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on July 27 2007

10 .9 First Amendment to Separation Agreement dated as of May 2008 between Travelport Limited and

Orbitz Worldwide Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on May 2008

10 .10 Second Amendment to Separation Agreement dated as of January 23 2009 between Travelport Limited

and Orbitz Worldwide Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2008

10 .11 Tax Sharing Agreement dated as of July 25 2007 by and between Travelport Inc and Orbitz

Worldwide Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on July 27 2007

10 .1 2t Letter Agreement dated as of February 2011 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Travelport LP

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

for the Quarterly Period ended March 31 2011

10 .13 Letter Agreement dated as of December 27 2011 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Travelport

Limited incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on

Form 0-K/A Amendment No for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2011
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Exhibit No Description

10 14j Master License Agreement dated as of July 23 2007 by and among Galileo International Technology

LLC Galileo International LLC Orbitz LLC ebookers Limited Donvand Limited Travelport for

Business Inc Orbitz Development LLC and Neat Group Corporation incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-KIA filed on February 27 2008

10 .1 St Master Supply and Services Agreement dated as of July 23 2007 by and among Orbitz Worldwide

LLC Octopus Travel Group Limited and Donvand Limited incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to

the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-KIA filed on February 27 2008

10 .16 Amendment No dated as of December 31 2009 to Master Supply and Services Agreement dated as

of July 23 2007 among Orbitz Worldwide LLC Octopus Travel Group Limited and Donvand Limited

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2009

10 .1 7t Letter Agreement dated as of February 2011 by and between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and ITA

Software Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report

on Form 0-Q for the Quarterly Period ended March 31 2011

10 .1 8t Software License Agreement dated as of April 2011 by and between Orbitz Worldwide LLC and ITA

Software Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report

on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended June 30 2011

10 .1 9t Letter Agreement dated as of November 15 2010 by and between Orbitz Worldwide LLC and Google

Inc related to Software License Agreement dated as of April 2011 by and between Orbitz

Worldwide LLC and ITA Software Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Orbitz

Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended June 30 2011

10 .20t Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23 2007 by and among Orbitz Worldwide Inc
Galileo International L.L.C and Galileo Nederland B.V incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to

the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-KIA filed on February 27 2008

10 .21 First Amendment dated as of February 2008 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23

2007 between Galileo International L.L.C Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended March 31 2008

10 .22 Second Amendment dated as of April 2008 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23

2007 between Galileo International L.L.C Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended June 30 2008

10 .23t Third Amendment dated as of January 23 2009 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23

2007 between Travelport International L.L.C f/kla Galileo International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year

ended December 31 2008

10 .24 Fourth Amendment dated as of July 2009 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23

2007 between Travelport International L.L.C f/k/a Galileo International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland By and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2009

10 .25 Fifth Amendment dated as of November 2009 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23
2007 between Travelport International L.L.C f/k/a Galileo International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year

ended December 31 2009

10 .26t Sixth Amendment dated as of February 18 2010 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23

2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global Distribution

System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended March 31 2010

10 .27 Seventh Amendment dated as of April 2010 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23

2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global Distribution

System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended March 31 2010
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10 .28 Eighth Amendment dated as of August 23 2010 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23
2007 between Travelport LP 17k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global Distnbution

System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended September 30 2010

10 .29 Ninth Amendment dated as of September 28 2010 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of

July 23 2007 between Travelport LP 17k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland By and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2010

10 .30 Tenth Amendment dated as of October 22 2010 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23
2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global Distribution

System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.35 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended

December 31 2010

10 .31 Twelfth Amendment dated as of May 2011 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23
2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global Distribution

System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended June 30 2011

10 .32 Thirteenth Amendment dated as of May 2011 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of July 23
2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global Distribution

System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended June 30 2011

10 .33 Fourteenth Amendment dated as of July 29 2011 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of

July 23 2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2011

10 .34 Fifteenth Amendment dated as of October 11 2011 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of

July 23 2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2012

10 .35 Sixteenth Amendment dated as of October 11 2011 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of

July 23 2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V 17k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2012

10 .36 Seventeenth Amendment dated as of August 29 2012 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of

July 23 2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2012

10 .37 Eighteenth Amendment dated as of October 2012 to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of

July 23 2007 between Travelport LP f/k/a Travelport International L.L.C Travelport Global

Distribution System B.V f/k/a Galileo Nederland By and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the Quarterly
Period ended September 30 2012

10 .38t Master Services Agreement effective as of August 2007 between Pegasus Solutions Inc and Orbitz

Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current

Report on Form 8-K filed on September 27 2007

10 39t Amendment effective as of January 17 2008 between Pegasus Solutions Inc and Orbitz Worldwide
LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2007

10 .40t First Amended UltraDirect Services Schedule to the Master Services Agreement effective as of August
2007 between Pegasus Solutions Inc and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended June 30 2010
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10 .41t First Amended Pricing Schedule to the Master Services Agreement effective as of August 2007
between Pegasus Solutions Inc and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6

to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended June 30

2010

10 .42t Second Amended UltraDirect Services Schedule to the Master Services Agreement effective as of July

2012 between Pegasus Solutions Inc and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended September 30 2012

10 43t Second Amended Pricing Schedule UltraDirect to the Master Services Agreement effective as of July

2012 between Pegasus Solutions Inc and Orbitz Worldwide LLC incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.6 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended September 30 2012

10 44 Orbitz Worldwide Inc 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan as amended and restated effective June 12
2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-

K/A Amendment No filed on July 20 2012

10 45 Employment Agreement including Form of Option Award Agreement dated as of January 2009 by
and between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Bamaby Harford incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 12 2009

10 .46 Amendment to Employment Agreement effective as of July 17 2009 by and between Orbitz

Worldwide Inc and Bamaby Harford incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Orbitz

Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2009

10 47 Amendment No to Employment Agreement effective as of July 17 2010 by and between Orbitz

Worldwide Inc and Bamaby Harford incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz

Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2010

10 .48 Letter Agreement dated as of December 27 2010 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Russell Hammer

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2010

10 49 Letter Agreement dated as of February 11 2011 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Russell Hammer

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2011

10 .50 Letter Agreement dated as of May 31 2011 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Russell Hammer

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q

for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2011

10 .51 Letter Agreement effective as of August 13 2007 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Mike Nelson

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on 10-Q for

the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2007

10 .52 Letter Agreement effective as of March 29 2010 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Samuel

Fulton incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form

10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2010

10 53 Amendment to Letter Agreement dated March 29 2010 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Samuel

Fulton incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form

8-K filed on December 12 2011

10 54 Letter Agreement dated June 18 2010 by and between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Chris Orton

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2011

10 55 Amendment to Letter Agreement dated August 11 2011 by and between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and

Chris Orton incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2011

10 .56 Contract of Employment dated April 28 2009 by and between Ebookers Limited and Tamer Tamar

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2011

10 57 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated December 28 2011 by and between Orbitz Worldwide

Inc and Tamer Tamar incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31 2011

10 .58 Amendment to Employment Agreement dated January 11 2013 by and between Ebookers Limited and

Tamer Tamar

10 59 Letter Agreement dated June 23 2009 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Roger Liew

10 .60 Addendum to Offer Letter dated July 2009 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Roger Liew

99



Exhibit No Description

10 .61 Amendment to Letter Agreement dated October 2012 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Roger
Liew

10 .62 Letter Agreement dated July 2012 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and David Belmont

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q
for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2012

10 .63 Letter Agreement dated November 2012 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and Mitch Marcus

10 .64 Letter Agreement dated January 17 2013 between Orbitz Worldwide Inc and David Belmont

10 .65 Form of Option Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Amendment No to

the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Registration Statement on Form S-i Registration No 333-142797 filed on

July 18 2007

10 .66 Form of Option Award Agreement for Converted Travelport Equity Awards incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.15 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended

September 30 2007

10 .67 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement Executive Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1

to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 25 2008

10 .68 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement Executive Officers 2010 Stock Option Exchange

incorporated by reference to Exhibit d2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Schedule TO filed on May
2010

10 .69 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement Executive Officers 2010 Stock Option Exchange

incorporated by reference to Exhibit d3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Schedule TO filed on May
2010

10 70 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement Converted Travelport Equity 2010 Stock Option Exchange

incorporated by reference to Exhibit d4 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Schedule TO filed on May
2010

10 .71 Form of Option Award Agreement Senior Vice Presidents incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10

to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September

30 2012

10 .72 Form of Option Award Agreement Group Vice Presidents incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14

to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September

30 2012

10 .73 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Converted Travelport Equity Awards incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on 10-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2007

10 74 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Converted Travelport Equity Awards incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on 0-Q for the Quarterly

Period ended September 30 2007

10 75 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Senior Management incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 18 2007

10 .76 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Executive Officers incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 25 2008

10 77 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Senior Vice Presidents incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended September 30 2012

10 .78 Form of U.K Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Senior Vice Presidents incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

Quarterly Period ended September 30 2012

10 79 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Group Vice Presidents incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.13 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period

ended September 30 2012

10 .80 Form of CEO Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the

Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30
2009

10 .81 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement 2008 Equity Grants incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 25
2008
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10 .82 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Chief Executive Officer 2010

Equity Grants incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on June 2010

10 .83 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Executive Officers 2010

Equity Grants incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report

on Form 8-K filed on June 2010

10 .84 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement Senior Vice Presidents

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q

for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2012

10 .85 Form of U.K performance-based restricted stock unit award agreement Senior Vice Presidents

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Quarterly Report on Form 10-

for the Quarterly Period ended September 30 2012

10 .86 Amended and Restated Orbitz Worldwide Inc Performance-Based Annual Incentive Plan as amended

and restated effective June 12 2012 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide

Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 15 2012

10 .87 Orbitz Worldwide Inc Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation Plan as amended and restated

effective January 2013

10 .88 Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors and Officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Orbitz Worldwide Inc Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 18 2007

21 List of Subsidiaries

23 Consent of Deloitte Touche LLP independent registered public accounting firm

31 .1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Orbitz Worldwide Inc pursuant to Rule 3a-14a/1 5d-14a
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

31 .2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Orbitz Worldwide Inc pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a/i 5d-14a
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

32 .1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Orbitz Worldwide Inc pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 .2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Orbitz Worldwide Inc pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 .1NS XBRL Instance Document

101 .SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 .CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 .DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101 .LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 .PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to request for confidential treatment filed separately with the

SEC

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

XBRL Extensible Business Reporting Language information is furnished and not filed herewith is not part of

registration statement or Prospectus for purposes of sections ii or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 is deemed not

filed for
purposes

of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and otherwise is not subject to liability under

these sections

101



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Martin Brand Bradley Gerstner

Managing Director in the Private Equity group
of Chief Executive Officer of Altimeter Capital

The Blackstone Group Management

Mark Britton Jill Greenthal

Chief Executive Officer and President of Avvo Inc Senior Advisor in the Private Equity group of The

Blackstone Group

Jeff Clarke Barney Harford

Chairman of Travelport Limited Chief Executive Officer of Orbitz Worldwide Inc

Kenneth Esterow Kristina Leslie

Consultant
Consultant

Robert Friedman Jaynie Miller Studenmund

Senior Advisor in the Private Equity group of The Corporate Director and Advisor

Blackstone Group


